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$2.4 BILLION
DATA REVENUE REPRESENTING

39% OF GROUP REVENUE

30.4 Petabyte 7,900+
AVERAGE DAILY DATA VOLUME

$6.2
BILLION

$2.3
BILLION

+10%YoY YoY YoY+5%

KD 1.9 BILLION KD 705 MILLION

51 MILLION Market Leader

5G Technology
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Board of Directors Statement
On behalf of my fellow members of the Board of Directors, 
I am pleased to welcome you to the annual General 
Assembly, in which we review Zain Group’s operations 
and the results of its subsidiaries for the financial year 
ending December 31, 2023.

Technological transformations have added to the richness 
of the evolving landscape, with increasing reliance on 
digital solutions, automation, and the capabilities of 
artificial intelligence (AI). These transformations have 
imposed a new reality on governments, large enterprises, 
and small and medium-sized companies in terms of their 
ability to build competitive businesses.

Digital technologies have made societies more 
interconnected and enhanced the quality of life of 
people, and the importance of digitization has become 
apparent as a driver of socio-economic growth. Digital 
transformation initiatives have changed the way 
governments and businesses are organized and managed, 
with 5G applications, cloud services, big data, AI, data 
analytics, machine learning, Internet of Things, blockchain, 
managed services, and cybersecurity becoming the main 
change drivers for the foreseeable future.

As information and communications technologies 
bolster the prosperity of societies and businesses, 
telecommunications companies need to be agile in  
keeping abreast with the latest technologies as well as 
providing state-of-the-art infrastructure, in order to drive 
revenues and provide customers with a superior mobile 
and data experience.

Strategic partnerships driving value
Recently, in addition to heavy investment in networks and 
technologies, Zain Group has entered multiple strategic 
partnerships with global and regional institutions to 
ensure that its transformational initiatives closely respond 
to market needs. These alliances have helped increase the 
value of Zain’s core business, and support the focus on 
new lucrative growth opportunities in the digital sector 
and beyond. 

The Group's operations are spread across markets where 
the pace of investment in major projects and infrastructure 
is increasing. These markets have an attractive operational 
landscape driven by digital transformation and the 
adoption of technological solutions and innovations. This 
promising environment is expected to provide further 
growth opportunities for Zain Group operations.

Over recent years, the Group has gained a solid reputation 
for rewarding its investors, as it has demonstrated its 
commitment to providing shareholders with regular 
dividends through its commitment to a fixed dividend 
amount for three years, despite the post-pandemic 
economic slowdown, geopolitical challenges, and 
economic, social and security developments.

Growth in key financial KPIs
Despite the difficult circumstances represented by 
geopolitical instability in the region, and the challenges 
associated with some economic and social conditions, 
the progress of the company’s 4Sight strategy resulted 
in developing new value creative entities and driving 
operational efficiency, as the Group’s operations recorded 
strong growth in 2023. 

Zain operates in a highly regulated, competitive, and 
rapidly evolving environment, achieving one of the highest 
returns on investment in the region, further supported 
by  a series of recent acquisitions that have given the 
company greater impetus to diversifying revenue sources.

For the full-year 2023, Zain Group generated consolidated 
revenue of KD 1.9 billion (USD 6.2 billion), a year-on-year 
(Y-o-Y) increase of 10%. Consolidated EBITDA for the 
period increased by 5% Y-o-Y to reach KD 705 million 
(USD 2.3 billion), reflecting an EBITDA margin of 37%. 
Consolidated net income reached KD 215 million (USD 
701 million), up 10% Y-o-Y, and reflecting earnings per 
share of 50 fils (USD 0.16). 

The Group’s customer base recorded 50.6 million active 
customers, a number that was negatively affected by the 
recent civil unrest taking place in Sudan.

The growth of financial indicators was driven by strong 
operational performances, especially in Kuwait, KSA, 
Iraq, Jordan, and Sudan, as Zain KSA recorded the 
highest revenue and net profit in its history, while in Iraq 
the performance was strong. In Sudan, Zain performed 
extremely well despite the difficulties in the face of the 
current social instability , which we hope will subside 
during 2024.

The achievement of these impressive Group results is also 
due to the growth of data services, developments in the 
B2B enterprise sector, significant increase in revenues 
from fintech, and substantial gains from the sale and 
leaseback of towers for operations in Iraq and KSA. Net 
profits in 2023 were also boosted by the successful 
conclusion of the number range lawsuit in Kuwait.

Board recommendations for 2023 
The Board of Directors of Zain Group recommended a 
cash dividend of 25 fils per share for the second-half of 
2023.This dividend follows the semi-annual dividend 
of 10 fils distributed earlier in 2023, totaling 35 fils per 
share for the year, and reflecting a 70% payout ratio, one 
of the highest among listed entities in the region and in 
line with the Board’s previously committed minimum cash 
dividend policy of 35 fils annually in total, for three years 
commencing 2023.

The Board also recommended the distribution of 
Directors’ remuneration totaling KWD 478,500 for 
the financial year-ended December 31, 2023. Both 
recommendations are subject to the Annual General 
Assembly and statutory approvals.

Investment and leadership
The financial results showed growth that exceeded 
expectations as the Group succeeded in implementing 
a series of initiatives and new services enhancing the 
customer experience with a focus on customer care.

During the year, the Group continued its strategic 
investments in 4G networks, expansion of 5G 
infrastructure, development of fiber technology to the 
home, and the strengthening of digital platforms. CAPEX 
during 2023 reached USD 994 million (USD 837 million 
tangible, and USD 157 million intangible), representing 
16% of revenues.

This CAPEX investment has contributed to improving 
customer retention and attracting new customer 
segments, as Zain has strengthened its leadership in the 
quality and availability of its networks, with the expansion 
of 5G services to Jordan. Zain Group now operates the 
largest 5G network in the region, provided in four markets 
- Kuwait, Saudi Arabia (KSA), Bahrain, and Jordan.

Growth drivers
Continuing efforts to enhance value, the pioneering 
collaboration with Qatar’s Ooredoo Group to establish 
the largest tower company in the Middle East and Africa, 
incorporating 30,000 communication towers with an 
estimated enterprise value of USD 2.2 billion, is well on 
track.

Fintech is an area that we are fostering given the lucrative 
nature of the business. Zain Group plans to increase the 
percentage that fintech services contribute to revenues 
over the next three years to 10%. This goal is reinforced 
by the successful launch of the unified brand, Bede, for 
micro-financing services in Bahrain, which will be rolled 
out across other markets within our footprint.

Enterprise and Wholesale 
Our focus on the enterprise sector if paying off as 
ZainTECH in coordination with B2B operation teams 
achieved significant growth rates during the year, driven 
organically and by a number of key strategic acquisitions 
and new corporate clients. Zain Group is confident that 
these acquisitions will further boost ZainTECH’s position 
across its footprint, turning it into a leading regional 
digital services provider. 

Zain Omantel International (ZOI) is making great strides 
in the wholesale carrier arena as it provides services to 
international operators, data centers, large enterprises, 
and content and cloud service providers. ZOI has 
succeeded in creating a unique PAN network bolstered by 
its investment in submarine cables through the AFRICA 
ONE, PEACE, and Blue Raman cables, and having 
established a fiber network of more than 7,000 kilometers 
linking KSA to neighboring countries.

Sustainability
Zain Group has demonstrated a strong commitment to 
environmental, social and economic development, as 
it has integrated its ESG indicators at a time when the 

challenges of climate change are increasing. As such, the 
Group continues to work towards achieving its ambition 
to achieve net zero emissions, having maintained the 
classification in the category Leadership at level A- in 
the Global Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) report. An 
example of Zain’s green credentials is the development 
of Zain KSA and Red Sea International Company in 
launching the first carbon-free 5G network in the world, 
which operates 100% on renewable energy.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
Zain Group continues to embrace diversity, equity, 
and inclusion (DEI) initiatives, and work to stimulate a 
culture of creativity and innovation, as it launched the 
DEI University in cooperation with Spain’s IE University 
to graduate over 2,000 of our talented people in digital 
transformation.

The Group won awards in Sustainability, DEI, and 
women’s empowerment during the year. Moreover,  
Zain was ranked among the top five global telecom 
companies and 21st across all sectors amongst nearly 
3,000 of the largest global companies in the annual 
Global Child Forum’s The State of Children’s Rights and 
Business 2023.

Governance
Zain Group is committed to implementing a sound 
framework model for corporate governance, with an 
emphasis on enhancing the comprehensive governance 
environment. In this context, Zain was crowned World 
Finance’s 'Best Corporate Governance’ recipient 2023 
for Kuwait for the third consecutive year. Zain was also 
credited with providing the 'Best Corporate Governance 
of a listed company in Kuwait' in 2023 at the Arab 
Federation of Capital Markets (AFCM) Annual Conference. 

Zain Group's environmental, social, and corporate 
governance (ESG) practices are consistently rated above 
average by all three major rating agencies: S&P, MSCI, 
and FTSE. ESG practices are critical to stakeholders as 
they reflect the Group's commitment to sustainability, and 
long-term, responsible management.

Conclusion
On behalf of all members of the Board of Directors, 
executive management, and employees of Zain, we 
express our sincere appreciation for the confidence 
shown in us by our valued customers and shareholders, 
as well as by all the government ministries, and regulatory 
authorities across our markets.

We would like to offer our deepest gratitude and 
appreciation to His Highness the Amir of Kuwait, Sheikh 
Meshaal Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-Sabah, and to the 
esteemed members of the government for their continued 
support of Kuwait’s national organizations.  

Board of Directors

Board of Directors Statement Board of Directors Statement
Board of Directors Statement
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Year in Review Year in Review
Year in Review

YEAR IN REVIEW

FEB

MAY

MAR

JAN

APR

JUL

JUN

Zain Kuwait, ZainTech, and Microsoft 
collaborate to launch the National Cloud 
Initiative, empowering organizations in 
the country.

Zain wins two 
distinguished awards 
in Sustainability 
and Women’s 
Empowerment.

Zain Iraq hosts 9 esports tournaments with 
3,000 players from all over Iraq including a 
tournament for people with disabilities for 
the first time in Iraq.

Zain Great Idea recognized as ‘Ecosystem Enabler of 
the Year’ for accelerating the Kuwait and regional tech 
startup ecosystem at Entrepreneur ME magazine’s 
E-Business Awards.

ZainCash Iraq collaborates with 
Western Union to enable digital 
cross-border money transfers.

Zain publishes its 12th 
annual sustainability 
report, entitled ‘An 
Inclusive Transition for 
Future Generations’.

Zain wins two ‘Best Corporate 
Governance in Kuwait’ awards 
from World Finance and the Arab 
Federation of Capital Markets.

Zain’s “Tamam” platform 
in Saudi Arabia awarded 
‘Best Personal Finance 
Solution’ in Middle East.

A regional first: Embracing a 
disability inclusive environment 
for all, Zain’s operation in 
Jordan provides mobile phone 
subscriptions in sign language.

Zain Bahrain launches a first in market 
Omnichannel engagement platform 
delivering a seamless customer 
experience and service, with a faster and 
more consistent level of support. 

ZainTech acquires 
Adfolks, expanding 
digital transformation 
services.

ZainTech completes 
acquisition of BIOS Middle 
East and expands managed 
cloud offerings.

Unveiling of ‘Zain 
Omantel International’ 
(ZOI) to revolutionize the 
telecommunications landscape.

Zain ‘Generation Z’ 2023 
program welcomes six high 
caliber Kuwaiti graduates.

Zain successfully completes 
trial for 5.5G IoT RedCap 
Technologies in Kuwait.

Zain Sudan only operator to continue providing 
connectivity during social conflict challenges 
focusing on introducing digital payment 
channels, expanding shops, POS locations, 
establishing contact centers in non-war zone 
cities, and increasing remote agents along 
with introducing favorable data roaming 
packages, reinforcing connectivity solutions and 
community commitment, along with free access 
to WhatsApp and Facebook. Also, maintenance 
team heroes offered great efforts combating 
significant fiber cut incidents in a hazardous 
area, risking their lives to ensure proper service 
levels to our customers.

ZainTech partners with 
Mastercard to provide 
unique AI and Machine 
Learning data solutions to 
businesses.Zain KSA’s participation in 

the Kingdom’s distinguished 
global tech event ‘LEAP’ 
witnesses’ multiple ground-
breaking agreements with 
Google, AWS, Emaar, AST 
SpaceMobile and more.

Zain maintains leadership position 
of A- in ‘CDP Score Report–
Climate Change 2022' and 
attains A- score on the Supplier 
Engagement rating.

Zain Iraq finalizes the sale and 
leaseback of 4,968 towers to 
TASC Towers Iraq.

Zain title sponsor of ‘Khaleeji 
Zain 25’- Arab Gulf Cup silver 
jubilee in Basra, Iraq.
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Year in Review Year in Review
Year in Review

SEP

AUG

Zain Kuwait unveils marketing partnership 
with Red Bull Mobile offering all-new 
prepaid plans. 

Jordan’s Zain Innovation Campus (ZINC) celebrates 
its milestone of holding 5,900 events with over 
350,000 visitors across its eight branches covering 
entrepreneurship, artificial intelligence (AI), digital 
marketing, robotics, and Internet of Things (IoT). To 
date, ZINC has supported 242 startups including the 
sixth edition of Zain Al Mubadarah program, involving 
over 30 startups. 

Red Sea Global and Zain KSA unveil 
revolutionary net-zero 5G network 
at flagship destination, The Red Sea.

Zain Kuwait kicks-off it 2023/2024 sponsorship of the 
62nd season Kuwait Premier League (Dawri Zain) in 
partnership with the Kuwait Football Association.

Zain FinTech and Al Ansari 
Financial Services partnership 
aims to revolutionize the region’s 
financial landscape.

ZainTECH’s inaugural 
participation at GITEX 
Global 2023 a resounding 
success. 

ZainTECH agreement to 
acquire STS, a leading digital 
transformation solutions 
provider.

Zain’s Diversity, Equity & Inclusion 
(DEI) program acknowledged 
with two awards at the Samena 
Council endorsed MEA Business 
Achievement Awards.

Zain Bahrain sunsetted its 3G network thus 
improving 4G and 5G experience with superior 
speeds, marking the operator as the first in the 
region to make this strategic move.

Zain Kuwait wins 
‘Outstanding 5G Business 
Development’ award from 
SAMENA Council.

NOV
Zain ranks highly (8.4/10) in 
Global Child Forum’s ‘The 
State of Children’s Rights and 
Business 2023’ Benchmark.

Zain Kuwait becomes the first and only 
operator in Kuwait to win three major 
awards in the same year from Ookla 
Speedtest, for ‘Fastest 5G Network’, 
‘Best 5G Video Experience’, and 
‘Fastest Internet’.

Zain Group releases its 2023 Thought 
Leadership Report entitled, “Building Inclusive 
Societies Through Connectivity”.

OCT

ZainTECH targets regional 
expansion with inauguration 
of cutting-edge ICT Hub in 
Dubai. 

Zain cooperates with GCC Telco Alliance to 
establish the ‘Sustainability Innovation Hub’.

Zain, Ooredoo and TASC Towers create the 
largest tower company in the MENA region 
valued at USD 2.2 billion.

Zain Jordan launches 5G commercial 
services, a first for the Kingdom and 
also rolls out Fixed Wireless Access 
service for home Internet users. 

Zain Group and Zain KSA 
win ‘Best Diversity and 
Inclusion Program’ Award at 
the Telecom Review Leaders’ 
Summit excellence award. 

Zain Iraq awarded the ISO 
27001:2022 certificate 
“Information Security for 
Telecom Services”.

DEC



ANNUAL REPORT 2023

1716 Strategic Review | Governance | Financial Statements

KEY MILESTONES

• Listed Zain Bahrain 
on Bahrain Bourse

2014
• Zain celebrates its 

30th Anniversary

2013
• Zain KSA raised $1.6 

billion in rights issue and 
Group increased stake in 
the operation to 37%

• Increased stake in Zain 
Iraq to 76% 

2012

Key Milestones Key Milestones

• Zain sells 425.7m 
treasury shares 
representing 9.84% of 
its capital to Omantel 
for $846.1m

2017

• Zain Sudan launched 4G LTE 
high speed technology

• Zain KSA mobile operating 
license extended for additional 
15 years 

• Zain KSA granted Unification 
telecommunication license

2016
• Listed Zain Iraq on Iraq 

Stock Exchange

2015

• Zain Saudi Arabia 
becomes a subsidiary 
of Zain Group due to 
step-up acquisition in 
Q3-2018

• Launch of commercial 5G 
services in Bahrain

• In a regional first, Zain Kuwait 
successfully completes the 
sale and leaseback of its 1,620 
towers for $130m

• Zain Iraq 2G+3G licence 
extension and grant of 
technology-neutral 4G licence 
for 8 years

• Zain KSA successfully 
completes capital restructuring 
and right issue

2020 2018
• Launch of commercial 

5G services in Kuwait 
and Saudi Arabia

2019
•  Landmark Deal with Ooredoo and 

TASC to create the largest Tower 
Company in the region with 30,000 
towers, valued at USD 2.2 billion

•  Establishment of Zain Omantel 
International (ZOI) a joint venture that 
will revolutionize the international 
wholesale carrier sector.

•  Launch of commercial 5G services  
in Jordan

2023
•  Zain maintained its A- score in 

‘CDP Score Report – Climate 
Change 2021’, ranking it  
first in region and among 
leaders globally

•  Zain Jordan granted 5G license 
for 25-year and extended 2G, 
3G & 4G spectrum licenses 
extension for 10-year

2022
• Zain Jordan completes the sale 

and leaseback of it towers for 
$88 million

• Launch of 4G services in Zain 
Iraq & Zain South Sudan

• Establishment of ZainTech
• Zain KSA's "Tamam" receives 

first consumer micro-financing 
license in region. 

2021

Key Milestones

• Separated operations 
between Sudan and  
South Sudan

2011
• Sold mobile operations 

in 15 African countries 
(excluding Sudan and 
Morocco) to Bharti Airtel 
for $10.7 billion

2010
• Invested in 15.5% of 
Moroccan operator Inwi

2009

• Merged MTC Atheer and 
Iraqna, and rebranded to Zain

• Rebranded from Celtel to Zain 
in all African operations

• Commenced operations in KSA
• Commenced operations in 

Ghana

• Acquired the  
remaining 61% of 
Mobitel in Sudan

• Acquired 65% of 
V-mobile in Nigeria 

2008 2006
• Won bid for 3rd GSM 

license in KSA
• Rebranded to Zain in  

4 markets
• Acquired a 15-year 

nationwide license in Iraq
• Acquired 75% of  

Westel Ghana
• Acquired Iraqna in Iraq

2007
• Acquired Celtel in 13 

African nations 
• Acquired Madacom in 

Madagasca

2005
• Awarded management 

agreement in Lebanon

2004
• Acquired Fastlink in Jordan
• Awarded 2nd GSM license in 

Bahrain
• Awarded GSM license in Iraq

2003
• Established Mobile 

Telecommunications Company 
(MTC) in Kuwait

1983
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Statement from the Vice-Chairman & Group CEO

Vice-Chairman & Group CEO statement
Vice-Chairman & Group CEO statement

•	Consecutive cash dividend of 35 fils reflects the 
strength of our financial solvency

•	4Sight strategy having enormous positive impact 
across all facets of the business 

•	Optimization and monetization initiatives driving 
operational performance 

•	Focus on digital transformation, innovation, and 
revenue growth  

•	Leading the region in 5G presence and technology 
offerings 

•	Regulatory initiatives and Corporate Governance 
compliance critical to the business 

•	Sale and leaseback of tower network creating 
value 

•	Impressive revenue growth in Enterprise space 
powered by ZainTECH and local B2B teams 

•	Fintech, Esports, digital VAS and entertainment 
service initiatives enhancing brand appeal

•	Multiple prestigious awards recognize the efforts 
of the talented 8,000 Zainers 

•	Sustainability, Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion 
programs aligned to our business ethos

•	Zain brand valuation soars to USD 3 billion as it 
inspires and captivates the communities we serve 

A defining 40th year for Zain

2023 witnessed the ongoing implementation 
of our future-proof 4Sight strategy during 
our 40th year of existence, which turned 
out to be a defining one for Zain, delivering 
strong performance, significant milestones, 
sustainable growth, and value to our 
customers and stakeholders. 

Zain’s Board of Directors and executive 
management teams have worked 
effortlessly to overcome socio-economic 
regional challenges in our markets, where 
we maximized value creation by investing 
heavily in our networks, technologies, 
and people. This resulted in us extending 
our market leadership in many highly 
competitive and evolving markets. 

The multiple digital transformational 
initiatives and expansion of new business 
verticals has driven business growth 
and positioned Zain firmly as a leading 
provider of innovative technologies and 
digital lifestyle communications, delivering 
meaningful connectivity that empowers 
societies.  

Our focus on catering to the evolving 
requirements of our individual, enterprise, 
and government customers has seen our 
sustainability-conscious mindset develop 
and proactively act with a sense of 
urgency, innovating to enhance the digital 
experiences and introduce appealing, 
demanded services. 

As a result of our efforts, apart from 
reporting strong operational and financial 
results for 2023, we were awarded 
numerous accolades, and saw our brand 
valuation increase 11% from USD 2.7 billion 
to USD 3 billion by Brand Finance in its 
2024 global valuation report. 

This impressive growth in valuation 
some 16 years after the initial Zain brand 
launch is testament to the investment 
the company has placed in establishing 
its name and identity, and the successful 
media campaigns, corporate sustainability, 
diversity, equity, and inclusion initiatives 

BADER NASSER AL-KHARAFI

annual dividend of 10 fils distributed earlier in 2023, 
totaling 35 fils per share for the year and reflecting 
a 70% payout ratio, one of the highest among listed 
entities in the region and in line with the Board’s 
previously committed minimum cash dividend policy 
of 35 fils in total, for three years commencing 2023. 
This policy provides a clear indication of the strength 
of our financial solvency as we methodically grow the 
business. The 25 fils dividend recommendation  
is subject to the Annual General Assembly and 
statutory approvals. 

Investments in network and technologies driving 
data and digital services revenue growth

Throughout 2023, Zain Group invested USD 994 
million in CAPEX (16% of revenue), predominantly 
in 5G rollouts in Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, and 
Jordan; 4G upgrades and new sites across Iraq, Jordan, 
South Sudan, and Sudan; expansion of Fiber-to-the-
Home (FTTH) infrastructure; and spectrum license fees.

Significant investment in network and technology 
ensures meaningful connectivity to the communities 
we serve in a reliable and high-speed manner. It also 
creates value by driving significant growth in data 
revenues, which grew 8% and reached USD 2.4 
billion in 2023, representing 39% of Zain Group’s 
consolidated revenues for the year.

Of note, Zain Jordan launched 5G commercially in 
December 2023, becoming the fourth Zain operation to 
offer this exclusive high-speed and reliable service.  

The impressive 9% growth of our Group-wide digital 
services revenue reflects the many data monetization 
initiatives maximizing our networks. A key part of this 
is the ‘Dizlee’ Group API platform, which continues to 
grow in appeal to customers, partnering with global 
OTT and solutions providers and offering 81 different 
digital entertainment innovations around content and 
gaming, and processing over 275 million payment 
transactions since launch in mid-2018.

Our digital MVNO operators, Zain Saudi Arabia’s 
‘Yaqoot’ and Zain Iraq’s ‘oodi’, continue to deliver 
healthy customer and revenue growth, offering 
a simple, all-digital mobile experience that frees 
customers from the traditional retail buying experience. 
We will continue to foster these appealing and lucrative 
business areas and rollout similar dynamic platforms 
across other markets.

Fintech innovation and expansion 

We are keen to foster innovations within the fintech 
space and continue to innovate and expand mobile 
financial services across our operating markets, 
providing much needed services to the communities 
we serve and driving financial inclusion while 
contributing to the evolution of the region’s digital 
ecosystem. During 2023, Group-wide fintech 
customers grew 40%, with revenue up 195%, and 
total transaction volume tripling to USD 11 billion.

Early in 2024, we launched the Bede fintech brand 
in Bahrain, which is set to be rolled out across our 
footprint. Bede stems from Arabic meaning of “in 
my hand”. The operation aims to allow everything 
to be powered in the palm of one’s hand, catering 
to consumers’ lifestyles and emerging demands 
beyond basic telecom services. Currently in Bahrain 
this Shariah-compliant AI powered platform offers 
consumer micro-finance in minutes over a mobile app 

it has instituted over the years. This well-regarded brand is also 
a reflection of our ongoing innovation and investment in network 
upgrades that result in quality mobile and data services and 
exceptional customer experience at every touch point, making Zain 
one of the most inspirational and recognized corporate brands in the 
region and beyond.

Strong financial performance results in a cash dividend of 35 
fils, a payout ratio of 70%

For the full-year 2023, Zain Group generated consolidated revenue 
of KD 1.9 billion (USD 6.2 billion), a year-on-year (Y-o-Y) increase of 
10%. Consolidated EBITDA for the period increased by 5% Y-o-Y to 
reach KD 705 million (USD 2.3 billion), reflecting an EBITDA margin 
of 37%. Consolidated net income reached KD 215 million (USD 701 
million), up 10% Y-o-Y and reflecting earnings per share of 50 fils 
(USD 0.16). 

The Board of Directors recommended a cash dividend of 25 fils per 
share for the second half of 2023.This dividend follows the semi-
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and will be developed in the future to offer a variety of 
financial services and products.  

The impressive and profitable growth of TAMAM in 
Saudi Arabia, and ZainCash in Iraq and Jordan has 
firmly established these fintech entities as market 
leaders for the unbanked and underbanked in their 
respective markets. We will continue to foster their 
growth through innovation. 

In Kuwait, we acquired Bookeey to drive the 
development of cutting-edge financial solutions and 
provide advanced, creative offerings through strategic 
partnerships with banks and Zain Kuwait. Through 
further innovation, Bookeey will be well positioned 
to address payment acceptance challenges faced by 
SMEs in Kuwait, ensuring their financial needs are met.

Aiming to be the partner of choice for governments 
and enterprises 

It was a momentous year for ZainTECH, Zain’s ICT 
solutions powerhouse, which has grown significantly 
organically and through acquisitions since its launch 
in October 2021.  The 20% annual growth in B2B 
revenues across our footprint reflects the synergistic 
business model between ZainTECH and our local 
operations’ B2B teams.

Following the closing of the strategic acquisition of 
leading managed cloud provider BIOS Middle East, 
ZainTECH made two other strategic acquisitions during 
2023: Adfolks and Specialized Technical Services 
Company (STS).  

The acquisition of Adfolks, a UAE-based cloud 
transformation services firm brings a wealth of 
expertise in developing bespoke and agile technology 
solutions that will enable ZainTECH to drive even more 
value for its clients in the dynamic and constantly 
evolving technology landscape by streamlining digital 
transformation journeys, making it simpler and more 
seamless than ever. 

Furthermore, the agreement to acquire STS, a leading 
digital transformation solutions provider headquartered 
in Jordan with vast regional operations comes 20 years 
after Zain’s first regional expansion into Jordan. With its 
talented team, years of expertise and impressive 500 
customer base across industries, this deal will amplify 
ZainTECH and Zain B2B teams’ capabilities to provide 
clients with cutting-edge and comprehensive digital 
transformation solutions. 

In addition to Cloud services, growth areas that 
ZainTECH is driving include Cybersecurity, IoT, AI, 
Big Data, Smart Cities, Drones, Robotics, and other 

emerging technologies. By providing comprehensive 
ICT services, ZainTECH is paving the way to becoming 
the digital transformation partner of choice for 
governments and enterprises across our markets, the 
UAE, and beyond.

Sale of passive tower networks is a success for 
efficiency and carbon emission reduction

Key parts of the 4Sight strategy center on digital 
infrastructure and portfolio optimization, extending to 
the sale and leaseback of the passive infrastructure 
of our tower network, thereby unlocking capital and 
allocating resources for more effective and sustainable 
use. In some markets we have opted to share passive 
assets with competitors, a process that helps reduce 
our carbon footprint.

Following the earlier sales of Zain’s tower networks in 
Kuwait and Jordan, in January 2023, Zain Saudi Arabia 
completed the sale and leaseback of its 8,069 tower 
assets to the Kingdom’s Public Investment Fund. Also 
in January 2023, Zain Iraq entered a 15-year deal to 
sell and leaseback and permit management rights of 
its passive physical infrastructure of 4,968 towers to 
TASC Towers Iraq. 

The tower sale and leaseback strategy across these 
four markets to date has already unlocked over 17,000 
towers with a total value of USD 1.3 billion and yielded 
a net gain of USD 415 million over the years. Out of 
this, USD 339 million was recognized in 2023.

In December 2023, Zain solidified its position as the 
regional leader in the tower arena with a pioneering 
agreement with Qatar’s Ooredoo Group and TASC 
Towers, which aims to incorporate nearly 30,000 
towers across six countries, combining the service 
providers’ respective passive infrastructure portfolios. 
The tower deals enhance operational efficiencies and 
enable a laser focus on service provision, thus providing 
customers a better mobile and data experience.

Zain Omantel International revolutionizing the 
wholesale telecommunications sector

Reflecting Zain’s commitment to transforming the 
business, in a groundbreaking move in May 2023, 
Zain Group and Omantel announced the launch of 
Zain Omantel International (ZOI), an unprecedented 
joint venture that will revolutionize the international 
wholesale carrier sector. ZOI is creating synergies by 
optimizing the existing wholesale businesses of both 
companies by reducing operating costs and increasing 
competitiveness through access to state-of-the-
art, low-latency and high-capacity services over its 
extended footprint. 

Quick wins achieved by ZOI during 2023 include 
plans to establish a digital corridor linking the Indian 
Ocean, Arabian Gulf, and Mediterranean Sea with 
Telecom Egypt; another corridor connecting the Red 
Sea, Indian Ocean, and Arabian Gulf with Europe 
via Iraq and Turkey; and a partnership with China 
Mobile International to accelerate the adoption and 
development of machine-to-machine (M2M), Internet of 
Vehicles (IoV), and Internet of Things (IoT) technologies 
across the Middle East. 

Imperative focus on Regulatory initiatives and 
Corporate Governance compliance  

The regulatory landscape in which Zain Group operates 
has changed significantly over the last 12 months, 
impacting all operations as they are subject to cross-
sector, sector-specific, extraterritorial legislation, 
regulations, and national licenses. It is critical for Zain to 
be adaptive in dealing with such complex changes as 
the future growth of the digital economy depends on 
developments across multiple industries, technologies, 
and sectors.  

Premised on Zain Group’s 4Sight strategy, the 
company is now offering a multitude of ICT and digital 
services beyond traditional telecommunications. 
As an organization, we are now subject to laws, 
regulations, policies, directives, and mandates issued 
by regulators on telecommunications, financial services, 
data protection, AI, cloud computing, civil aviation 
(for drones), and climate change. We engage with 
regulators through active participation at industry 
forums, regulator-led workshops, meetings with 
ministers and policy officials, and responses to public 
and industry consultations initiated by regulatory 
bodies. We have taken proactive steps to ensure 
regulatory compliance by instituting a robust regulatory 
compliance program across the Group.

As a leading listed entity on the Premier Market in 
Kuwait, with other local listings in Saudi Arabia, 
Bahrain, and Iraq, Zain Group is proactively exceeding 
the regulations issued by all governmental financial and 
regulatory bodies across these markets. Our Investor 
Relations, Corporate Governance, and Sustainability 
teams’ high ethical standards, transparent reporting, 
and professionalism towards all our stakeholders, is 
promoting investor and market confidence in Zain.  

Our business has Sustainability and DEI at its core
 
Across our footprint, Zain is guided by the four pillars 
of our five-year corporate sustainability strategy, 
centered on Climate Change, Social Business, Inclusion, 
and Generation Youth. Notably, the A- score that Zain 
maintained in the latest ‘CDP Score Report–Climate 

Change 2023’, positioned us first in the region and 
among leaders globally with respect to climate control 
initiatives. 

We are very proud of the groundbreaking partnership 
between Zain KSA and Red Sea Global that unveiled 
the world's first zero-carbon 5G network. This 
pioneering initiative combines cutting-edge technology 
with sustainability, providing visitors to the Red Sea 
project with the region's fastest 5G connectivity, 
powered by 100% renewable energy sourced from over 
760,000 solar panels.

Our Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) program 
continues to be a positive force within, boosting 
the company’s productivity and overall morale. It’s 
rewarding to see this initiative recognized through 
various external awards.

Women are such an integral part of the Zain success 
story. From expanding their leadership positions, a 
revolutionary HR policy, and other innovative talent 
development programs, Zain’s focus of integrating 
women fully into all aspects of the business is 
proving to be an enormous benefit to the culture and 
productivity of the company. 

Today, three Zain operations have already achieved 
their WE 25% leadership target, with Zain Kuwait 
at 26.9%; UAE-based ZainTECH at 27.0%; and Zain 
Jordan at 27.3%. 

Thank you note

On behalf of the executive management team, I would 
like to acknowledge and sincerely thank the talented 
8,000-strong Zain workforce, our 51 million customers, 
the Board of Directors, and government agencies and 
bodies across our footprint, all of whom contribute to 
our success in providing meaningful connectivity to the 
communities we serve. 

As we look back at our 40 remarkable years of creating 
value for our shareholders, serving our customers with 
absolute pride, I would like to take this opportunity 
to thank all those that have contributed to the Zain 
ecosystem over these years. 

Our focus for 2024 and beyond remains on the further 
execution of our corporate strategy, transforming 
our core telecom business to be more efficient and 
profitable, while fostering the growth of new business 
verticals that involve ICT, digital infrastructure, fintech 
and digital services. 

Bader Nasser Al-Kharafi
Vice-Chairman & Group CEO
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For more information,
access our IR app by 
scanning the QR code

Zain Share Details

Close (KWD) 0.507
52 Week High (KWD) 0.572
52 Week Low (KWD) 0.451
Average Daily Volume (Shares m) 3.5
Number of Shares  4,327,058,909 
Market Cap. (KWD Billion)  2.2 

Fils 

Fils 

Fils 
450

2023>

500

554

507

600

DecemberNovemberOctoberSeptemberAugustJulyJuneMayAprilMarchFebruaryJanuary

Share price performance

Our Shareholders

Our Shareholders

48.35%
Major Shareholders

51.65%
Free Float

85%
Local

15%
Foreign

Overall Shareholding Local vs. Foreign Shareholders

Major Shareholders

New Dividend Policy

15.90%
Kuwait Investment Authority
(Direct & Indirect)

5.05%
Group of Al-Sharq Holding Co.
(Nohoudh Development Trading & 
Contracting Co.)
(Indirect)

21.90%
Group of Oman Telecommunications
(Oztel Holdings SPC Limited)
(Indirect)

5.5%
The Public Institution for Social Security
(Indirect)

Dividend Yield  7%
Payout Ratio  70%

Adoption of a minimum cash dividend policy of 35 fils per share for three years, commencing 2023, 
up from the previous dividends policy of 33 fils per share.

DPS

2020

33
fils

2019

33
fils

2021

33
fils

2023

35
fils

2024

35
fils

2025

35
fils

2022

35
fils

Our Shareholders
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4Sight: Creating our Sustainable and Digital Future
The driving force for Zain is its unwavering commitment to creating value for all stakeholders. The 4Sight strategy 
emerged from the company’s desire to push forward the evolution of digital ecosystems across its footprint, enabling 
growth and development as well as the establishment of carefully curated growth verticals. In its fifth year, Zain’s 
4Sight corporate strategy has seen the transformation of the company into a multi-faceted provider of digital 
services for consumers, governments, and businesses under the clear direction and guidance of Zain’s leadership.

The following is a brief description of the achievements under each pillar of the strategy.

Evolution of Telco:
1.	 Digital Transformation
Guiding and driving the implementation of the Digital 
Transformation that would permit Zain to not only 
survive but rather thrive in the Digital Age, Zain has 
adopted a best-practice-inspired framework for 
transformation. This is centered on implementing a 
true customer mindset that drives the development of 
Products and Services demanded by customers, and 
investment in technologies that further this cause.  

This is supported by a strategic approach to upskilling 
and hiring of talent and the utilization of Data and 
Analytics for tactical and strategic decision-making. 

A communications strategy has been implemented to 
get all stakeholder buy-in to assure the true adoption of 
Zain’s transformation internally and externally.

In 2023, Zain Group intensified its focus on its regional 
role to develop and support digital transformations by 
offering state-of-the-art and upcoming technologies 
such as connected vehicles and modern industry, 
as well as further organizing its Data Governance 
and Management guidelines across a number of its 
subsidiaries.

2.  Enterprise and Government
Zain is committed to working closely with organizations 
and governments to provide connectivity and the latest 
solutions to support growth and efficiency. To design 
and implement state-of-the-art tailor-made solutions 
for public and private organizations, Zain’s B2B teams 
work closely with ZainTECH, Zain’s integral digital 
solutions provider, to drive market development and 
cross-sell advanced ICT services to differentiate Zain in 
the regional enterprise market. Zain supports smaller 
businesses by granting access to a wide range of cloud 
products and services spanning cloud, cybersecurity, 
data services, Ai, drones and robotics. 

3.  Fixed Connectivity and Convergence
Zain firmly believes that high quality and secure 
broadband connectivity will enable and accelerate the 
evolution of information, education, and the digital 
transformation of societies. Across its footprint, the 
company strives to provide reliable fixed connectivity 
to residential and business customers whether through 
its own deployment of fiber networks or by strategically 
partnering with third-party providers. This commitment 
transcends market limitations, where Zain uses fixed-
like technologies to fulfill customer needs. Across its 
markets, customers benefit from the latest broadband 
connectivity delivered by the company, including 5G, 
4G, and FTTH.

Establishing a regional center of 
excellence developing and 

providing the latest ICT, digital 
and big data services

EVOLUTION
OF TELCO

GROWTH
VERTICALS

ICT01

Building a leading independent digital 
infrastructure player in the region.

DIGITAL
INFRASTRUCTURE 02

Transforming the telecom core to provide customers with 
the best experience, while simultaneously streamlining the 
backend and reaping the best of analytics for Zain to 
thrive and even lead in the digital era.

DIGITAL
TRANSFORMATION  01

Working closely with organizations of all sizes to 
provide them with the necessary connectivity and
the latest solutions required to achieve their 
business and operational objectives.

ENTERPRISE
AND GOVERNMENT02

Transforming from a mobile 
centric telecom into an 
integrated player offering 
fixed-mobile domestic and international convergence 
serving the needs of consumers and businesses.

FIXED AND
CONVERGENCE 03 Introducing a suite of 

digital financial and 
insurance services 
contributing to the 

evolution of the 
region’s digital 

ecosystem.

FINTECH 03

Continuously seeking opportunities to realize synergies 
and unlock potential value through M&A activities.

PORTFOLIO
OPTIMIZATION04

Building innovative digital services to 
create opportunities that bridge the 

digital divide, ensure business 
continuity, and advance 

socioeconomic development.

DIGITAL
SERVICES 04

4.  Portfolio Optimization
Zain continues to allocate resources efficiently and 
sustainably. Following the earlier sales of its tower 
networks in Kuwait and Jordan, in January 2023, Zain 
Saudi Arabia (KSA) completed the sale and leaseback of 
its 8,069 tower assets (passive physical infrastructure) 
to the Kingdom’s Public Investment Fund (PIF).

In January 2023, Zain Iraq entered a 15-year deal to 
sell and leaseback and permit management rights of its 
passive physical infrastructure of 4,968 towers to TASC 
Towers Iraq.

It should be noted that all Zain operations will 
retain their active infrastructure, including wireless 
communication radios, antennas, intelligent software, 
transmission systems, and intellectual property. These 
transactions will enhance operational efficiencies 
and empower Zain operations with greater flexibility 
to invest in network upgrades and cutting-edge ICT 
technologies to meet the ever-increasing demand for 
reliable and high-speed connectivity. The establishment 
of a special purpose tower company drives the 
improvement of passive assets and enhances power 
infrastructure through modernization and investment in 
alternative power solutions such as solar and  
wind power production, which significantly reduce 
carbon emissions.

Reflecting Zain’s commitment to transforming the 
business, in a groundbreaking move, both Zain Group 
and Omantel announced the launch of Zain Omantel 
International (ZOI), an unprecedented joint venture that 
will revolutionize the wholesale telecommunications 
sector. ZOI will create synergies by optimizing the 
existing wholesale businesses of both companies by 
reducing operating costs and increasing competitiveness 
through access to state-of-the-art low-latency and 
high-capacity services over its extended footprint. 
Combining the strengths of Zain and Omantel positions 
ZOI is uniquely positioned to evolve into a key player on 
the international wholesale telecom scene.

STRATEGY

Strategy
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regional leader in the tower arena, with a pioneering 
agreement with Qatar’s Ooredoo Group and TASC 
Towers, that aims to incorporate nearly 30,000 towers 
across six countries, combining the service providers’ 
respective passive infrastructure portfolios. 

3.  Fintech
In 2023, Zain scaled its FinTech stream by introducing 
a suite of digital financial services, contributing to the 
evolution of the region’s digital ecosystem. Leveraging 
the innovative products and services developed by 
FOO, a subsidiary of Zain Group specialized in the 
FinTech development sector, Zain is keen to foster 
innovations within the FinTech space through Tamam in 
Saudi Arabia, Zain Cash in Iraq and Jordan, and soon in 
Bahrain, Sudan, and Kuwait. 

Iraq 
•	 Zain Cash Iraq continued to be the market leader 

providing financial services to the unbanked in 
Iraq.

•	 Staff increased, with 40% female employees, 
most of them in leading positions.

•	 Micro-finance loans to be launched in 2024. 
•	 Virtual credit cards allow people to shop online 

without the need for a bank account.
•	 3D face ID authentication for money transfer for 

more security.

Jordan 
•	 Zain Cash Jordan continued to be market leader. 
•	 Elevating the customer experience with focus on 

delivering differentiated digital self-services. 
•	 Incorporating valuable additional features to 

include cashback concept tailored to high  
value customers.

•	 Unlocking new possibilities for corporate and 
small, medium enterprises (SMEs).

Growth Verticals:
1.  ICT
Through ZainTECH, enterprises and governments 
across the region playing a transformational role 
across Zain’s ecosystem are serviced. ZainTECH boasts 
an innovative portfolio of solutions spanning cloud, 
cybersecurity, data services, Ai, drones and robotics. 
In May 2023, ZainTECH bolstered its cloud positioning 
by acquiring Adfolks, a UAE-based cloud-native 
engineering firm that provides a comprehensive range 
of cloud transformation solutions. In October 2023, 
ZainTECH entered into an agreement for the complete 
acquisition of Specialized Technical Services Company 
(STS), one of the largest digital transformation solutions 
providers in the region, headquartered in Jordan with 
operations in Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates, 
Bahrain, and Iraq. Both these deals follow ZainTECH’s 
acquisition of BIOS Middle East, a leading provider 
of Managed Private Cloud Services in the region 
announced in October 2022 and completed in  
February 2023. 

Additionally, ZainTECH leverages Zain’s footprint and 
global reach, its vast technological capabilities, and 
competitive lower upfront capital pricing strategy 
to offer clients solutions that accelerate digital 
transformation journeys.

2.  Digital Infrastructure
Zain continues to partner with TASC Towers Holding, 
which is a significant part of building its digital 
infrastructure core, with the aim of unlocking further 
shareholder value and optimization of infrastructure 
assets. Zain successfully divested two major portfolios 
in Jordan and Iraq in the past two years, with TASC 
becoming a fully operational independent towerco in 
these two countries. The further expansion of the TASC 
footprint and the imminent partnership with other 
MNOs will lead to portfolio densification as well as 
possible consolidation of redundant sites.

Furthermore, TASC plans to invest a significant 
amount of its revenues over the next five years on 
various network modernization initiatives including 
investment in new battery technologies and modern 
power generation solutions. Additionally, in the past 12 
months, TASC has conducted extensive analysis into 
different alternative energy solutions including hybrid 
power systems capitalizing on new battery technologies 
and solar systems. TASC deployed multiple proof of 
concepts in various regions. Initial results indicate 
that there is potential for wide deployment of these 
solutions, which will result in significant operational 
efficiencies and a reduction in carbon emissions.
In December 2023, Zain solidified its position as the 

Saudi Arabia
•	 Tamam provides Murabaha financing for customers within minutes.
•	 One of the fastest growing FinTech companies in the region.
•	 Launched ‘buy now pay later’ services with Zain KSA and Yaqoot.

Kuwait 
•	 Zain acquired Bookeey to offer advanced, creative offerings through strategic partnerships with banks and 

Zain Kuwait, fostering innovation.
•	 Addressing the payment acceptance challenges faced by SMEs in Kuwait, ensuring their financial needs are 

met.
•	 Expanding Bookeey's product and service portfolio to cater to a wider audience, enhancing financial solutions 

for a variety of end users.
•	 Strengthening collaborations with partner banks and Zain Kuwait to drive the development of cutting-edge 

financial solutions.

M-Gurush South Sudan
•	 Enhanced the partnership agreement with m-Gurush to collaborate in providing innovative financial products 

and services to Zain customers.

Bahrain
•	 Acquired a FinTech license from the Central Bank of Bahrain.
•	 Tech implementation with partner bank in progress.
•	 Expected commercial launch of FinTech services in early 2024.

Sudan 
•	 A FinTech company has been registered as per regulatory requirements.
•	 Approval received from Central Bank of Sudan to launch FinTech services.
•	 Working on restoring servers and amending apps after the failure of the national switch system. 
•	 Expected commercial launch of FinTech services in December 2023.

Strategy
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MEVF II

Valor

BECO Capital Fund III is an early-stage venture capital fund managed by BECO Capital. The 
fund is located in Dubai, United Arab Emirates, and focuses on technology start-ups.

This women-founded venture fund targets seed and early-stage technology companies in 
industries such as fintech, IoT and healthcare, and is based in the United States. The company 
invests in organizations that focus on ESG-related activities from business practices to 
economic and environmental impacts. 

Headquartered in Dubai, Wamda MENA Venture I invests in growth stage technology 
companies operating in the MENA region. The fund has made investments in industries that are 
of interest to Zain such as insuretech.

A MENA-centric fund targeting early-stage technologies in new media, e-commerce, 
and enterprise software as a service (“SaaS”). This fund presents synergies with Zain’s 
digital health and insuretech plans.

MEVF III A growth-stage fund focusing on Series B technology start-ups in MENA and Turkey. 

Valor Fund is managed by Valor Equity Partners, an operational growth investment firm focused 
on high growth companies across different industries and stages of development. 

A Canadian multinational technology company focused on artificial intelligence (AI) 
for the enterprise, specializing in Large Language Models. 

A US-based FinTech company that successfully developed a trading platform that 
transforms recurring revenue into up-front capital for growth without debt or 
dilution.  

A leading British FinTech company that offers banking services including GBP and 
EUR bank accounts, debit cards, fee-free currency exchange, equities, and 
cryptocurrency trading, as well as peer-to-peer payments. 

Zain made a direct investment in ZoodPay’s series B USD 38 million fundraising 
round, where the ZoodPay and ZoodMall apps count over 8 million users and 10 
offices across the Middle East and Central Asia. The application provides a 
mobile-only high-quality shopping experience and cross-border services to 
merchants and shoppers across emerging markets.

Direct Investment: 

During 2022, Zain Ventures’s portfolio included: 

4.  Digital Services

Zain Ventures 
Zain Ventures spearheads Zain’s investment portfolio, with the aim to diversity the company’s reach and leverage 
future investment opportunities. Zain expanded its relationship with regional and international venture capital 
funds and continued to diversify its portfolio through direct investments offering them access to Zain’s wide 
geographical reach and expansive customer base. 

During 2023, Zain Ventures’ portfolio included:

Dizlee: Evolving into a 360° Digital Ecosystem Monetization Platform  
In 2023, Zain enhanced its regional presence and amplified its digital service offerings, introducing services to 
broaden its accessibility to all. Utilizing the Dizlee API platform, the company ensured continuous connectivity and 
engagement for both individual and enterprise customers. By introducing a variety of services, Zain operations and 
Omantel leveraged the platform to expose their APIs to the digital economy, removing a significant barrier to the 
development of profitable digital partnerships from across the globe.  
 

The API platform allows Zain customers to connect with various services such as entertainment, education, social 
networking, and health.  
 
To date, 275 million transactions have been processed over the platform, with a reach of 50 million customers.  
 
In 2023, the following services were added to the program:  

•	 XR Academy:  An extended reality-based educational program that offers customers of all ages access to a 
unique lineup of educational games and videos. Being device agnostic, the program does not require the user to 
purchase expensive VR headsets or any other special device to access it. 

•	 Golden Steps: A gamified platform that rewards its users for completing daily and weekly fitness goals, usually 
the number of steps completed. The rewards are in the form of discount coupons with local and regional online/
offline partners. The app uses the phone’s pedometer to track steps and can also be connected to various 
fitness bands and smartwatches. 

•	 Salamtak (Micro-insurance application from Crosure): A company offering various insurance services in Iraq. 
With Zain, they offer the ‘Salamtak’ life insurance product, where the user can subscribe online using a few 
simple steps, and the premium can be paid through operator billing.

•	 Mindplus: A web-based service offering online consultation on mental health and wellbeing from global experts, 
translated in Arabic and Kurdish. Consultation is usually delivered as short videos and/or regular text-based 
updates. 

•	 Fenix e-scooters: Fenix is one of the first companies in the region that allows consumers to rent e-scooters with 
weekly and monthly subscriptions, and enables business users to carry out last-mile deliveries on these scooters 
– thus offering them an emission-free local transportation option. Dizlee has enabled Zain KSA customers to use 
their mobile device to rent e-scooters from Fenix.

•	 Ahlan Simsim: A program under Sesame Workshop, offering content that fosters early learning for young 
children in the Middle East and North Africa, especially those affected by crisis and displacement. The program 
can be found in the Zain Kids application.

 

Strategy

Zain esports 
Throughout the year, Zain esports maintained its focus on the youth segment, actively exploring new 
opportunities for various broadband services. Hosting numerous tournaments and engagement activities, 
Zain esports not only showcased its commitment to the gaming community but also provided a platform 
to nurture e-gaming talent in the region. This included the selection of Arabic-speaking commentators 
and promotion of local esports teams, aiming to propel their profile globally.

Zain esports established a joint venture with Zain KSA and PLAYHERA, an esports platform hub created 
for “gamers by gamers” headquartered in Saudi Arabia. Through this venture, Zain esports plans to launch 
an ambassador program for up-and-coming gamers in the region as follows:  
 
• Creating a conducive environment for esports content creators 
• Supporting local social media influencers to promote leagues among local gamers. 
• Creating employment opportunities in the region, given youth unemployment is considered one of the 
region’s greatest challenges. 

40+

Major Tournaments 
Conducted 13.5K

No of Participants 100M+

Social Media
Impressions

Follower Count 
Across Social 

Media Platforms

220K

800K

Viewership across
Channels
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ZainTech

ZainTECH: Transforming tomorrow today

2023 marked a pivotal year for ZainTECH as the 
company celebrated its third year of operation with 
a robust year-on-year revenue growth, reflecting its 
commitment to delivering exceptional services and 
solutions in a sustainable manner. 

ZainTECH's mission extended beyond mere service 
provision; it spearheaded the transformation of 
enterprise and government entities across the MENA 
region. With a focus on excellence and innovation, 
the company delivered managed solutions spanning 
cloud computing, cybersecurity, AI & big data, digital 
solutions, and drones & robotics.

The year witnessed a significant expansion of 
the ZainTECH team, with over 750 dedicated ICT 
professionals now serving an expanding clientele across 
eight MENA countries and diverse sectors, including 
Telco, Government, Oil & Gas, Retail, and Financial 
Services.

Furthermore, 2023 saw ZainTECH's commitment to 
growth manifest through both organic expansions 
and strategic collaborations with technology partners. 
By continually enriching its offerings and fostering 
alliances, the company ensured its clients had access to 
the most advanced products and services.

ZainTECH also embarked on an exciting growth phase 
through strategic acquisitions, adding significant 
value to its portfolio while harnessing the unique 
competencies and market insights of acquired entities. 
These endeavors not only bolstered its capabilities but 
also reinforced its position as a leader in the industry, 
poised to drive impactful change across the region.

Expanding Horizons: ZainTECH shines at  
GITEX Global

Cementing its position as one of the most robust 
enterprise services ecosystem builders in the region, 
ZainTECH used its inaugural participation at GITEX 
Global 2023 to showcase its cutting-edge portfolio 
of products and digital solutions.  The company made 
a strong impact with its offerings spanning cloud 
computing, cybersecurity, artificial intelligence (AI), 
data services, digital solutions, and the innovative fields 
of drones and robotics. From pipe inspection robots 
to roving four-legged “anymal”, ZainTECH demos 
generated significant interest from the visiting public.
In line with its steadfast commitment to sustainability, 

Equipped with a state-of-the-art Network Operation 
Centre (NOC), the cutting-edge hub strategically 
supports ZainTECH's expansive cloud infrastructure 
across the GCC, providing seamless access to premium 
support for over 500 customers. Furthermore, the 
facility boasts a newly established Security Operating 
Centre (SOC) – the fourth in ZainTECH's growing 
regional footprint – dedicated to efficiently detecting 
and responding to cyber threats, ensuring robust 
cybersecurity measures for clients.
At the heart of the ICT hub lies the Experience 
Centre, designed to offer customers an immersive 
and personalized environment, showcasing several 
live demos and the company’s expertise in internet-
of-things (IoT), drones, robotics, and data solutions. 
Emphasizing sustainability, a core focus for Zain Group, 
the ICT hub incorporates energy-efficient technologies 
and advanced waste-reduction mechanisms.

Accelerating Growth Through Strategic 
Acquisitions

In a strategic move aimed at fortifying its market 
presence and enhancing its service offerings, 
ZainTECH initiated a series of significant acquisitions 
in 2023. These acquisitions underscore the company's 
commitment to expansion, innovation, and maintaining 
a competitive edge in the dynamic digital solutions 
landscape.

During GITEX Global 2023, ZainTECH announced the 
acquisition of Specialized Technical Services Company 
(STS), Jordan’s largest digital transformation solutions 
company, with operations in Saudi Arabia, the United 
Arab Emirates (UAE), Bahrain, and Iraq. This strategic 
move not only expanded ZainTECH's service spectrum 
but also bolstered its market presence, facilitated access 
to top-tier talent, fostered innovation, and fortified its 
competitive stance across the Middle East.

ZainTECH also spent the year consolidating its 
transaction pipeline, which included closing the 
acquisition of BIOS Middle East, a regional managed 
secure cloud provider with a presence in the UAE, 
Saudi Arabia, and Oman, as well as Adfolks, a UAE-
based cloud-native engineering firm that provides 
a comprehensive range of cloud transformation 
services and possesses proven expertise in modern 
infrastructure, application modernization, security, 
data and machine learning, and automation. These 
acquisitions further solidified ZainTECH's position 
as a frontrunner in delivering comprehensive digital 
transformation services and expertise.

Building a Thriving Partnership Ecosystem 

One of the pillars of ZainTECH is partnerships. 
The company collaborates with the leading global 
technology players to deliver solutions suited to its 
clients’ needs. Building on the foundation of its existing 
long-standing partnerships with industry leaders such 
as Microsoft, Oracle, VMware, Amazon Web Services, 
Cisco and more, ZainTECH expanded its network of 
partnerships in 2023. 

Throughout 2023, ZainTECH announced a series of 
technology agreements and strategic alliances reflecting 
its commitment to partnering with the best technology 
providers in the business to provide its clients with the 
most advanced array of products and solutions: 

du, from Emirates Integrated Telecommunications 
Company (EITC) and ZainTECH, announced a strategic 
go-to-market partnership aimed at unlocking synergies 
while embracing ESG principles towards a Net Zero 
future. This collaboration offers enterprise customers 
innovative solutions spanning Sustainability (IoT), 
Drones-as-a-Service (DaaS), Data Practice, Cloud 
Managed Services, App Modernization, as well as 
international connectivity.

Mastercard and ZainTECH entered a memorandum 
of understanding (MoU) to create unique data-driven 
and innovative solutions for businesses across the 
Middle East and North Africa (MENA). This partnership 
streamlines operations, enhancing productivity and cost 
savings for clients.

Disrupt-X is a UAE-based Internet of Things (IoT) 
company renowned for its end-to-end full-stack Digital 
Solutions offerings, , ZainTECH will partner Disrupt-X 
to expand its IoT capabilities empowering governments 
and enterprises to streamline operations efficiently, 
leveraging advanced data analytics to gain deeper 
insights and make informed decisions in today's rapidly 
evolving digital landscape.

ISSUE #01
October 2023

ZainTECH
at GITEX 2023

SHOWCASING  DIGITAL AND ICT EXCELLENCE

ADVOCATING FOR ENVIRONMENTAL, 
SOCIAL, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

ZainTECH's 300 
sqm two-level 
exhibition stand was 
constructed using 
recycled materials, 
with a keen focus on 
components designed 
for reuse. This eco-
friendly approach not 
only underscored the 
company's dedication 
to environmental 
stewardship but also 
added a modern and 
sleek aesthetic to the 
stand, serving as the perfect backdrop for a series of 
captivating demonstrations.

Unveiling of a New ICT Hub

Closing the year on a high note, ZainTECH announced 
a substantial investment initiative marking the 
establishment of its state-of-the-art Information 
and Communication Technology (ICT) Hub and the 
expansion of its operations at Dubai Internet City, the 
region’s leading community for technology and digital 
transformation. The strategic move further positioned 
ZainTECH at the forefront of digital transformation 
in the region and will help the company serve its 
growing customer base. 

Spanning over 13,000 square feet, the ICT hub 
will act as an operational center of excellence and 
drive technological initiatives and synergies across 
business units. Hosting over 300 employees, the UAE 
ICT hub will foster continuous learning and dynamic 
collaboration across Zain’s regional footprint. 

ZainTECH
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ZainTech

Rochester Institute of Technology (RIT) Dubai to 
collaborate with ZainTECH in advancing research 
and development in the UAE, fostering key business 
collaborations aligned with the national agenda, 
programs, and talent development. Leveraging this 
partnership, ZainTECH aims to drive strategic initiatives 
across national projects, enhancing academic research 
and innovation culture within the UAE.

Veeam Solutions (Veeam), a leader in Modern Data 
Protection, teamed up with ZainTECH to deliver Veeam-
powered Backup as a Service (BaaS) and Disaster 
Recovery as a Service (DRaaS) offerings. Together, the 
companies provide customers with comprehensive and 
cost-effective solutions to scale backup requirements 
and data management systems.

FICO, a New York Stock Exchange-listed global 
analytics software provider, partnered with ZainTECH 
to accelerate AI and advanced analytics adoption across 
the Middle East.  This collaboration will see ZainTECH 
expand its reach into new industries in the domains of 
data science & analytics and digital transformation in 
the region, including solutions for telecoms, financial 
services, retail, and power and utilities companies, 
helping them improve business performance and 
uncover new revenue streams.

Industry recognition 

ZainTECH was honored for the second consecutive 
year as one of the ‘Most Innovative Companies’ in the 
Enterprise segment for 2023 by Fast Company Middle 
East for its rapid evolution and leadership in digital 
transformation through its cutting-edge portfolio of 
products and digital services. This prestigious award 
underscores the company’s commitment to simplifying 
digitalization across the region, offering advisory, 
professional, and managed solutions across multiple 
ICT verticals. 

Outlook 

2024 is set to be a combination of leveraging the 
momentum ZainTECH has already established with the 
opportunities that continue to develop in its markets of 
operation. 

Technology is developing at an extremely fast pace, and 
enterprises can sometimes become overwhelmed with 
respect to what technologies and utilization models they 
need to implement for maximum impact. ZainTECH’s 
industry-specialized digital advisors and local delivery 
teams work side-by-side with customers to simplify 
their digital transformation journeys, ensuring they 
future-proof their operations and remain competitive.

The demand for ZainTECH’s services is expected to 
intensify as AI emerges as one of, if not the single 
most important technological evolution of our time. 
ZainTECH is incorporating AI in a growing number of 
solutions to provide customers with the benefits of new 
opportunities and maximize returns.

The digital transformation trend is firmly established 
in the region, with ZainTECH anticipating further 
expansion as national initiatives drive digital societies. 
The company has strategically positioned itself to 
capitalize on this trend by continually enhancing its 
capabilities and relationships. 

ZainTECH
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REGULATORY AFFAIRS 
Regulatory Focus Areas 
Underpinned By Regulatory ComplianceZain Group’s operations are subject to cross-sector, sector-specific, extraterritorial legislation, regulations, and 

national licenses. The growth of the future digital economy depends on developments across multiple industries, 
technologies, and sectors. Furthermore, the regulatory landscape has significantly altered in the last 12 months. 

The World Radiocommunications Conference (WRC-23), organized under the auspices of the International 
Telecommunication Union (ITU) and hosted by the United Arab Emirates (UAE), witnessed governments agreeing to 
a roadmap for the allocation of more spectrum for mobile services in Europe, the Middle East, and Africa (EMEA) – 
including low-band spectrum in the 470-694 MHz band, harmonization of the 3.3 – 3.8 GHz bands, and  
countries representing over 60% of the world’s population identifying the 6.425 – 7.125 GHz band (6 GHz) for 
licensed mobile use. 

With the launch of Generative AI tools such as ChatGPT (OpenAI), Character.ai, Quillbot, Gemini (Google), perplexity.
ai, and claude.ai, national regulatory authorities across the globe have begun to develop legislation to regulate the 
use of artificial intelligence (AI) and modify existing personal data protection legislation to cater to the processing of 
personal data via autonomous and semi-autonomous systems such as AI. 

The 2023 United Nations Climate Change Conference (commonly known as COP28) held in the UAE in November-
December 2023 saw nations formally agree to ramp up renewable energy rapidly and to accelerate decarbonization 
with over 50 companies representing 40% of global oil production signing a decarbonization charter to achieve net 
zero emissions by or before 2050.

Premised on Zain Group’s ‘4Sight’ 
strategy, the company is now involved 
in broad areas of ICT (traditional 
telecommunications services, passive 
and active infrastructure sharing and 
tower management and ownership, 
cloud computing, drones and robotics, 
cybersecurity, digital financial services, 
InsurTech, and others). As an organization, 
we are now subject to laws, regulations, 
policies, directives, and mandates issued 
by regulators on telecommunications, 
financial services, data protection, AI, 
cloud computing, civil aviation (for drones), 
and climate change. We engage with 
regulators through active participation at 
industry forums, regulator-led workshops, 
meetings with ministers and policy officials, 
and responses to public and industry 
consultations initiated by regulatory 
bodies. We have taken proactive steps to 
ensure regulatory compliance by instituting 
a robust regulatory compliance program 
across the Group.

Zain manages regulatory matters at the Group and the operating company level with robust internal controls 
implemented across business jurisdictions. The Group leads Group-wide impact initiatives, while individual markets 
manage and monitor developments locally.
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Infrastructure and Climate Action 5G

Industry Taxation and Levies B2B, Cloud, IoT and 
ICT Focus Areas

Spectrum & Technical Regulations Customer Affairs 
and Data Protection

Innovative Digital and 
Emerging Services

• Operator Regulatory Fees
• Consumer Levies
• Value Added Taxation
• Universal Service Fees
• Tracking of Regulatory Financial KPIs

• B2B Enablement
• IoT Regulatory Framework
• A message for drones
• Cloud Computing Frameworks
• Cyber-security regulatory mandates

• Artificial Intelligence
• Digital On-Boarding/Electronic Transaction Laws
• FinTech/Insurtech/e-Payments Regulations
• AML/CFT Laws and Regulations
• Digital Content / E-Sports

• Service Licences
• Sites/Masts/Active/Passive Sharing/TowerCo
• National/Intercity/Metro Fibre/Open Access
• International Connectivity/Submarine Cables
• Data Centres/Cable Landing Stations

• 5G Policy Development
• 5G Licensing Rollout Obligations
• Strategic Approach to Verticals
• 5G Security and Privacy
• Demand Stimulation for Use Cases

• Spectrum Management & Technical Regulation
• Radio Access Network Spectrum
• Microwave Backhaul Spectrum
• National Spectrum Roadmaps
• Cross Border Frequency Coordination

• Personal Data Protection and Privacy 
Consumer Protection 

• SIM-Registration / SIM-Caps
• Customer Complaints Handling
• Others: Billing / Collection / Spam

Competition and Market 
Developments
• Strategic Market Reviews and Remedies
• Access & Interconnection
• Competition Matters
• Telecom Law Reviews
• Others: New Entrants/OTT Players

Constant alignment with Group 
Corporate Strategy ‘4Sight

Regulatory Authority Engagement

Increased Management Regulatory 
Awareness

Engagement with Group Divisions 
and OpCo Plans

Public Consultation Responses

Training and Capacity Building

Regulatory Compliance, Risk Evaluation, 
Prioritisation and Mitigation

International Institutional Agenda 
Alignment

Best Practices Benchmarking

Regulatory Affairs
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Group Regulatory Initiatives
Regulatory Compliance Program

In 2022, Zain initiated a significant endeavor to implement the 
Regulatory Compliance Program (RCP), making notable progress in 
establishing a regulatory compliance culture within the organization. 
In Phase I, the RCP was deployed at the Group and in Zain Bahrain. In 
Phase II (commenced in 2023), the RCP was extended to Zain Kuwait 
and Zain Iraq.  In addition, a compliance status assessment was conducted 
in Zain Bahrain to track adherence and proactively identify any risks. 
Going forward, the upcoming Phase III will see the implementation of RCP 
in Zain Sudan, Saudi Arabia, and Jordan in 2024. To ensure continuous 
compliance with internal controls, governance, monitoring, and risk-prioritized 
resolution aspects of the program, in alignment with ISO 37301, the ongoing 
management of RCP will be assured through regular updates to the compliance 
register and RCP portal.

In 2023, critical developments took place in Zain’s operating markets across Zain’s eight regulatory focus areas: 

•	 Spectrum & Technical regulations – The finalization of the frequency spectrum license auction in 1800 MHz in 
Sudan and the grant of 1800 MHz and 2100 MHz spectrum, following the conclusion of the settlement agree-
ment in Jordan, represented vital achievements. A significant development was finalizing the cross-border agree-
ment between Iran and GCC countries for efficient spectrum utilization and minimization of interference in 2.6 
GHz and 3.5G Hz bands.

•	 Infrastructure & Climate Action – A green energy agreement was signed in Jordan in 2023 – supporting climate 
action initiatives. Other notable infrastructure-related initiatives included backhaul cost reduction in Bahrain, the 
receipt of approvals for submarine cable deployments in Saudi Arabia, approval of a cable landing station in Su-
dan, and the institution of a new ministerial regulation imposing a 20m minimum site-residential building separa-
tion in Kuwait.

•	 Industry taxation and levies – Notable developments include receipt of KWD 24 million, representing the 
court-mandated claims for numbering fee overpayment and increased tower and site rental fees in Kuwait, an 
increase of annual license fee in Bahrain (now 2%) and a new corporate tax in the UAE.

•	 Competition and market developments – These include, among others, the announcement of the fourth mobile 
license in Iraq, the cost modelling (LRIC)  projects in Jordan and Kuwait with implications on wholesale and retail 
prices, and an initiative to reduce international capacity prices in Kuwait.

•	 Customer Affairs and Data Protection – Several developments have occurred in Bahrain, Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi 
Arabia, and the UAE.

•	 5G – These cover the launch of 5G in Jordan and the grant of three years of 5G exclusivity in Iraq for a fourth 
mobile licensee.

•	 B2B, Cloud, IoT and ICT Focus Areas – Notably, the issuance and update of IoT regulations and related topics in 
Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait and the UAE.

•	 Innovative Digital and Emerging Services  –  In Saudi Arabia, CST issued Digital Content Regulations to regu-
late content players. In Iraq, CMC launched public consultations on Applications and Digital Content Platforms 
with the risk of revenue share imposition.

Operating Market Regulatory Developments

Zain’s Regulatory Agenda
Zain's regulatory strategy and advocacy plan are designed solely to support the implementation and realisation of 
the objectives of Zain's 4Sight corporate strategy. The key messages reflect Zain's positions conveyed through direct 
engagement with regulatory authorities and responses to public consultations. Zain continues to work closely with 
advocacy bodies such as GSMA, SAMENA Telecommunications Council, and other industry bodies to advance these 
positions with regulatory bodies and other government stakeholders. 

Lowering of spectrum 
costs for new acquisitions 
and license renewals

Grant Longer License 
Duration in line with 
international best practice 
(>20 years)

Guarantee technology 
neutrality across all bands

Favorable Payment 
Models: Installment over 
license tenure; deferred 
payment schemes

Accelerated release of 
IMT spectrum in markets 
with limited spectrum 
holdings

Regulator-led cross border 
frequency & synchronisation
coordination across all bands

Apply light-licensing 
regime to E-Band Spectrum 
for Microwave Backhaul

Proactive Publication of 
National Spectrum 
Roadmap for 
Coordinated Planning

Spectrum and Technical Regulations 

Infrastructure & Climate Action
To lower IP transit costs, advocate 
landing of more submarine cablesLiberalisation of international gateway 

and cable landing stations

Offer unified or integrated licences to 
permitting fixed and mobile services 
for converged offerings

Favourable legislation for 
passive/active infrastructure sharing 
& TowerCo establishment

Accelerate initiatives to support 
digital infrastructure: Data centres, 
IXPs, etc.

Support right to deploy fibre or 
regulated access to fibre on fair price 
and non-price terns

Site roll-out regulations aligned to 
international best practices

Industry Taxation & Levies
Lower levels of industry-specific 
fees (revenue share, licensing, 
numbering) on national operators 

Where possible, eliminate 
industry-specific utility prices or 
differential tax rates

Create incentive to deploy IoT/M2M 
by lowering regulatory costs to 
enable these to thrive

Lower Government-imposed 
activation charges on customers 
(SIM, connection taxes)

Lower handsets taxes to enhance 
affordability

Lower Usage Taxes (excise duties, 
higher VAT rates.…)

Periodic Strategic market 
reviews to assess 
effectiveness of any 
ex-ante obligations

Avoid stringent regulations 
or government behavior that 
impede competition (e.g 
monopolies)

Implement proportionate 
remedies – only apply tariff 
pre-approvals on dominant 
operators

Market liberalisation should 
consider ability of existing 
players to sustain and 
recoup investments

Competition And Market Developments

Enact consumer protection 
legislation to guard against 
unfair terms and foster 
transparency

Create a safer internet 
experience for consumers, 
businesses and society

Develop Robust Standalone 
Data Protection Laws Across 
All Sectors

Create flexible and 
reasonable SIM Registration 
Requirements

Customer Affairs and Data Protection

Ensure 5G rollout 
obligations are not 
onerous

Government-led 5G 
investment support in 
exchange for accelerated 
rollout of 5G

Licensed spectrum 
dedicated to MNOs and 
not to Verticals

Government to stimulate 
5G demand and cross 
sector collaboration to 
support use-cases

5G

Lobby for Unified Licenses 
or Right to Offer 
Fixed/Data Centre Services

Accelerate adoption of Cloud 
regulations through favourable 
legislation

Permit cross-border transfer 
of non-personal data for 
centralized processing

Create favourable 
regulatory frameworks to 
IoT/M2M deployment and 
service provision

B2B, Cloud, IoT and ICT Focus Areas

Build national digital ID 
infrastructure and open 
APIs to support digital 
identity

Accelerate adoption of e-KYC 
and e-Authentication 
procedures

Enactment of laws – 
e-commerce, payment - 
which are supportive of 
FinTech growth

Enactment of laws and 
regulations which are 
supportive of digital health

Enforcement of electronic 
contracts and signatures 
in judicial system

Demand stimulation through 
acceleration of take-up of 
e-Government services

Enactment of legislation 
which is supportive of 
e-gaming growth and 
development

Promote creation of 
regulatory sandboxes for 
emerging technologies

Innovative Digital and Emerging Services

Favourable legislation for renewable 
energy generation / production

Reasonable rental fees for passive 
infrastructure owned by 
government entities.

Minimal or no fee that will hinder 
digital services development

Lobby for Retail Tariff 
increase when inflation 
rates and Forex are out of 
normalcy  

Ensure Cost-based pricing 
for Wholesale and access 
services

Implement regulations 
addressing price wars that 
destroy market value

Regulate number of 
MNOs/MVNOs to a level 
that does not deter further 
investment

Develop legislation 
enabling the use of 
artificial intelligence 
without impeding personal 
data protection,

Promote transparency in 
Customer Privacy 
Information collection and 
use by 3rd parties

Avoid onerous consumer 
protection rules impeding 
operators’ marketing strategy

Create light touch or 
favourable roaming 
regulations governing usage, 
price, price caps and terms 

Promote the 
development of private 
5G-network-as-a-service 
provided by MNOs

Collaborative actions 
to tackle 5G Security 
Challenges that 
Service Providers are 
facing.

Release new spectrum for 
5G to drive bandwidth 
availability for advanced 
use cases

Promote fiber roll-out for 
speedy 5G backhauling 
and effectiveness

Lobby for incentives and 
subsidies to attract 
investment to boost 
Datacenters capacity

Develop cybersecurity 
legislation to prevent attacks 
and secure applications and 
infrastructure

Incorporate balanced 
regulations, supportive of data 
protection and Big data 
analytics development

Create favorable regulations 
and alignment amongst 
authorities for the civil use of 
unmanned aircraft (drones)

Regulatory Affairs



ANNUAL REPORT 2023

5352 Strategic Review | Governance | Financial Statements

Lowering of spectrum 
costs for new acquisitions 
and license renewals

Grant Longer License 
Duration in line with 
international best practice 
(>20 years)

Guarantee technology 
neutrality across all bands

Favorable Payment 
Models: Installment over 
license tenure; deferred 
payment schemes

Accelerated release of 
IMT spectrum in markets 
with limited spectrum 
holdings

Regulator-led cross border 
frequency & synchronisation
coordination across all bands

Apply light-licensing 
regime to E-Band Spectrum 
for Microwave Backhaul

Proactive Publication of 
National Spectrum 
Roadmap for 
Coordinated Planning

Spectrum and Technical Regulations 

Infrastructure & Climate Action
To lower IP transit costs, advocate 
landing of more submarine cablesLiberalisation of international gateway 

and cable landing stations

Offer unified or integrated licences to 
permitting fixed and mobile services 
for converged offerings

Favourable legislation for 
passive/active infrastructure sharing 
& TowerCo establishment

Accelerate initiatives to support 
digital infrastructure: Data centres, 
IXPs, etc.

Support right to deploy fibre or 
regulated access to fibre on fair price 
and non-price terns

Site roll-out regulations aligned to 
international best practices

Industry Taxation & Levies
Lower levels of industry-specific 
fees (revenue share, licensing, 
numbering) on national operators 

Where possible, eliminate 
industry-specific utility prices or 
differential tax rates

Create incentive to deploy IoT/M2M 
by lowering regulatory costs to 
enable these to thrive

Lower Government-imposed 
activation charges on customers 
(SIM, connection taxes)

Lower handsets taxes to enhance 
affordability

Lower Usage Taxes (excise duties, 
higher VAT rates.…)

Periodic Strategic market 
reviews to assess 
effectiveness of any 
ex-ante obligations

Avoid stringent regulations 
or government behavior that 
impede competition (e.g 
monopolies)

Implement proportionate 
remedies – only apply tariff 
pre-approvals on dominant 
operators

Market liberalisation should 
consider ability of existing 
players to sustain and 
recoup investments

Competition And Market Developments

Enact consumer protection 
legislation to guard against 
unfair terms and foster 
transparency

Create a safer internet 
experience for consumers, 
businesses and society

Develop Robust Standalone 
Data Protection Laws Across 
All Sectors

Create flexible and 
reasonable SIM Registration 
Requirements

Customer Affairs and Data Protection

Ensure 5G rollout 
obligations are not 
onerous

Government-led 5G 
investment support in 
exchange for accelerated 
rollout of 5G

Licensed spectrum 
dedicated to MNOs and 
not to Verticals

Government to stimulate 
5G demand and cross 
sector collaboration to 
support use-cases

5G

Lobby for Unified Licenses 
or Right to Offer 
Fixed/Data Centre Services

Accelerate adoption of Cloud 
regulations through favourable 
legislation

Permit cross-border transfer 
of non-personal data for 
centralized processing

Create favourable 
regulatory frameworks to 
IoT/M2M deployment and 
service provision

B2B, Cloud, IoT and ICT Focus Areas

Build national digital ID 
infrastructure and open 
APIs to support digital 
identity

Accelerate adoption of e-KYC 
and e-Authentication 
procedures

Enactment of laws – 
e-commerce, payment - 
which are supportive of 
FinTech growth

Enactment of laws and 
regulations which are 
supportive of digital health

Enforcement of electronic 
contracts and signatures 
in judicial system

Demand stimulation through 
acceleration of take-up of 
e-Government services

Enactment of legislation 
which is supportive of 
e-gaming growth and 
development

Promote creation of 
regulatory sandboxes for 
emerging technologies

Innovative Digital and Emerging Services

Favourable legislation for renewable 
energy generation / production

Reasonable rental fees for passive 
infrastructure owned by 
government entities.

Minimal or no fee that will hinder 
digital services development

Lobby for Retail Tariff 
increase when inflation 
rates and Forex are out of 
normalcy  

Ensure Cost-based pricing 
for Wholesale and access 
services

Implement regulations 
addressing price wars that 
destroy market value

Regulate number of 
MNOs/MVNOs to a level 
that does not deter further 
investment

Develop legislation 
enabling the use of 
artificial intelligence 
without impeding personal 
data protection,

Promote transparency in 
Customer Privacy 
Information collection and 
use by 3rd parties

Avoid onerous consumer 
protection rules impeding 
operators’ marketing strategy

Create light touch or 
favourable roaming 
regulations governing usage, 
price, price caps and terms 

Promote the 
development of private 
5G-network-as-a-service 
provided by MNOs

Collaborative actions 
to tackle 5G Security 
Challenges that 
Service Providers are 
facing.

Release new spectrum for 
5G to drive bandwidth 
availability for advanced 
use cases

Promote fiber roll-out for 
speedy 5G backhauling 
and effectiveness

Lobby for incentives and 
subsidies to attract 
investment to boost 
Datacenters capacity

Develop cybersecurity 
legislation to prevent attacks 
and secure applications and 
infrastructure

Incorporate balanced 
regulations, supportive of data 
protection and Big data 
analytics development

Create favorable regulations 
and alignment amongst 
authorities for the civil use of 
unmanned aircraft (drones)

Regulatory Compliance Program
In 2022, Zain initiated a significant endeavor to implement the Regulatory Compliance Program (RCP), making 
notable progress in establishing a regulatory compliance culture within the organization. 
Our Success Story from Phase II of RCP: 

 In the subsequent Phase II of RCP, the program was extended to Zain Kuwait and Iraq in 2023. 
In addition, a compliance status assessment was conducted in Zain Bahrain to assess adherence and proactively 
identify risks, if any.

Moving forward, the upcoming Phase III will see the implementation of RCP in Zain Sudan, KSA, and Jordan in 2024. 
To ensure continuous compliance with the internal controls, governance, monitoring and risk-prioritized resolution 
aspects of the program, in alignment with ISO 37301, the ongoing management of RCP will be assured through 
regular updates to the Compliance Register and RCP Portal. 

New Spectrum Acquisition & Auctions

Jordan
•	 Acquired 2x10 MHz in1800 MHz band
•	 Cost of JD 35.5m based on the settlement 

agreement
•	 2x5 MHz in 2100 MHz (Annual fee JD 100K).

Kuwait
•	 To expand spectrum availability in Kuwait, CITRA is 

contemplating granting spectrum in the band n40 
(2300 - 2400 MHz) and restructuring the 2.6 GHz 
band from band 7/38 to band n41 to grant MNOs up 
to 290 MHz of spectrum.

•	 The grant may be offered as a managed assignment 
or through an auction

Saudi Arabia
•	 Although the CST announced  the auction of 600, 

700, 3800-400 MHz to take place on the 16 Oct 
2023, auction has been postponed again.

Sudan
•	 In Q1 2023, auction was concluded, and Zain won 

the remaining last 2 x 10 MHz in the 1800 MHz 
band at USD 37 mln

•	 Payments will be made in 4 installments (15%) 
with 40% paid in 2023 in SDG at CBoS rates at the 
payment times.

New Spectrum Acquisition & Auctions

Iraq  
•	 Ongoing advocacy efforts by MNOs to address QoS 

targets, spectrum availability and spectrum pricing 
to align these with international standards.

•	 Extensive workshops held in Q4 2023 to address 
QoS and to lower spectrum pricing

Kuwait
•	 3G Shutdown  contemplated  - The banking 

network and payment ecosystem, reliant on 2G/3G 
POS devices has signaled readiness to swap POS 
machines from 2G/3G to 4G/5G. 

•	 Joint lobbying effort by GSMA, ITU, MNOs on 
spectrum, site regulations, business guidelines, 
unified License and FTTH.

GCC & Iran –Cross border Interference
•	 Cross-border agreements  between Iran & GCC 

countries for efficient spectrum utilization and 
minimized interference in 2.6 GHz and 3.5GHz.  

Infrastructure Sharing

Jordan
•	 Agreement signed between Zain and the Electric 

Power companies (JEPCO, EDCO, NEPCO) to 
provide Zain with green energy

Bahrain
•	 Based on NTP-5 mandate, ongoing negotiations on 

the fiber assets transfer with BNET with right-of-
use as model.

•	 In 2023 Zain secured a 25% backhaul costs 
reduction with further reductions discussion 
ongoing.

International Gateway

South Sudan
•	 The IGW management is now officially under the 

NCA following Q2 2023 restructuring.
•	 Nationwide fiber deployment by Moya the 2nd 

provider. Presence of an alternative provider is 
beneficial to Zain for core network connectivity.

Sites deployment

Kuwait
•	 Ministerial decision No 003/2024 limits the distance 

between communications towers and certain types 
of buildings to 20m.

•	 Joint lobbying effort with GSMA ongoing to remove 
compliance distance

Submarine Cable Approvals

Saudi Arabia
•	 Blue Raman project awaiting additional 

documentation and information from Zain after CST 
approval.

•	 PEACE Cable roll-out underway with no further 
regulatory hurdles. 

Sudan
•	 Final approvals for Africa-1 submarine cable landing 

station were successfully secured.
•	 Environmental survey and some other minor 

approvals (localities and power authorities). are 
ongoing.

•	 Positive contribution to revenue increase as Zain is 
permitted to sell capacity to 3rd parties and capacity 
cost reduction. 

Regulatory fees

Kuwait
•	 Refund claims of numbering fee overpayment filed 

by Zain related to their allocated/reserved number 
ranges before August 2011 against MoC and CITRA  
after April 2017 court decision invalidating part of 
the regulatory tariff decree No. 126 / 2011.

•	 Process took almost 6 years.
•	 Zain received the claimed amount of KD 24.680m in 

Q4 2023. 
•	 Tower and Sites Regulation: Objection filed against 

Rental fee increase by several government bodies 
(MOF, PAI, CITRA)

•	 Financial impact. 

United Arab Emirates
•	 A new Tax Law on companies was introduced in 

the UAE by Federal Decree Law No.47 of 2022. 
Implementing Regulations of this Law were issued 
based on several Cabinet Decrees and Ministerial 
decrees.

•	 Financial impact is a 9% corporate tax rate on 
annual taxable incomes over AED 375,000

SPECTRUM & TECHNICAL REGULATIONS

INFRASTRUCTURE & CLIMATE ACTION

INDUSTRY TAXATION & LEVIES

Regulatory Affairs
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Regulatory fees

Bahrain
•	 Telecom Law amendment raises annual license fee cap to 2% and Schedule of Fees regulation to be amended 

accordingly from 1st Jan 2024. 

South Sudan
•	 MNOs are lobbying  for tariff adjustment approval by NCA as necessary as the Market exchange rate has reached 

SSP1150 : USD 1 with the NCA exchange rate currently at SSP 618.75 : USD 1
•	 USD 2 one-off import tax implemented for new SIM cards. 

Market Developments

Iraq
•	 4th License: The Cabinet approved to grant a national license (the 4th license) with 3 years 5G mobile technology 

(5G) exclusivity to Al-Salam General Company (subsidiary of the MoC)
•	 Korek:Parliament approved license revocation for non-paying MNOs by EOY 2023. On 1st of Nov 2023, the CMC 

sent a letter to Zain and Asiacell to disconnect the Interconnection with Korek 
•	 MVNO: CMC issued a MVNO Regulation.

Sudan
•	 In Sep 2023, Zain secured another 25% prices increase across all services from the TPRA. 
•	 The increase is due those two factors a) Forex and b) inflation rates increases. 

South Sudan
•	 Implementation feedback requested on East Africa One Network Area (ONA) roaming agreement by NCA
•	 As ONA terms considered not operative by MNOs.

Kuwait
•	 Long Run Incremental Cost (LRIC) Exercise completed. Results could set retail price floor.
•	 Public consultation to reduce current high tariffs of Leased Circuits (IPLC) via submarine cables
•	 Fixed Network Development Project: MOC seeks an Intl operator to manage the fixed network. 
•	 Zain launched a partnership with RedBull.

Saudi Arabia
•	 Zain is challenging CST decision that providers must ensure delivering 70% of the advertised speed instead of 

the current 50%.
•	 Court case against CST regarding coverage and speed commitments lost by Zain, STC, and Mobily. Appeal 

pending at supreme court.

Bahrain
•	 The National Telecom Plan (NTP6) was issued, advocating Smart Kingdom’s objective and targeting a 

recognition of being top 10 regionally and worldwide.
•	  Zain Participated in key TRA initiatives on unified licensing, AI, data privacy, BNET review and consumer 

protection.

Jordan
•	 Based on the TSLRIC+ efficient operator model, the TRC set the MTR at 0.21 fils/min with a glide path starting 

from 2 fils/min in 2023 and SMS termination at 0.22 fils/SMS to be implemented as a flat rate across 2024-2027.
•	 Zain is working towards the increase of proposed rates as they will negatively impact the interconnection 

revenues as well as the Bulk SMS revenue

United Arab Emirates
•	 Introduction of  FedNet an on-demand network access to a shared pool of configurable computing resources for 

all federal government entities. 
•	 Main feature is its secure MPLS Cloud based architecture that  enhances UAE’s cybersecurity. 

Market Developments

Personal Data Protection (PDPL)

Bahrain
•	 Zain BH collaborated with other MNOs to sign consumer protection agreements, avoiding significant costs and 

operational changes.

Saudi Arabia
•	 The amendments to the Personal Data Protection Law (PDPL) in Saudi Arabia were officially made pursuant to 

Royal Decree No. M/148, dated 27 March 2023.
•	 Zain proactively complying with the Personal Data Protection Law (PDPL) ahead of the 1-year grace period 

ending September 14, 2024.

Kuwait
•	 CITRA has issued an update to the Data Protection and Privacy Regulation No. 42 of 2021. The new regulation is 

expected to be issued by Q1 2024.

Jordan
•	 On 30 Aug. 2023, the Parliament approved the Law on Personal Data Protection.
•	 Entities under Central Bank can process, transfer, exchange data within or outside Jordan without informing 

concerned person.
•	 No licenses/permits required for entities processing data for the purpose it has been collected if no publishment 

or disclosure to 3rd parties

United Arab Emirates
•	 The UAE's first federal data protection law, Federal Decree-Law No. 45 of 2021 on Protection of Personal Data 

took effect on January 2, 2022. This law applies to any data subject who resides in or has a place of business in 
the UAE, any firm processing personal data inside or outside the UAE as a controller or processor, and any firm 
located outside the UAE that processes data inside the UAE.

•	 The UAE's Telecommunications and Digital Government Regulatory Authority introduced the 'UAE Information 
Assurance Regulation' to enhance information security against evolving cyber threats, ensuring a trusted digital 
environment by establishing robust controls for managing, processing, storing, and transmitting information.

COMPETITION AND MARKET DEVELOPMENTS CUSTOMER AFFAIRS AND DATA PROTECTION

Regulatory Affairs



ANNUAL REPORT 2023

5756 Strategic Review | Governance | Financial Statements

5G Developments

Iraq Risk of Early Launch: 
•	 Kurdistan is expected to have 5G licenses awarded 

by their local government.
•	 Officially there is no 5G plan from CMC except 

the 3-year 5G exclusivity given to the 4th mobile 
licensee. 

•	 A letter has been sent from CMC to all vendors in 
Iraq prohibiting them from providing 5G equipment, 
consulting on 5G, supporting operation of 5G 
network in Iraq except to the 4th mobile licensee. All 
vendors have accepted their adherence to the CMC 
instructions.” 

Jordan
•	 Zain was granted 100MHz 5G Spectrum Licence in 

the 3700-3800 MHz band in Q1 2023. 
•	 Zain launched 5G in Q4 2023 starting with 5G 

home router services 

United Arab Emirates
•	 Nokia have successfully concluded the UAE's first 

5G-Advanced 5G Reduced Capability (RedCap) trial 
over a commercial network.

5G

B2B, IoT, Cloud and ICT Focus Areas

B2B, IoT and Cloud

Iraq
•	 In May 2023, the Iraqi Communications and 

Media Commission (CMC) issued its Draft Cloud 
Computing Policy, draft Drone regulation for 
consultation.

•	 The Policy highlights registration/licensing 
requirements and various obligations on CSPs.

United Arab Emirates
•	 Decree No.9 of 2023 from the TDRA that outlines 

the Licensing regulations for Licenses issued by the 
TDRA which includes the Internet of Things License.

•	 Some provisions of the Drone Law of Dubai (Law 
No.4 of 2020) have been amended through Law 
No.10 of 2023. The amendments were mainly 
related to the Licensing requirement for the use of 
Unmanned Aerial Vehicles in Dubai.

•	 Decision No.20 of 2023 from the Dubai Civil 
Aviation Authority outlining the Licensing 
requirements of Unmanned Aerial Vehicles in Dubai

B2B, IoT and Cloud

Kuwait
•	 CITRA issued a draft IoT regulatory framework in 

June 2023
•	 Main points being addressed by MNOs include 

technology neutrality, numbering/addressing fees 
minimal or zero.

•	 Final version is yet to be published. 

Jordan
•	 The modified IoT instructions (4-12/2023 issued in 

2020 and amended in 2021 have  been approved in 
dec 2023.

•	 No major changes from the consultations and the 
previous version.

•	 Prior approval is still required to provide IoT 
services.

Innovative Digital and Emerging Services

Innovative Digital Services

Iraq
•	 In Sep 2023, the CMC issued 2 public consultations: 

a) Digital Application Regulation and b) Digital 
Content Platform. 

•	 The main issue is the imposition of an 8% new 
revenue share on Digital Services. 

•	 CMC and CBI are currently engaged in discussions 
regarding the facilitation of electronic payments 
with the aim of finding a solution that enables 
operators to continue offering digital services 
through direct operator billing.

Saudi Arabia
•	 In Oct 2023, CST issued the Regulations for 

providing digital content platform services.
•	 Aims to promote fair competition among digital 

content platforms, protect users and businesses 
from unfair and anti-competitive practices, and 
promote certainty and consistency for all actors 
engaged in the digital content sector.

Regulatory Affairs
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RISK MANAGEMENT
Zain operates in a highly regulated, competitive, and rapidly evolving environment. This landscape is growing more 
complex due to the strategic focus to grow adjacent businesses and the significant investment to maximize returns 
from the digital economy. Additionally, the global outlook deteriorated significantly in 2023 with the rise in central 
bank rates leading to decline in consumer spending.

The unprecedented uncertainties in the external environment meant that the Group’s risk landscape evolved – as 
shown in the Risks That Matter section – and, similarly, the Group’s approach to governance and risk management 
was adjusted.

Safeguarding our business through three lines of defense
Zain Group's Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) function plays a critical role within the company, reporting to the 
Board Risk Committee (BRC), which meets quarterly to discuss the risk profile of the organization. The BRC oversees 
the implementation of a strategic risk assessment exercise across Zain’s operations, while also reviewing and 
approving the risk management framework on an annual basis.

In addition, the BRC oversees compliance with risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the 
adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the organization, from operational risk 
management, cybersecurity, and operational resilience

Management remains ultimately responsible for ensuring the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s control 
environment, thereby limiting the likelihood of risks materializing that could exceed the approved appetite. The ERM 
function, through the existing governance structures, assists management by monitoring the implementation of 
effective risk management practices across the Group. Finally, Internal Audit provides independent and objective 
assurance to management and the Board on the adequacy of risk management and the effectiveness of the  
control environment and, through their mandate, facilitates the continuous improvement of the Group’s  
governance practices.

The Group’s ERM function performs a pivotal role in ensuring the resilience of our strategic plans and operations, 
including but not limited to the following activities:

•  Periodically scanning the environment to ensure that we maintain an up-to-date view of the key risks that may 
impact us at a macro level, and provide those views to management on a regular basis at various engagement 
points, including through reporting to BRC. 

•  Engaging with our community of risk professionals, risk champions and ERM teams in many of our operating 
entities and international subsidiaries, providing them with the right tools and training, and supporting them to 
achieve their objectives and continuously raise the bar in terms of the quality of risk management practices across 
the Group.

Risks That Matter
In accordance with our risk management process, we continually scan, assess, and monitor the Group’s risk and 
control environment, thereby proactively seeking to reduce risk exposures down to acceptable levels. 
In line with this process, the following summarizes several of our risks and describes the high-level approach to 
managing them.

Risk Management

Three Lines of Defense

First Line Second Line Third Line 

Management (Risk Owners)

• Own and manage risks
• Implement the response strategies
• Periodical monitoring and reporting

ERM

 Implement and operationalize the
 ERM framework, promote risk
 aware culture, provide support to
management and challenge on risk

Internal Audit

 Act in accordance with recognized
 international standards for
 independent assurance of first and
second lines

Risks Description Impact Mitigation

 Evolving
regulatory regime
(Strategic)

 As we operate in diverse markets,
 we face legal and regulatory
 challenges. The authorities can alter
 current regulations and implement
 new ones, which can significantly
 influence our operations and
financial performance.

 Increased cost of operations
 (license fees, cost of regulatory
 compliance) leading to reduced
 profits, delay, or postponement
 in launch of new businesses and
 services to create new revenue
 streams.

 Collaborate with market
 regulatory authorities and other
 stakeholders, engaging in market
 issues, with a clear focus on
 common benefits.

 Innovation on new products and
 services to enhance revenues and
 overcome increased regulatory
costs.

 Geopolitical &
 macro-economic
situation
(Strategic)

Zain operates in multiple markets, 
and changes to macro-economic 
indicators impact operations 
significantly. 

Geopolitical hindrances lead to 
reduced access to capital and 
technology.

Political unrest causes disruption to 
operations.

Reduced customer spending leads 
to reduced revenues impacting 
the execution of the company’s 
strategy. 

Weakening local currencies in 
certain subsidiaries affects the 
profitability of Zain’s operations and 
asset valuation.

Hike in interest rates have 
increased the cost of debt in certain 
subsidiaries.

 Ensure cost optimization
 initiatives and access to long-
 and short-term capital options
 through varied sources of funding.
 Employ various hedging
 instruments to offset rate hike
impact.

 Ongoing improvement of our
 business continuity capabilities
across operations.

Cybersecurity 
(Operational)

As technologies advance rapidly, 
cybersecurity threats are also 
evolving and need continuous 
monitoring.

Customer data breach, financial, 
reputational, or regulatory 
consequences.

Ongoing enhancement of our 
cybersecurity capabilities by 
updating: 
1. Periodic assessments 
2. Latest security tools
3. Training and awareness 

programs.

Successful 
and timely 
implementation 
of Digital BSS 
Transformation 
program
(Operational)

Billing and charging systems are 
a critical core of our business. The 
systems are being transformed in 
certain operations to offer attractive 
packages along with value added 
services.

Delayed and incorrect 
implementation of the systems may 
lead to customer churn and cost 
overruns.

Formation of a dedicated cross-
functional transformation team for 
planning and delivery of
transformation programs.
Develop transformation KPIs 
for the program and associated 
stakeholders 

Talent 
management
(Operational)

Digital transformation strategies 
require transformation of 
workforce capability and skills, 
as talent acquisition needs are 
pronounced in domains such as 
machine learning, data science, 
AI, and software-based networks.

Business initiatives leveraging 
digital platforms and new 
skillsets will be affected, leading 
to disruption to the digital 
transformation program.

Re-structuring organizational 
structure to align with a digital 
future while maintaining an 
effective balance between 
external hires, contractors, and 
internal re-skilling program. 
Initiatives to attract digital/tech 
talent by creating a compelling 
value proposition for prospective 
talent.

Risk Management
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Technology 
Science-Based Emissions’ Reduction Targets
Science-based targets are those aligned with what the 
latest climate science says is required to limit global 
warming to 1.5°C, compared to pre-industrial levels. 
Zain has officially committed to setting science-based 
targets through the Science-Based Target initiative 
(SBTi), an organization that helps companies align their 
emissions reduction targets with what was set by the 
Paris Agreement. Zain will set one target for its Scope 1 
and 2 emissions and another for its Scope 3 emissions. 
Scope 1 and 2 emissions respectively result from the 
use of fossil fuels and the consumption of electricity 
for the operation of our network infrastructure, data 
centers, and offices facilities. Zain’s Scope 1 and 2 
emissions reduction targets will follow the ICT guide 
of an absolute reduction of 4.2% per year, with a 
baseline year defined as 2020, which means that our 
aim is to achieve a reduction of 42% of our emissions 
by 2030. Scope 3 emissions are known as value-chain 
emissions as they are generated by our suppliers and 
partners for activities related to our business. Zain’s 
Scope 3 emissions reduction target will cover three main 
categories: 
Category 1: Purchase Goods & Services; 
Category 2: Capital Goods; and 
Category 3: Fuel- and Energy-related activities, not 
included in Scope 1 or 2 because those categories 
represent over 89% of Scope 3 emissions. Targets for 
Category 1 and 2 will be set as a supplier engagement 
target, while Category 3 target will follow an absolute 
reduction scheme. These targets will be submitted to 
the SBTi for approval during the first quarter of 2024.

Moving Ahead in 5G Evolution, Harnessing 
5G-Advanced for Unprecedented Connectivity
Zain has been actively preparing for the evolution 
to 5G-Advanced, aiming to push the boundaries of 
what 5G can achieve. Some of the key strategies 
and preparations Zain has been undertaking for 
5G-Advanced include spectrum optimization, 
technology upgrades and network enhancement, use 
cases developments, industry partnerships, employing 
machine learning and artificial intelligence, and 
developing an even more customer-centric approach.

Zain has been focusing on optimizing current spectrum 
resources to support 5G-Advanced and actively 
engaging in the acquisition of strategic spectrum 
in multiple markets to enhance network capacity, 
throughput, and coverage. Zain has also been upgrading 
the network and deploying the latest 5G MIMO 
technology to maximize network capacity and enhance 
5G coverage. Additionally, Zain has been collaborating 
closely with network vendors and enterprises to develop 
use cases that rely on 5G-Advanced technology such as 

Technology

RedCap and Passive IoT technologies. By harnessing 
machine learning and artificial intelligence, Zain mobile 
networks optimize power consumption, intelligently 
adapting to usage patterns, ensuring efficient energy 
utilization for a greener, more resilient future.

As an example of implementing these strategies, 
Zain Saudi Arabia was able to use advanced MIMO 
technology along with existing spectrum to achieve 
high throughput by combining C-band 3.5GHz and 
mid-band 2.6GHz to provide a clearer explanation of 
the spectrum aggregation process and deliver QoS 
5G speed. Zain Bahrain was able to aggregate three 
carriers (sub-6 and mmWave bands) to deliver high 
speed 5G and to become the first operator in the 
Bahrain to use such technology. Zain Kuwait is currently 
finalizing its network preparation to accommodate the 
new spectrum, which is set be acquired soon.
 
Zain preparations for 5G-Advanced reflect the 
company’s commitment to staying at the forefront 
of technological advancements and leveraging 5G to 
unlock new possibilities for consumers and industries 
alike. As the technology landscape continues to 
advance, Zain looks to refine its strategies to unlock 
the transformative power of advanced 5G technologies 
to enable enhanced mobile broadband, ultra-reliable 
low-latency communication, massive machine 
communication, and more. These technologies will in 
turn open up a world of immersive experiences such as 
virtual reality (VR) and augmented reality (AR). 

Operation Digital Transformation
Zain is continuing the transformation journey of its 
network and network operations center (NOC) in 
multiple opcos, as it moves towards an autonomous 
service operations center (SOC) model. This ongoing 
evolution incorporates a transformation from traditional 
operational methods, leveraging a powerful arsenal of 
cutting-edge technologies like AI, machine learning, 
and automation. Beyond the traditional network 
complexities, Zain has adopted a holistic approach to 
emphasize its overarching strategy that revolves around 
service delivery and customer-centricity. The SOC is 
undergoing a dynamic transformation in line with the 
evolving nature of change, gradually transforming into 
a nerve center that orchestrates personalized service 
experiences aligned with a customer-centric driven 
operation. 

This strategic transition emphasizes Zain's solid 
commitment to not just meeting but exceeding 
customer expectations. The SOC's primary objective 
is to proactively address potential service disruptions 
while optimizing operations to significantly enhance 
service quality. As the SOC gains autonomy, it is 

proactively adapting to the ever-changing expectations 
of customers, ensuring a quick and responsive network 
infrastructure. This adaptability is the cornerstone of 
Zain's pursuit of exceptional customer experiences.

Within this ongoing transformation, Zain confirms 
its dedication to providing personalized, exceptional 
service experiences tailored to the unique requirements 
of its customer base and business partners. 

Automation and Smart O&M Transport Network 
In pursuit of the rapid evolution of mobile services, Zain 
strategically invests in the development of cutting-edge 
transmission networks. Traditional challenges within 
transport network operations and maintenance (O&M), 
such as invisible key performance indicators (KPIs), slow 
fault locating, and prolonged troubleshooting times, 
present obstacles to adapting to the intricate demands 
of modern services. To overcome these challenges, Zain 
is constructing advanced and automated transmission 
networks. Zain Jordan is deploying innovative use 
cases to enhances network automation capabilities, 
incorporating real-time awareness, multi-dimensional 
visualization, intelligent analysis, and automatic traffic 
optimization. This initiative significantly reduces service 
recovery time, elevates the Quality of Experience (QoE) 
by 15%, and enhances fiber fault locating efficiency by 
95%, ultimately enhancing overall network efficiency 
and ensuring a premium user quality of experience.

Furthermore, Zain introduces innovative use cases 
for Premium Broadband user experience in fixed 
broadband networks, effectively addressing issues 
related to poor application performance and weak  
WiFi coverage. Our objective is widespread 
deployment, fostering a faultless, prompt, and user-
centric network experience. Zain aspires to extend these 
innovative practices to other operations, with the  
vision of establishing a zero-fault, zero-wait, and  
zero-touch network.

Cloud Automation
Cloud Automation can be defined as a set of tools 
and processes that are implemented to minimize the 
manual intervention in a live network with regards 
to provisioning, configuration, and management of 
workloads. This makes a considerable contribution to 
cost saving, especially in multi-cloud environments, 
while at the same time reducing the error rate 
associated with human intervention. Digital 
transformation is a long journey. Cloud Automation 
allows such transformation to be achieved efficiently, 
improving customer experience drastically, and will 
certainly distinguish our services in the market.

Zain has invested significantly in Cloud Automation, 
achieving amazing results. Several of our processes and 
procedures that involve repetitive tasks or decision-
making about capacity or performance in live network 
situations have been automated in a number of 
operations. This has led to a noticeable improvement 
in terms of customer experience and the speed in 
fulfilling some complex provisioning. Automation is also 
expected to play a pivotal role in Cloud self-healing in 
the near future, with Zain set to continue enhancing this 
automation till it reaches “Zero Touch.” 

5G Slicing
5G Slicing is considered one of the important services 
that can be offered through 5G-Advanced. It is 
the ability for 5G to multiplex a number of logical 
networks on the same physical infrastructure, where 
each network slice represents an isolated end-to-end 
network that can fulfill various requirements requested 
by a particular application. 5G Slicing can be offered by 
service providers to large enterprises. With 5G Slicing, 
guaranteed end-to-end performance can be offered to 
customers, additionally, it helps maximizing revenue by 
offering distinguished performance and service level 
agreement–based pricing while continually optimizing 
network resources. Zain is a leader in providing such 
a service, working with enterprises in the Oil and Gas 
sector.

Digital Business Support Systems (BSS) journey 
Zain is committed to transforming into a digital-
enabled operator, becoming a leading best-in-class 
service provider by continuing to invest in Digital BSS 
transformation programs across its affiliates. Zain 
focuses on enabling AI in BSS, having introduced a 
program of transformation in Zain Iraq. Having uplifted 
and transforming its legacy BSS to Digital BSS, Zain 
Iraq began to implement the first AI use case, which 
was churn prediction.  

The use of an agile methodology in these 
transformation programs is also commendable, helping 
reduce risks and showing accumulated benefits as in 
the case of Zain Saudi Arabia, where all prepaid and 
new postpaid customers are being served through the 
new BSS. Following a "best of breed" concept, Zain 
Kuwait continues to invest in B2B and B2C channels, 
supported by Salesforce and Ericsson bringing together 
the best practices and technologies from across the 
industry to create a truly cutting-edge BSS solution. 
In Zain South Sudan, all new customers are served 
through a new BSS stack. 

Overall, Zain is on the right track to becoming a 
leading digital player in the region. The company's 
investments in Digital BSS transformation, AI, and agile 
methodologies are well-placed to deliver significant 
benefits to customers.

Technology
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Zain Brand

The Zain Brand
An admired brand focused on delighting customers 

Zain’s brand value and position as one of the most 
powerful and admired telecom brand entities in the 
region continues to grow, bolstered by Zain’s never-
ending widespread awareness and tactical campaigns 
covering digital innovation, corporate sustainability, and 
eye-catching marketing and social media campaigns 
that captured the region’s imagination. 

17 years after the Zain brand was originally launched 
in 2007, the brand’s valuation has consistently grown, 
with the 2023 valuation growing 14% from US$2.4 
billion to US$2.74 billion, according to the BrandFinance 
2023 Global Telecom and Middle East brands report. 
This valuation and brand rating of AA+ maintains Zain’s 
position as the unrivaled number one home grown 
brand from Kuwait and one of the region’s most loved 
and recognizable brands. 

This brand valuation milestone is a testament to our 
unwavering dedication to crafting a commanding 
brand identity that stands as a beacon, illuminating 
not only our success but also the profound resonance 
of the Zain brand in the consciousness of consumers, 
firmly establishing Zain as a formidable force in many 
industries.

Shrewd implementation of the company’s 4Sight 
strategy is driving digital transformation across all 
operations resulting in the rollout of quality mobile and 
data services, emerging technologies and enhanced 
network capabilities including 5G. This empowers Zain 
to offer compelling products and service that extend 
beyond telecom into a vast array of digital services, 
content, entertainment, fintech, home automation, 
esports, cloud, artificial intelligence, cybersecurity, smart 
cities, drones and robotics.

As Zain, our commitment to creating a wonderful 
world is to lift the barriers to innovation through 
the introduction of digital services that will allow 
governments, businesses, and individuals within our 
operating areas to streamline their operations, increase 
their digital footprint, and reach heightened levels of 
success.

However, creating a wonderful world means much 
more than the introduction or expansion of cutting-edge 
technologies. It is an active global vision created to uplift 
all the lives we touch far beyond increasing their ease of 
access to the digital world. 

Zain will continue to develop its brand equity by 
investing in operations, technology, innovation, 
marketing and customer experience. The company’s 
numerous initiatives across operations have all 
contributed to the reinforcement of the Zain brand’s 
promise and business ethos.  The company seeks 
to unlock opportunities for customers and for the 
communities it serves, remaining committed to the 
region’s economic and social prosperity.

Captivating marketing campaigns

Complementing multiple creative campaigns across 
its footprint, capturing the hearts and minds of the 
region, every Ramadan, Zain presents a new message 
that touches upon the most relevant issues in life in 
its television commercials to the region’s substantial 
Ramadan audience. 

The 2023 Ramadan and Eid television achieved over 
100 million views on YouTube alone. Apart from 
employing the best talent to produce its commercials, 
Zain partners with and utilizes the best creative digital 
agencies across the region to ensure its brand is widely 
seen and appreciated. 

The Eid 2023 Television Commercial

Eid’s television commercial, “Welcome Eid” was a 
cultural touchstone that transcends conventional 
advertising, it was revolutionary featuring a hologram 
of Abdel Halim Hafez, a first for the genre. The jubilant 
and positive tone of this TVC projected positivity and 
celebration for a wonderful time of year, Eid Al Fitr. This 
masterpiece garnered over 70+ million organic views 
on YouTube, transforming it into a cultural phenomenon. 

The Zain annual play
Zain's annual play “Nothing Like Zain” during the 
EID al Fitr period soared with its groundbreaking, 
inclusive design, a meticulously crafted three-tier 
stage. Beyond captivating 55,000+ attendees, it 
added depth to the narrative, showcasing Zain's 
commitment to pushing creative boundaries. 
Inclusivity played a pivotal role, setting Zain's 
play apart. Sign language interpretation in the 
recorded version boldly demonstrated dedication 
to accessibility, resonating globally with English 
subtitles extending impact. Zain's Play achieved 
universal acclaim, with record-breaking attendance 
reflecting its innovative storytelling, solidifying Zain's 
leadership in creative expression.

The Ramadan 2023 
Television Commercial 

The message behind this television 
commercial, “Psychological 
tremors” was to raise awareness 
about the impacts we face mentally 
and their effect on people that are 
comparable to physical tremors. 
The overarching message was to 
be compassionate to your fellow 
humans and to be considerate 
and kind towards them. It was 
viewed by over 20 million across 
various platforms, plus shown on 
various major satellite TV channels 
watched by millions. 

Zain Brand

Social media: promoting the brand to 23 million 
followers  

Zain’s relentless focus on promoting its brand creativity 
and messaging, corporate sustainability, and activities 
across its markets and the wider region through social 
media channels resulted in an impressive increase in 
followers, engagement, and views across social media 
channels. 

Social media teams across Zain’s footprint regularly 
produce appealing and engaging content, consumed by 
responsive followers. This has resulted in a loyal social 
media base across the Zain footprint, numbering over  
23 million, with 13 million fans on Facebook, more than 
8 million followers on Twitter, 3 million on Instagram,  
and 800,000 on LinkedIn. Annually, Zain Group and its 
operations’ YouTube channels receive more than  
250 million views.
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Diversity, Equity & Inclusion 
Zain’s Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) division, 
along with the relevant stakeholders, leverage Zain’s 
employees’ strengths and diversity in alignment with 
the corporate strategy, positioning Zain as a global force 
for positive change through its strategic programs: WE, 
gender diversity and inclusion; WE ABLE, disability 
inclusion; ZY, youth development; ZAINIAC, Zain’s 
internal innovation platform; BE WELL, wellness 
program; and REACH, mentoring initiative.

Zain also introduced the Zain Diversity, Equity & 
Inclusion University (DEIU) in collaboration with IE 
University in Spain. The partnership allowed 2,000 
Zainers to enroll in an online Digital Transformation 
program, with the potential of earning a Master's 
degree.

Following the certifications of multiple Zainers in a Train 
the Trainer certification on DEI, and working towards full 
organizational alignment, Zain aims to train 50% of the 
organization by 2025 on DEI.

Partnering with human resources (HR), 
enhancements on the Group-wide family leave 
policy were implemented.

In 2022, Zain launched its WE SUCCEED program 
that brought high potential employees to the 
forefront of development on skills relating to 
leadership. The top 50% of participants were paired 
with senior sponsors to accelerate their careers in 
2023 and beyond through scheduled meetings.

The introduction of the WE STEM team aims to 
add more women into technical fields. In 2023, 
the team successfully launched two data science 
competitions, addressing a telecom industry 
challenge, and developing in-house machine-
learning solutions.

In 2023, Zain reintroduced ZAINIAC, an online platform 
where employees can submit, collaborate, register, 
and engage in sprints and events. ZAINIAC offers clear 
evidence of Zain’s commitment to providing cutting-
edge and innovative solutions. The ideas submitted 
undergo evaluation by the Vanguard, a committee of 
innovative Zainers from diverse backgrounds, who 
assess, mentor, and bring these ideas to life. A total of 
629 ideas were submitted, accompanied by nine hosted 
events, resulting in seven successful implementations, 
leveraging three distinct creativity techniques.  

BE WELL

WE

In 2023, Zain participated in the 10th annual 
International Labor Organization conference, presenting 
the WE ABLE strategy. Key achievements in 2023 
include the creation of Sign Language Databases for 
Kuwait, Iraq, Bahrain, and Jordan, all of which have been 
published on the Zain website. Additionally, inclusive 
hiring guides were launched, and dedicated sessions 
with each operation were conducted. Comprehensive 
training on digital accessibility and etiquette was 
provided to employees. Moreover, the GROW program 
was successfully launched in several operations, 
resulting in the hiring of five people with disabilities. 

ZY

ZY is dedicated to empowering young employees with 
the knowledge and resources required to excel in the 
workplace. Zain Group introduced the Generation Z 
2023 program, fostering an entrepreneurial mindset 
and enhancing skills relating to Zain's strategy. Zain 
Bahrain initiated CODE 2030, a technology-focused 
employment program supporting and empowering 
Bahraini youth in the tech sector. Additionally, the 
launch of ZY Counsel, comprising eight talented 
Zainers nominated by their executive management 
teams, marks a transformative journey to address CEO 
challenges through innovative and strategic solutions.

Zain introduced the new BE WELL strategy, 
emphasizing four pillars to promote wellness in the 
workplace and align with its objective of "Nurturing 
Belonging, Mindfully." The pillars include Movement, 
focusing on activities to boost mood and reduce stress; 
Mindful, proactively promoting mindfulness and present-
moment awareness at work; Me, adopting an approach 
to recognize signs of distress in oneself and the team; 
and Mental Health, targeting stigma and providing 
mental health resources in a confidential manner. Zain 
continues to offer free counseling and therapy sessions 
through Kuwait Counseling Center for all employees, 
and a subscription to Tuhoon, an Arabic self-help 
organization providing tools and solutions to enhance 
mental health.

Diversity, Equity & Inclusion

WE ABLE ZAINIAC REACH

Under the mentoring initiative, Zain introduced the 
Express Mentor Route, a condensed experience of tech-
related mentorships. Registration resulted in exclusive 
sessions with Zain's top strategists and leaders, 
engaging with over 100 mentees.

DEI Awards

Zain was rewarded with the “Championship Award 
in Women Empowerment 2023” at the annual 
Global Good Governance Awards, held in Dubai and 
organized by Cambridge IFA, a UK-based think tank. 
Zain was also recognized with two prestigious awards 
at the SAMENA Council endorsed MEA Business 
Magazine Technology Achievement Awards 2023 for 
“Outstanding Sector Leadership and Growth” and for 
“Innovation, Collaboration, and Partnerships” for the 
DEIU Program.

Diversity, Equity & Inclusion
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Corporate Sustainability 
Zain’s five-year Corporate Sustainability (CS) strategy incorporates the company’s operating context and focuses 
on establishing sustainable long-term value for its stakeholders. Over the course of the year, marking the fourth 
year since the implementation of the strategy, Zain conducted various activities to achieve the objectives set in 
its CS agenda. 

Zain’s Sustainability Report is in alignment to the AA1000 Accountability Principles (AA1000AP) 2018; the Global 
Reporting Initiatives (GRI) standards; the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) Standards, where it 
follows the Telecommunications Sustainability Accounting Standard Board (SASB); Task Force on Climate-Related 
Financial Disclosure (TCFD), United Nations Guiding Principles (UNGP) on Business and Human Rights Reporting 
Framework; ESG Reporting Guide published by Boursa Kuwait, GSMA ESG Metrics for Mobile; and the United 
Nations Global Compact (UNGC) principles.

Safeguard the planet

Address societal 
challenges through 
the core business

Enable an inclusive 
digital society

Build the youth of 
the future

Strategic Pillars

Climate Change

Operating Responsibly

Inclusion

Generation Youth

Decarbonize our business & transition 
towards NetZero by 2050

Embed ESG across our value chain

Reduce the digital inequality gap

Build resilience across our communities by 
targeting 16 million children and youth

Zain’s Mission “To provide Meaningful Connectivity leading to equitable systemic 
change and empower Zain’s communities” 

Vision

Link to report: 
https://zain.com/SR2023

All topics and materials mentioned in this section can be found in greater detail in 
Zain’s 2023 Sustainability Report.

Corporate Sustainability

https://zain.com/SR2023


ANNUAL REPORT 2023

6968 Strategic Review | Governance | Financial Statements

Corporate Sustainability

The below are Zain’s Emission Reduction Performance and Targets for 2023, following the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) 
Protocol guidelines for the inventory of its emissions and emissions guidance based on SBTi recommendations: 

1-Climate Change
Throughout the year, the company 

continued to achieve milestones and took 

strides to further its climate action agenda 

to transition to Net-Zero by 2050. Through 

its adaptation and mitigation plans, Zain 

can take the necessary steps to mitigate 

its climate change risks. The company also 

ensures it adheres to the unique challenges 

of each of its operating markets now and 

into the future. Some of the challenges 

include severe weather events such as 

flooding; infrastructure that is not equipped 

to address climate change; and the lack of 

a comprehensive regulatory environment.

Zain’s aim is to deploy energy efficient 

solutions in line with Science Based 

Targets initiative (SBTi) guidance set in 

each operation, and integrate mitigation 

and adaption plans through the following: 

Network and Energy 
Consumption Transition

Waste Management 
& Circular Economy

Strategic Approach
& Communications

2012
• First Sustainability Report 

2016
• Completed first five-year 

target cycle 

2017
• Aligned the CO2 emission 

factors for IEA Standards
• Set new CO2  emissions 

reduction targets for five years  

2018
• Updated Zain's Environmental 

and Social Management Plan 
to include 
IFC-recommendations

2019
• Became a member of the 

GSMA Climate Action Task 
Force

• Disclosed to CDP - private

2020
• Disclosed to CDP - public.
• Established a Climate 

Action Committee (CAC)

2021
• Achieved A- score 

(leadership) through CDP 
• Plan to introduce Internal 

Carbon Pricing (ICP)
• Plan to commit to SBTi
• Published Zain's Climate 

Change Policy

2022
• Developed the Climate 

Change Compliance 
Framework (approved by the 
Board). 

• Formal commitment letter 
approved by SBTi and 
received acceptance letter on 
January 6, 2023.

• Set new CO2 emissions 
Targets for five years

2023
• BoD approved waste 

management policy
• Submission of Science-Based 

Targets to the BoD for approval
• The joint creation of Sustainability 

Innovation Hub under the GCC 
Telco Alliance 

Zain’s Climate Action Journey Throughout the years:
OPCOs Baseline - 2022 Scope 

2 & 1 Emissions
(Metric Tons)

TARGETS

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Kuwait 132,115 -1.4% -1.6% -8.9% -9.6% -16.7%

Saudi Arabia 501,069 -2.6% -5.4% -8.1% -10.9% -21.2%

Sudan 82,509 -10.3% -11.6% -24.8% -29.4% -30.7%

Iraq 239,542 -0.9% -10.0% -9.5% -15.2% -15.4%

Jordan 52,130 -86.7% -86.2% -85.6% -85.0% -84.3%

Bahrain 42,606 -4.6% -7.3% -9.6% -11.9% -24.4%

South Sudan 12,590 -5.4% -22.4% -39.5% -56.1% -70.0%

Total 1,062,561 -6.8% -10.6% -14.0% -17.3% -23.8%

Scope 1, 2 and 3 Emissions (including Sites, Data Centers and Head Quarter Buildings)

Units Bahrain Iraq Jordan Saudi 
Arabia

Kuwait Sudan South 
Sudan

Total

Scope1 - Fuel Liters 1,260,497 35,852,428 273,558 11,752,102 56,979,768 18,983,451 3,049,379 128,151,183

Scope2 -  
Electricity

KWh 57,320,934 183,287,211 120,645,056 174,669,751 576,399,096 39,649,844 5,018,899 1,156,990,790

Scope1 - Fuel CO2e KG 3,378,132 96,084,508 711,230 31,495,633 152,705,778 50,875,649 8,172,336 343,423,266

Scope1 -  
Refrigerants

CO2e KG 743,948 7,608,078 747,436 3,090,116 2,581,917 1,089,081 0 15,860,576

Scope1  
emissions

Kg CO2 4,122,080 103,692,586 1,458,666 34,585,749 155,287,695 51,964,730 8,172,336 359,283,842

Scope2  
emissions

Kg CO2 40,050,137 121,519,421 11,080,248 107,352,029 351,891,648 12,120,957 4,222,902 648,237,341

Total Scope 1 & 2 
emissions (includ-
ing refrigerants)

Kg CO2 44,172,217 225,212,006 12,538,914 141,937,778 507,179,343 64,085,687 12,395,237 1,007,521,182

CO2 emissions 
per base station 

[Scope1 & 
Scope2]

Kg 56,582 41,029 3,550 47,239 48,511 28,144 43,161

Baseline-year 
2023 Decrease/ 

increases in 
emission per base 
station [Year 2022 

vs 2023]

% -3.42% -7.83% -75.43% -1.99% -0.75% 3.31% -11.34%

Note:
• For the conversion from liters of fuel to KWh, we considered that 1 L = 3KWh on the basis that 1 liter produces 10KWH with diesel generator efficiency of 
30% as recommended by the GSMA 
• DG-battery hybrid solutions usually lead to approximately 50% savings on fuel consumption
• Estimate of KWh for solar system is based on the data provided by Zain Jordan as per site monitoring and management solution. 750KWh is produced per site 
on average
• In Sudan, some of our base station sites were shut down due to the civil conflict, leading to a reduction in energy consumption across our network which 
resulted in lower emissions compared to the previous year."

Corporate Sustainability
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Scope 3 Breakdown View Total tCO2e
(KG/YEAR)

Category 1 Purchased goods and service 97,893.46

Category 2 Capital goods 137,572.18

Category 3 Fuel and energy related activities 138,583.95

Category 4 Upstream transport 39,218.09

Category 5 Waste generated in operations 16,931.23

Category 6 Business travel 1,054.08

Category 7 Employee commuting 12,401.40

Category 8 Upstream leased assets 18.66

Category 9 Downstream transport -

Category 10 Processing of sold products -

Category 11 Use of sold products 17,174.75

Category 12 End-of-Life of sold products (intermediate product, if relevant) -

Category 13 Downstream leased assets -

Category 14 Franchises -

Category 15 Investments 29,480.91

Scope 3 Emissions Breakdown 

More initiatives on Climate Change Awareness, Waste Management and Circular Economy can be found on page 90 
of Zain’s 2023 Sustainability Report.

Responsible Supply Chain 

Zain established a holistic approach for supply chain management to address sustainability-related risks and 
ensure suppliers align to Zain’s ESG standards, promote sustainable practices across its value chain, and mitigate 
reputational risks. 

The below table indicates the number of suppliers that have completed Zain’s social and environmental self-
assessment questionnaire: 

Operation Number of Suppliers 
Target 

Number of Suppliers 
Completion Percentage achieved 

Bahrain 

25% of Active Suppliers 
in 2023

41 19%

Iraq 42 35%

Jordan 84 34%

Kuwait 121 25%

Saudi Arabia 90 24%

Sudan* 21 5%

South Sudan 42 31%

Total/Average 441 23%

*Sudan’s figure reflect the efforts pre-conflict (January 31 – April 14, 2023). 

Year-on-Year Total Suppliers 

2-Operating Responsibly

In 2023, Zain further developed its physical audit process by creating an additional level of verification by 
establishing an observation form. This form ensures Zain reports on risks identified as a result of physical audits. 

*Sudan’s figure reflect the efforts pre-conflict (January 31 – April 14, 2023). 

Operation Target of Number of Suppliers Completed

Bahrain 8 No

Iraq 10 Yes

Jordan 8 Yes

Kuwait 5 No

Saudi Arabia 8 Yes

Sudan* NA No

South Sudan 12 Yes

Corporate Sustainability
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3-Inclusion
Zain’s inclusion pillar is focused on closing the digital divide with a focus on vulnerable segments. By addressing 
the digital gap across its communities, the company continues to contribute to having a positive societal impact and 
increasing access to digital resources that are integral to the advancement of economic, educational, and healthcare. 

In its strategy, Zain focuses on targeting the following segments: 

•   Elderly Community 
•   People with Disabilities 
•   Women in Technology 

Other marginalized segments that include low-income communities such as refugees, and rural communities, are 
assessed and embedded within the company’s overall commercial and business strategies. 

Elderly Community:

Target 260,000 elderly people across Zain’s footprint by 2025 through products and services, 
marketing campaigns, and benefit features

In 2023, Zain worked on gaining a better understanding of the needs and challenges of the elderly across its markets 
as it is considered an untapped segment for Zain. Identifying this segment presents a challenge because mobile 
lines are typically created by relatives and not the users themselves. The company is addressing these challenges 
by targeting organizations related to senior citizens and elderly homes. Below are some of the activities that were 
initiated this year, with remaining operations planning to conduct further activities to address this segment in 2024. 

People with Disabilities (PWD): 

Target
Launch core data bundles and packages in 2023
• Achievement: Five out of seven opcos implemented data bundles tailored to 
PWDs.

Target in 2023  To mentor 120 women university students studying STEM in each market.

Women in Tech:

Operation Context 2022 
Target

2022 
Achievement

2023 
Target

2023 
Achievement

Bahrain Zain Bahrain is exploring options to collaborate with 
stakeholders who can help support in mentorship 
opportunities and reaching STEM students.

100 - 120 -

Iraq 800+ applicants received; the program delivered a 
total of six sessions for each student from 26 different 
universities. In 2023, Zain experienced a 60% growth 
in the number of applicants in comparison to 2022 
and increased the number of mentees to 136 women 
and mentors from 14 Zain employees to 22. 

100 115 120 136

Jordan Zain Jordan’s Women in Tech stream was established, 
and collaborative efforts were made between various 
stakeholders to reach 122 students where 4-5 
sessions were conducted. The company leveraged 
its Zain Innovation Center (ZINC) to reach out to 
universities to help raise awareness of the program.

100 100 120 122

Kuwait Zain Kuwait is exploring options to collaborate with 
INJAZ to support in mentorship opportunities and 
reaching STEM female students.

100 - 120 -

Saudi 
Arabia 

4,900 applications received. The program was started 
in collaboration with the Ministry of Communications 
and Information Technology (MCIT) and 
Communications, Space & Technology Commission 
(CST). 

100 100 120 150

Sudan* The team needed to halt the program due to the 
conflict in the country.

100 69 120 -

South 
Sudan

Zain South Sudan is exploring options to identify 
entities to collaborate with to support in mentorship 
opportunities and to reach STEM female students.

100 - 120 -

Corporate Sustainability

Zain Bahrain Yes – Plans to revamp the service to reach more people and better address their 
needs in 2024.

Zain Iraq
No – Due to the lack of available countrywide statistics on PwDs, Zain Iraq did not 
launch a specific bundle for this group. However, the company provided special 
offerings that include priority cards in branches. 

Zain Jordan
Yes – Zain Jordan’s Basma Line bundle was revamped this year based on a focus 
group conducted with PwDs in 2022.  

Zain Kuwait 

Yes – Zain Kuwait launched its data bundle based on a requirement imposed by 
the Telecommunication Regulatory Authority. On PwD Day, Zain Kuwait visited 
the center for PwDs to raise awareness on the bundle and conduct engagement 
activities with the segment. 

Zain Saudi Arabia

Yes – Launched the core bundle titled Lifetime, which provides a 50% discount for 
PwDs. On Purple Saturday, Zain Saudi Arabia launched a social media campaign 
in partnership with the Association for PwDs reaching 18.5K people, and service 
subscriptions reached a growth of 247% for the year.  

Zain South Sudan

Yes - Zain South Sudan launched a specific people with disability bundle in 
September 2023 that included free 50 minutes, 50 SMS, and 250 MB. 60 people 
with disabilities have benefitted from the bundle.

Operation Progression on Data Bundle for PwDs 
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2020 2021 2022 2023

Number of Users 1,000 Girls 100 Girls 250 Girls 585 Girls

Digital Literacy:  

• ICT Lab (Zain Sudan) 
Zain provided 60 computers to the computer laboratory at the University of Sudan. This initiative, tailored to benefit 
the Faculty of Computer and Information Technology, reflects Zain’s dedication to fostering digital literacy and 
academic upskilling within Sudan. The program was paused due to the conflict in the country, however Zain will 
continue to monitor the impacts of the war on infrastructure and devices donated to the lab.  

• Baims (Zain Kuwait)
Zain Kuwait partnered with the national e-learning platform Baims, to spearhead the digitalization of the education 
sector, tailored for high school and university students across five countries in MENA (Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, 
Jordan, and Turkey). Over the past year, the platform recorded 30 million views, and the outreach extends to over 
150,000 active monthly users. 

• B-12 (Zain Jordan) 
In collaboration with UNICEF and its B12 initiative, Zain Jordan continued to provide comprehensive online 
education to 20,000 students, ensuring a secure internet service for effective learning. This initiative also fostered 
collaborations with private schools and universities, extending educational outreach to an additional 3,000 students.  

• Girls for Tech (Zain Bahrain)
For the fourth consecutive year, Zain Bahrain partnered with the Supreme Council for Women to offer the Girls for 
Tech program, powered by Clever Play, an organization that embeds STEM learning in children’s education. The 
program provides girls aged 8-14 with skills in coding, website creation, and basic robotics. 

Youth Unemployment: 

Evolve Program (Zain Saudi Arabia)
Continuing its success from last year, Zain Saudi Arabia continued its Evolve program, which targets fresh graduates 
to develop their skills to prepare them for the market’s demands. With a target of training 100 youth, Zain Saudi 
Arabia received 36,479 applicants where 154 people have been accepted and are part of the year-long on-the-job 
training program.   

Ra’idat (Zain Iraq)
The Ra’idat Program, a local competition initiated by the French Embassy in Iraq and executed in collaboration with 
Zain Iraq and the Station, the first co-working space for entrepreneurs in Baghdad, aims to support and empower 
female Iraqis in their entrepreneurial pursuits. In 2023, the program achieved significant participation with over 150 
females engaging in the competition. 

3-Inclusion
4-Generation Youth
Under the Generation Youth pillar the company set targets that are geared towards creating, building, and 
supporting ecosystems that foster the well-being of young people to ensure sustainable, inclusive growth and social 
cohesion in our region. Zain continued to focus on the following areas:  

Child Online Safety Digital Literacy Youth 
Unemployment

Child Online Safety:

Zain worked towards implementing 
its three-year MoU with Child Helpline 

International (CHI) to facilitate child helplines 
across its footprint. The partnership aims to 

mobilize, facilitate, and support child helplines 
in Zain’s markets of operation. Through the 

MoU, Zain can access new ways of developing 
engagements between child helplines and key 

child protection stakeholders, including government 
agencies and regulators, as well as ways to evolve 

child helpline platform software and technologies, and 
expand services to include instant messaging and social 

media channels. Through its first year, Zain and CHI 
successfully collaborated to enhance the effectiveness of 

helplines across Zain's operational markets.

Corporate Sustainability
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In an era defined by rapid technological advancements, 
shifting stakeholder expectations, and a heightened 
emphasis on sustainability, the realm of corporate 
governance has undergone transformative changes. 
The year 2023 marks a pivotal moment in the way 
organizations across the globe approach governance, 
with a renewed focus on accountability, transparency, 
and ethical practices. This Corporate Governance 
Report delves into the most important concepts 
shaping the contemporary business landscape, 
offering a closer look into how Zain is adapting to these 
challenges while striving for long-term value creation.

Zain Group has diligently established a robust corporate 
governance framework underpinned by proficient 
Board leadership. The organization remains steadfast 
in its pursuit of sustainable growth, thereby optimizing 
value for all stakeholders. Acknowledging the pivotal 
role of a corporate governance model in shaping 
decisions and fostering continuing value, the Board of 
Directors places significant importance on this facet. 
This commitment extends to investors, customers, 
shareholders, regulatory bodies, suppliers, and the 
communities in which we operate.

The Board looks to uphold the highest standards of 
corporate governance. This resolution is demonstrated 
through periodic analysis of regulatory developments 
and global benchmarks. Moreover, the Board 
systematically assesses the Company's governance 
mechanisms and procedures to ensure their alignment 
with applicable laws, regulations, and international 
standards. The preservation of a supportive corporate 
culture and work environment forms a fundamental 
part of this endeavor.

We have continuously taken progressive strides 
in enhancing our governance framework. This has 
involved the introduction of policies capturing work 
ethics and governance principles, allowing heightened 
efficiency and ethical integrity to Zain Group's 
undertakings.

This report provides a closer look at the eleven 
principles on which the governance laws in Kuwait 
are based, which include forming the Board; defining 
responsibilities and roles within the company; and 
evaluating and developing the Board’s performance. 
Furthermore, the document comprehensively includes 
details pertaining to both the Board and the executive 
team's proficiencies. It expands on the remuneration 
of the Board and executive management, emphasizing 
transparency. Moreover, the report highlights the 
integrity of the financial statements, the robustness of 
risk systems, and the efficiency of internal controls.

Corporate Governance Report 2022

The report’s scope covers a brief overview of the 
company's rigorous endeavors towards integrated 
disclosure. This strategic pursuit is aimed at realizing 
transparency, averting potential conflicts of interest, 
and safeguarding the rights of shareholders and 
stakeholders.

The report also offers a segment on the company's 
sustainability policy and the subsequent strategic 
initiatives, signifying the organization's commitment to 
fostering long-term sustainability.

The traditional shareholder-centric approach to 
governance has evolved into one that prioritizes the 
interests of a broader range of stakeholders, including 
employees, customers, suppliers, communities, 
regulators, and the environment. Organizations are 
recognizing the connection between these stakeholders 
and their impact on sustainable business practices and 
overall success.

Environmental, social, and governance (ESG) factors 
have moved beyond being a mere checkbox and have 
become integral components of corporate strategy. 
The integration of ESG considerations into decision-
making processes is now a fundamental aspect of 
demonstrating responsible and progressive governance.

Boards are increasingly expected to reflect the diversity 
of the communities and markets they serve. Diversity in 
terms of gender, ethnicity, age, and expertise not only 
enhances Board effectiveness but also contributes to a 
broader perspective on risk management and strategic 
planning.

As artificial intelligence (AI) and technology continue 
to drive innovation, companies are grappling with the 
ethical implications of their use. Establishing guidelines 
for the responsible development and deployment of AI, 
as well as ensuring data privacy and cybersecurity, has 
become a critical aspect of corporate governance.

Shareholders are leveraging their influence to hold 
companies accountable for their actions. Robust 
shareholder engagement, encompassing transparent 
communication and collaboration, is vital in maintaining 
a balanced and productive relationship between Boards 
and shareholders.

Our Board is redefining success beyond quarterly 
profits, focusing on long-term strategies that 
encompass financial performance, societal impact, and 
environmental sustainability. Zain received the formal 
approval of its commitment letter to the Science-Based 
Target Initiative (SBTi) to halve carbon emissions 
before 2030 and achieve Net-Zero carbon emissions by 

2050. Zain also maintained its A- score in the 'Carbon 
Disclosure Project (CDP) Score Report – Climate 
Change 2023', a grade first achieved in 2021. 
In Saudi Arabia, the company launched the world’s 
first zero-carbon 5G network in the Red Sea powered 
by 100% renewable energy from over 760,000 
solar panels covering 28,000km2. The company 
also conducted its first ever Responsible Supply 
Chain Management Forum, inviting representatives 
from its operations to ensure alignment embedding 
sustainability across its value chain process, with nearly 
50 people in attendance. In addition, the company 
launched a training for its suppliers on human rights, 
ensuring that it embedded compliance mechanisms 
as well to verify supplier completion. For the first time, 
Zain submitted its communication of progress report 
under its membership with the United Nations Global 
Compact showcasing the company’s commitment to 
upholding human rights across its value chain. 

With respect to children’s rights, Zain continued to 
progress its memorandum of understanding (MoU) with 
Child Helpline International by launching awareness 
campaigns in Jordan; engaging with the Ministry of 
Social Development in Bahrain to understand the 
current gaps in the helpline; and establishing a formal 
partnership with the National Family and Safety 
program targeting schools and rural communities in 
Saudi Arabia. 

In an unpredictable world, effective risk management 
and resilience planning are vital. Zain aims to 
identify and address potential risks, from supply 
chain disruptions to geopolitical uncertainties, while 
maintaining the ability to adapt swiftly. Zain operates 
within a regulatory framework governed by a set of 
laws and regulations, meticulously designed to uphold 
the highest standards of governance and ethical 
conduct in its business operations. The Board assumes 
the pivotal responsibility of ensuring conformity to 
all pertinent laws and internationally recognized 
benchmarks. Concurrently, executive management 
plays a critical role in guaranteeing adherence to legal 
and regulatory mandates by effectively implementing 
policies and strategies.

The corporate environment at Zain thrives on 
the empowerment of decision-makers, through a 
commitment to diversity, inclusivity, integrity, and 
transparency. Central to this principle is the adherence 
to Zain's code of conduct.

In accordance with the executive bylaw circulated 
by the Capital Markets Authority (CMA) in Kuwait, 
containing nineteen comprehensive modules, Zain is 
guided by an array of corporate governance regulations. 

These regulatory measures, outlined by the CMA, serve 
as means for the progressive enhancement of entities. 
By establishing a cohesive governance framework, 
the CMA's stipulations create a unified standard for 
companies operating under its remit.

Transparency remains a cornerstone of effective 
governance. Clear and comprehensive disclosure 
of relevant information, including ESG performance 
and risk exposure, builds trust with stakeholders and 
facilitates informed decision-making.

As we delve into this report, we uncover how Zain 
navigated these critical governance concepts in 2023. 
Zain has been incorporating ESG principles into its 
core strategies, and embracing a holistic approach to 
governance that not only enhances our competitive 
edge but also contributes to the greater societal 
good. This report offers insights into the strategies, 
challenges, and successes of Zain at the forefront of 
these governance shifts, shedding light on the path 
forward in this dynamic and ever-evolving corporate 
governance landscape.

In 2023, Zain was presented with the “Best Corporate 
Governance Award” in Kuwait for the third year in a 
row by World Finance, a print and online magazine 
providing comprehensive coverage and analysis of the 
financial industry, international business, and the global 
economy. The jury bestowed this award in recognition 
of the integrity and transparency of Zain’s practices. 
Zain has adopted a robust Investor Relations and 
Corporate Governance Framework that enhances the 
overall governance environment within the company 
in line with applicable laws, regulations, and leading 
practices. Wherever possible, Zain looks to exceed the 
requirements of corporate governance regulations.

The information contained in this report is based on the 
laws on corporate governance and their amendments 
issued by the CMA, the Ministry of Commerce and 
Industry, Boursa Kuwait and other relevant regulatory 
authorities in the State of Kuwait, and the laws and 
regulations of the jurisdictions in which the company 
operates. Zain decided to focus on efforts to promote 
innovation, open the way to face future challenges, 
and enhance competitiveness by implementing an 
innovative way of working within rapid transformations. 
Zain's operations are based on principles according to 
the applicable laws. 

The company executes its policies to protect the 
rights of stakeholders and to enhance the added 
value of all parties. This includes the economic, social, 
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The Company's Framework

Applicable local laws and regulations
•  Law no. 1/2016  [Companies Law]
•  Capital Markets Authority: Law no. 7/2010
•  Communications & Information Technology Regulatory Authority: Law no. 37/2014
•  Boursa Kuwait – Rulebook
•  Competition Protection Agency: Law no. 10/2007
•  Kuwait Anti-Corruption Authority Law no. 2/2016
•  Capital Markets Authority: Resolution no. 72/2015

and developmental contribution through the activities of companies in the communities in which it operates. In 
addition, the Group pursues growth through innovative management, as it works to create new and unique value 
through partnerships and various projects. The company’s internal policies are also based on values, principles, 
and practices of global corporate governance. 

The Board and executive management believe in building positive relationships among all stakeholders by 
strengthening corporate governance. One of the essential methods used by Zain in emphasizing the quality of 
reports in this regard is the auditing ESG reports by independent external auditors approved by the regulatory 
authorities. These reports and publications contain detailed information about ESG strategy, development, 
performance, and impact.

This corporate governance report has been prepared per the laws and regulations issued by the relevant 
governmental and regulatory agencies in Kuwait. A copy is also available on the company's website, 
www.zain.com 

The Board of Directors approved the Corporate Governance Report for the year 2023.

Rule I: Construct a Balanced Board Composition 

Establishing an appropriate framework for decision-making is among the pillars of sound corporate governance. It 
depends on assigning responsibility and providing transparent reports that ensure understanding and monitoring of 
the company's development.

Below is an illustration of the company's framework.
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About the Board of Directors

The following list includes a brief about the members of the Board, including information on the date of 
appointment, the educational and professional background of each member, in addition to the nature of the 
position.
Composition of the Board of Directors:

Name Classification Education Professional Experience
Date of Election/

Appointment 

Osamah Othman Al Furaih 
Chairman Non-executive Bachelor’s degree in Business 

Administration

23 years of experience in the investment, 
industrial, banking, aviation, tourism and hotel, and 
transportation sectors

11 Apr 2023

Bader Nasser Al-Kharafi
Vice Chairman & Group CEO Executive

Master of Business 
Administration (LBS) 
& Bachelor’s degree in 
Mechanical Engineering 
(Kuwait University)

Industrial and banking sectors,
Investment and business sectors,
Non-profit institutions, Telecommunications, and 
mechanical engineering sector

19 Mar 2020

Abdulrahman Mohammad 
Ibrahim Al Asfour
Independent Independent

Bachelor’s Degree in Business 
Administration – Accounting 
Major 
(Kuwait University)

Technical expertise in the application of IT solutions, 
audit, and finance 19 Mar 2020

Talal Said Al Mamari
Representing Fajr Al Naseem 
Co.

Non-executive
Bachelor’s Degree in Business 
Administration (Duquesne 
University in Pittsburgh)

Finance experience in the telecommunications sector 19 Mar 2020

Zaki Hilal Saud Al Busaidi
Representing Jawharat Al 
Jibla Co. Non-executive

Master’s degree in Public 
Administration from Exeter 
University

21 years in the civil service sectors, port services, 
investment, and insurance
And communications 19 Mar 2020

Atif Said Rashid Al Siyabi
Representing Abeer Al 
Shuruq Co. Non-executive

Bachelor of Engineering in 
Computer Hardware and 
Networking Technology from 
Coventry University

18 years in information technology, business 
development, innovative technological solutions and 
information systems, investment and communications

19 Mar 2020

Aladdin Baitfadhil
Representing Danat Al 
Qiblah Co Non-executive

Bachelor's degree in Electrical 
and Electronics Engineering 
from Sultan Qaboos 
University.

19 years in the information and communication 
technology sector 12 Oct 2020

Nasser bin Suleiman Al-Harthy
Representing Naseem AL 
Dilta Co. Non-executive

Master's degree in business 
administration (MBA) from 
the University of Victoria, 
Australia

22 years in the investment, economic, financial, 
information management, legal and compliance 
sectors

12 Oct 2020

Yousef Khaled Al-Abdulrazzaq Non-executive
Bachelor’s Degree in Business 
Administration – Finance 
Major (Kuwait University)

Audit and investment expertise within the general 
reserve sector
and investment funds

19 Mar 2020

Hatmal Farouq Al-Qadi Secretary Master of Laws (L.L.M)
Coventry University

Legal Consultancy
Telecommunications sector 12 May 2015

Board of Directors’ Meetings in 2023:

The Board meets at least six times during the year. The Chairman of the Board – or his Deputy in his absence 
– sends the invite for the meeting, through multiple communication means, including modern means of 
communication. The Chairman must call for an emergency meeting if a written request has been submitted to him 
from at least two members. The Board meeting shall not be valid unless attended by at least half of the members. 
The meeting may be held using the modern means of communication specified by the Board. Decisions may be 
taken by circulation, provided that this is done with the approval of all members of the Board. It is not permissible to 
attend Board meetings by proxy.

* The schedule includes all Board meetings held during 2023.
Meetings No. 2 No. 4, No 5 and No. 6 were conducted through modern means of communication.

Meeting 
No. 1

23/2/2023

Meeting 
No.2 

13/3/2023

Meeting 
No.3 

20/4/2023

Meeting 
No.4

9/5/2023

Meeting 
No.5

17/7/2023

Meeting 
No.6

6/8/2023

Meeting 
No.7 

13/11/2023

Meeting 
No.8

6/12/2023

Total 
Meetings 
Attended

Osamah Othman  
Al Furaih  
Chairman

        8

Bader Nasser  
Al-Kharafi  
Vice-Chairman & 
Group CEO

        8

Abdulrahman  
Mohammad Ibrahim  
Al Asfour 
Independent

        8

Talal Said Al Mamari         8

Zaki Hilal Saud  
Al Busaidi         8

Atif Said Rashid  
Al Siyabi         8

Aladdin Baitfadhil     -  -  6

Nasser bin Suleiman 
Al-Harthy         8

Yousef Khaled  
Al-Abdulrazzaq         8

Hatmal Farouq Al-Qadi         8

Attendance Percentage 100% 100% 100% 100% 90% 100% 90% 100%
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Management of Board Meetings

The role of the Board Secretary includes guaranteeing that all members of the Board are equipped with the 
necessary tools to execute their responsibilities effectively. This includes the organization of Board and committee 
meetings and the thorough maintenance of minutes that accurately capture the diligent discharge of the 
Board's duties. Furthermore, the Secretary assumes the role of a medium between the Board and the executive 
management, overseeing the timely provision of essential information to Board members. Additionally, the 
Secretary collaborates with Board members to facilitate meeting process, including the timely issuance of notices 
and prompt distribution of materials such as agendas and minutes.

The Secretary provides assistance to the Board Chairman in creating meeting agendas, submitting necessary 
documentation, overseeing and tracking meeting outcomes, and aligning with the approved operational schedules.

Upon the Board's validation of meeting minutes, they attain official status as a corporate record, serving as 
documented evidence of the Board members' accomplishments and any challenges encountered. Within these 
sessions, the Board endorses key policies and establishes a timeline for objectives and business strategies.

The Board Secretary documents the minutes of every meeting, upholds records of committee sessions, supervises 
processes associated with Board membership, organizes official archives and Board-related documents, and 
disseminates notifications for planned meetings as stipulated in the company's policies. The role of the Board 
Secretary is essential in accommodating the Board's expanding duties. It involves duties such as overseeing 
compliance-related activities, administering Board operations, circulating materials for deliberation and proposals 
presented to the Board and its committees by management (no less than three days prior to meetings), and 
guaranteeing that interactions between the Board and executive management adhere to legal, regulatory, and 
internal policy requisites.

The Board Secretary sends invitations to relevant stakeholders for attendance at Board meetings and its 
committees. Additionally, the Secretary undertakes the responsibility of generating, accurately maintaining, and 
regularly updating essential records. These reports are accurately prepared to align with legal mandates and 
obligations as set by relevant regulatory bodies. In this capacity, the Board Secretary also offers guidance on the 
duties and obligations of the Board, per the applicable laws, regulations, company policies, and charters, which 
include the code of ethical conduct.

The scope of the Secretary's duties incorporates documenting both the discussions and decisions made by Board 
members, along with recording the outcomes of voting procedures conducted during these meetings. Operating 
under the oversight of the Chairman, the Secretary assures the execution of Board-approved decisions in alignment 
with the company's policies. Accessibility to these documents and records is extended to every Board member.

The Secretary remains aware of the external landscape, ensuring a thorough understanding of prevailing 
corporate governance trends, emerging concerns, and industry-leading practices, with a particular focus on the 
telecommunications sector, as guided by the Chief Communications Officer. Moreover, the Secretary informs the 
Board of developments relating to corporate sustainability, as directed by the Chief Sustainability Officer. This 
engagement contributes to effectively accent the company's strategic sustainability objectives.

Furthermore, the Board Secretary actively assists newly appointed Board members by extending support through 
an induction program. This program contains comprehensive information about the company, its operations, and 
activities. It also provides insights into the roles of the Board, its committees, and the executive management, 
detailing the responsibilities associated with these positions. The program further includes an overview of the 
Group's operations, performance results, interactions with the executive management team, and the budgetary 
planning for the entire year.

The independent member acknowledges that the independence controls are met, and a copy of the declaration 
is included to the report in Arabic.

Rule II: Establish Appropriate Roles and Responsibilities

The roles and responsibilities of the Board of Directors and executive management
The Board of Directors consists of nine members, including one independent member and one executive member.  
The Board of Directors serves as a crucial oversight body, responsible for ensuring the company's long-term 
sustainability, ethical behavior, and effective decision-making. The Board is responsible for overseeing the 
management of the company and ensuring that the company operates in the best interests of its shareholders, 
stakeholders, and in compliance with relevant laws and regulations. This means making decisions that benefit the 
company as a whole and protecting shareholders' investments. The Board ensures that the company complies with 
applicable laws, regulations, and industry standards. It establishes compliance policies and monitors the company's 
adherence to them.

The Board plays a key role in setting the company's strategic direction. It approves the company's mission, vision, 
and long-term goals. It also reviews and approves major strategic initiatives and business plans. The Board is 
responsible for identifying, assessing, and managing risks that could impact the company's financial performance 
or reputation. This involves reviewing risk management policies and procedures and ensuring that appropriate 
risk mitigation strategies are in place. It oversees the company's executive management team and evaluates the 
performance of executives, appoints, and dismisses top management, and approves executive compensation plans.

The Board reviews and approves the company's financial statements, ensuring their accuracy and compliance with 
accounting standards. It also monitors the company's financial performance, and liquidity.

The Board established the code of conduct and ethics for the company and its employees. It ensures that the 
company operates ethically and maintains its reputation in the marketplace. The Board exercises diligent oversight 
on ethical issues safeguarding a culture of integrity. The Board of Directors has a functional role in overseeing 
business ethics and compliance, ensuring that emerging issues are promptly addressed and resolved.

The Board is responsible for its own composition and effectiveness. It identifies and recruits qualified directors, 
plans for director succession, and promotes diversity and inclusion on the Board. The Board members have diverse 
expertise and skills across various industries. They create strategies and goals that maximize both short-term and 
long-term value for the company. 

The Board maintains open communication of the company's plans, ensuring that investors understand long-term 
prospects and forthcoming possibilities, all while recognizing and addressing existing and potential risks.

Zain’s Articles of Association (AOA) determine the requirements and the basis on which the members of the 
Board are elected. The General Assembly elects Board members by secret ballot. The membership term of Board 
members is three years, subject to renewal, provided the independent members make up 20% or more of the 
Board’s composition. The AOA include more details, such as the conditions for the independence of members and 
the loss of membership, the Board’s responsibilities, additional requirements for the selection of the Chairman, and 
instructions regarding Board meetings and attendance. All items in the AOA are based on relevant laws, regulations 
and guidelines, and the document is available on Zain’s official website.

The Board elects a Chairman and a Vice-Chairman by secret ballot, and also appoints the CEO from among the 
members of the Board or others.

The Chairman of the Board represents the company in its relations with third-parties and before the judiciary, in 
addition to other terms of reference indicated in the AOA and Board meeting minutes. The Vice-Chairman shall take 
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the Chairman's place in his absence, or if he is prevented from exercising his powers, or whenever necessary.

The Board may distribute the work among its members according to the nature of the company’s business. The 
Board may also delegate one of its members, a committee from among its members, or a third-party to carry out 
a specific job or more, or supervise one aspect of the company’s operations, or exercise some of the powers or 
competencies entrusted to the Board.

This authority is not restricted except by what is stipulated in the law, the AOA, or the resolutions of the General 
Assembly. The Board is dedicated to fulfilling its responsibilities in alignment with approved internal policies. These 
policies encompass various aspects of Board operations, including meeting protocols, roles, and obligations, all in 
accordance with applicable laws and regulations. Moreover, the Board supervises the main capital expenditures 
of the company and develops a corporate governance framework, code of conduct, and policies related to ESG 
affairs. The Board creates a system to monitor the performance of each Board member and the performance of its 
committees and executive management according to key performance indicators, including ESG criteria. 

Every year the Board prepares an annual report to be read by the Chairman at the Annual General Assembly. The 
Corporate Governance report includes details about the procedures and measures undertaken by the company 
to complete the corporate governance requirements and the extent of compliance and determines the powers 
delegated to executive management. 

Moreover, to enhance efficiency, effectiveness, transparency, and accountability, the Board sets the company’s 
values and standards, ensuring that they align with its strategic objectives and corporate culture. It also ensures 
that the company’s obligations are understood by its shareholders and other stakeholders, including employees, 
suppliers, customers, law authorities, and the environment in which the company operates. The Board is also 
concerned with evaluating the appropriateness of the internal control and audit systems.
 
The Board ensures that executive management has adequate risk management systems and procedures, and 
implements sufficient and effective internal controls.

The Board continuously reviews the implementation of good corporate governance. The company has established 
a governance structure that enables the Board to focus on key areas of responsibility that affect the long-term 
success of the business. This structure involves forming three board committees: the Audit Committee, the Risk 
Committee, and the Nominations and Remunerations Committee. These committees are formed according to the 
laws. 

The Board supervises compliance with the laws, company objectives, AOA, and decisions of the General Assembly 
while adhering to the principles of governance, best practices, and work ethics. This includes allocating sufficient 
time to adopt the company’s vision, mission, directions, and strategies. In addition, Board members attend meetings 
and review and approve the main strategies and policies, as well as the company's financial objectives and 
operational plans.

As the Board plays a supervisory role, the responsibility for implementing the approved strategy rests with the CEO 
and executive management, leading to delegating the required work to the right employees within the company. 
Board members develop a clear strategy and business model and work closely with executive management within a 
set timeframe to drive continuous business growth in a changing world. This is pivotal to the company’s success.

The control environment is the set of standards, processes, and structures that provide the basis for implementing 
internal control across the company. The role of the Board of Directors is considered crucial in ensuring the 
establishment of a control environment to guarantee the effectiveness of the anti-corruption policy. The anti-
money laundering policy at Zain guarantees the creation of a proper framework under the relevant laws and 
regulations to combat corruption. The Board is also responsible for supervising a system that effectively supports 
the anti-corruption policy and oversees the executive management to safeguard the implementation of the policy. 
In addition, the board ensures raising employee awareness within the corporate culture, emphasizing this policy's 
importance.

The Board's responsibilities include handling and resolving potential conflicts of interest and transactions involving 
related parties. It achieves this by carefully evaluating such transactions to guarantee optimal advantages for 
both shareholders and stakeholders. Furthermore, the Board establishes effective lines of communication with 
shareholders and supervises the accurate, consistent, transparent, and credible disclosure of material information, 
maintaining the highest standards of disclosure quality.

Both the Board and executive management acknowledge their obligation to society and the environment, 
highlighting the significance of sustainability. Accordingly, they emphasize enhancing the well-being of individuals 
within the communities where the company conducts its operations.

Board Achievements in 2023
•  Approving a new dividend distribution policy of 35 fils per share as a minimum for a period of three years starting 

from the distributions of the year 2023.
•  Reviewing and approving a set of policies during the year 2023, aiming to include strong regulatory oversight 

frameworks in line with applicable laws and regulations and to implement best practices and international 
standards.

•  Launching the "WE ALIGN" program, which establishes a new phase of mutual cooperation between Zain and 
Omantel, to achieve goals that serve the strategic visions of the next phase.

•  Launching Zain-Omantel International Company (ZOI), expected to revolutionize wholesale business operations 
in the telecommunications sector.

•  Zain Saudi Arabia completed a sale and leaseback deal for 8,069 towers for SAR 3.03 billion (USD 807 million) to 
an association led by the Public Investment Fund of the Kingdom.

•  Signing a specific term agreement (15 years) for the sale and leaseback of Zain Iraq's tower infrastructure with 
TASC Tower company for USD 180 million.

•  Finalizing agreements with Ooredoo Group and TASC Towers to establish the largest tower company in the 
Middle East and North Africa region, owned by cash and share stakes among the three parties. The expanded 
tower company will comprise approximately 30,000 communication towers, with a current estimated project 
value of around USD 2.2 billion.

•  ZainTech acquired Adfolks, a company specialized in cloud services and digital infrastructure project 
development.

•  ZainTech signed an agreement to acquire Computer Technical Services (STS), a leading company in providing 
digital transformation solutions and IT services in the Middle East and North Africa markets.

•  The financial technology arms of the group (Tamam and Zain Cash) grew beyond expectations during this period.
•  Brand Finance classified Zain as the strongest brand in Kuwait with a rating of AA++, and in the latest ranking  

by the global rating agency, the brand value of Zain on the Brand Finance index increased by 14% to reach  
USD 2.7 billion.

Board Committees
The Board has effectively allocated specific responsibilities to its committees, aiming to enhance efficiency and 
optimize the time of its members. These committees are tasked with providing recommendations to the Board, 
which retains overall accountability for decision-making.

The utilization of committees enables members to develop a deeper understanding of the company, encouraging 
active engagement and leveraging their expertise to emphasize the Board's commitment to addressing diverse 
concerns. Board committees offer several benefits, primarily by fostering a decentralized approach that encourages 
specialized knowledge. This structure proves particularly valuable in fulfilling the Board's oversight obligations, 
as certain matters necessitate specialized insights. Thus, it reorganizes the distribution of tasks among members, 
bolstering stakeholders' confidence in the Board's ability to diligently execute its supervisory role. Furthermore, this 
approach contributes to maintaining the Board's independence from executive management.
As Board committees have allocated time to delve into specific tasks, the Board places significant reliance on their 
execution of duties, emphasizing accuracy and timeliness in fulfilling their obligations. In instances where the Board 
seeks comprehensive insights, committees are expected to provide information, to contribute to the resolution of 
particular matters.

Committee decisions are then presented to the Board for approval, alongside the action plans for their 
implementation. Furthermore, the committees play a vital role in overseeing the execution of these decisions by the 
respective departments.
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Within Zain's governance framework, three distinctive committees have been established: the Risk Committee, 
the Audit Committee, and the Nominations and Remunerations Committee. The following sections provide a 
comprehensive overview of these committees, highlighting their roles, accomplishments, and contributions.

Board Risk Committee (BRC)
Formed: 12 May, 2015
Term: The membership period is the same as the term of the Board of Directors and not more than three years, 
renewable.
Responsibilities:
The purpose of the Risk Committee (BRC) is to assist the Board with fulfilling its responsibilities related to 
identifying, assessing, and mitigating risks. These risks include operational risks, strategic risks, and external 
environment risks. Therefore, the committee is generally responsible for reviewing, monitoring, and approving the 
risk policies, frameworks, processes, and practices associated with the company. 
The BRC is also responsible for reviewing and approving risk disclosure data in public documents and oversees 
business ethics and compliance issues. In addition, it must ensure that the company takes appropriate measures to 
achieve a balance between risk and return in both ongoing and new businesses.
The BRC assesses significant risk exposures and evaluates management actions to mitigate the exposures on 
time, including one-off actions by the company and continuing activities such as business continuity planning and 
disaster recovery planning. The BRC's responsibilities include coordinating with the audit committee as needed. The 
BRC submits regular reports to the Board.
The BRC reviews and reassesses the adequacy of internal procedures in this regard within the scope of its 
responsibility and recommends any proposed changes to the Board for approval. The BRC has access to any 
internal information necessary to perform its role. The BRC ensures that executive management’s risk management 
policies and procedures align with the company’s strategy and risk appetite. It also promotes a company-wide 
culture that supports appropriate awareness of risks, behaviors and provisions related to risks and ensures 
that problems are addressed on time. The BRC's supervisory functional role includes evaluating executive 
management's performance.

Achievements of BRC in 2023
•	 Reviewed and discussed the risk management quarterly report for the Group and its subsidiaries and defined a 

work methodology to ensure the reduction of the impact of risks. The committee also reviewed the management 
activities every quarter.

•	 Assessed all kinds of risks in subsidiaries and worked to reduce their impacts.
•	 Monitored cybersecurity protection procedures and the extent of progress and development in protection systems 

to ensure mitigating the risk of attacks and to ensure maximum levels of protection.
•	 Reviewed related party transactions, discussed their impact and made recommendations to the Board 
•	 Opened and sponsored the annual risk conference to discuss aspects of cooperation between subsidiaries. 
•	 Reviewed the Privacy and Data Security Policy, addressing all concerns and issues related to privacy and data 

security brought forth by the Risk department.

Committee Members:
Zaki Hilal Saud Al Busaidi (Committee Chairman)
Bader Nasser Al-Kharafi
Talal Said Al Mamari
Yousef Khaled Al-Abdulrazzaq
Atif Said Rashid Al Siyabi 
Number of committee meetings in 2023: 4

Member
Meeting 

No. 1/2023
23/2/2023 

Meeting 
No. 2/2023
9/5/2023 

Meeting 
No. 3/2023
17/7/2023 

Meeting 
No. 4/2023
13/11/2023 

Zaki Hilal Saud Al Busaidi 
(Committee Chairman)    

Bader Nasser Al-Kharafi    
Talal Said Al Mamari    
Yousef Khaled Al-Abdulrazzaq    
Atif Said Rashid AlSiyabi    
Attendance Percentage 100% 100% 100% 100%

Board Audit Committee (BAC)
Formed: 9 June 2011
Term: The membership period is the same as the term of the Board of Directors and not more than three years, 
renewable.
Responsibilities: The Board Audit Committee (BAC) is responsible for assisting the Board in performing its duties 
concerning 
1. Overseeing the quality and integrity of accounting practices, auditing, internal control, risk management 

framework, financial reporting, and the overall corporate governance framework. 
2. Evaluate the performance and qualifications of the licensed independent auditor (the external auditor). 
3. The firm's relationship with external auditors. 
4. The overall performance of the company's internal audit unit. 
5. In addition to complying with applicable laws and regulations. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company's risk management, internal control, and corporate 
governance. The BAC's role includes focusing on the various aspects of preparing financial reports, managing 
business operations and financial risks, overseeing compliance with applicable legal, ethical, and regulatory 
requirements, and overseeing the performance of the internal audit department and the independent external 
auditors.

Achievements of BAC during 2023
•	 Monitored the work of the internal audit department for the year 2023. 
•	 Reviewed and discussed the internal audit report on a quarterly basis for the group and its subsidiaries and 

followed up on closing the observations.
•	 Approved the internal audit plan and strategy for the years 2023 and 2024. 
•	 Reviewed and audited Zain Group’s consolidated financial statements on a quarterly basis, discussed them with 

executive management and provided recommendations to the Board. 
•	 Met with the external auditor every quarter to review and discuss the external auditor’s report on the financial 

and operating performance of the Group.
•	 Evaluated the performance of executive management in closing observations with high and annual risks, linking 

them to the annual performance reward, and submitted a report to the Board.
•	 Monitored the cases and correspondences the company received from authorities and government bodies. 
•	 Recommended the appointment or reappointment of the external auditor and submitting it to the Board and 

during the Annual General Meeting. 
•	 Recommended the appointment of the new Chief of Internal Audit in accordance to applicable instructions and 

regulations.  
•	 Reviewed and approved the three-year internal audit plan that covers all operations and approved policies.

Committee Members:
Nasser bin Suleiman Al-Harthy (Committee Chairman)
Aladdin Baitfadhil 
Abdulrahman Mohammad Ibrahim Al Asfour (independent)
Yousef Khaled Al-Abdulrazzaq

Number of committee meetings in 2023: 6

Member Meeting No. 1
22/2/2023 

Meeting No. 2
13/3/2023 

Meeting No. 3
8/5/2023

Meeting No. 4
16/7/2023 

Meeting No. 5
6/8/2023 

Meeting No. 6
12/11/2023 

Nasser bin Suleiman Al-Harthy 
(Committee Chairman)      

Aladdin Baitfadhil      -
Abdulrahman Mohammad  
Al Asfour (independent)      

Yousef Khaled Al-Abdulrazzaq      

Attendance Percentage 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 75%
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Board Nominations and Remunerations Committee
Formed: 12 May 2015
Term: The membership period is the same as the term of the Board of Directors and not more than three years, 
renewable.
Responsibilities: The Nomination and Remuneration Committee (BNRC) assists the Board in fulfilling its 
oversight responsibilities of the effectiveness, integrity, and compliance with the company's remuneration and 
nomination policies and procedures. The BNRC must ensure that the remuneration policy is consistent with 
the company's strategic objectives and should also review and approve the selection criteria and appointment 
procedures for a member of the Board of Directors and senior management and ensure that the overall 
nomination policy and approach is consistent with the strategic objectives. This committee is responsible for 
nominating and re-nominating members of the Board and Executive Management. It also conducts an annual 
review of the required skills and competencies in the Board and Executive Management, considering the 
company's approved strategic objectives and corporate governance rules issued by the CMA. In coordination 
with the Executive Management, the BNRC shall prepare the succession plan for the Executive Management, 
including emergency cases or unexpected vacancies, to ensure the sustainability of the company's business. 
The BNRC maintains a training system to develop the skills of employees and evaluates the performance of 
management and facilitates the evaluation of the Board. The BNRC plays a vital role in the remuneration of the 
Board and Executive Management, following applicable regulations.

Achievements of BNRC during 2023
•	 Approved the mechanism for calculating and distributing annual remuneration for management.
•	 Determined the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and submitted it to the Board  

for approval.
•	 Discussed and approved evaluation mechanism of the Board, which agreed on conducting self-evaluation.
•	 Approved a number of training programs for Board members
•	 Reviewed and approved the company's organizational structure and succession plan policy
• 	Identified replacements for each of the senior management positions in the company, in accordance to the 

succession policy
•	 Recommended the acceptance of the nomination of the Chief Internal Auditor in accordance with the 

instructions and regulations. 

Committee Members:
Atif Said Rashid Al Siyabi (Committee Chairman)
Osamah Othman Al Furaih
Bader Nasser Al-Kharafi
Talal Said Al Mamari
Abdulrahman Mohammad Ibrahim Al Asfour (Independent)
Number of committee meetings in 2023: 2

Chief Executive Officer

Executive Management

Board of Directors

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The Board of Directors defines the objectives and strategy which aim to protect the company by providing 
effective governance measures and guidelines. This includes setting limits and processes, and approving 
internal policies and procedures for the executive management and employees in general, which leads to safe 
operation, protecting the rights of all stakeholders, providing stability and sustainability, and ensuring the 
long-term success.

Managing the company's business operations by supervising daily activities, 
implementing the company's strategic plans, policies and internal charters, and ensuring 
their efficiency and effectiveness

The committee aims to encourage the 
effective oversight of the board over 
material transactions within the 
company. This committee is responsible 
for managing corporate risks, which 
include but are not limited to strategic 
risks, market risks, compliance and 
operational risks.

This committee is responsible for 
recommending the appointment of 
members of the Board and the Executive 
Management, facilitating the annual 
evaluation of the Board's performance, 
and supervising the training and 
development process of the Board and 
the Executive Management. It evaluates 
the compensation of the Board and the 
executive management relative to the 
company's long-term goals.

This committee is responsible for 
assisting the Board of Directors in its 
responsibilities relating to the oversight of 
the quality and integrity of the accounting 
and auditing processes, internal controls, 
risk management framework and financial 
reporting practices of the company, as 
well as the company's relationship with 
the external auditors.

Risk Committee
Nominations and 

Remunerations Committee The Audit Committee

Governance and 
Compliance Department

Monitor the implementation of the 
defined governance framework to 
ensure the quality of the application 
and ensure compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations; 
review and evaluate the governance 
framework to confirm full compliance 
with the laws and regulations.

Internal Audit Department

Independence of this department is 
guaranteed through reporting to 
BAC. It has access to sufficient  
resources. The committee provides 
the Board and the executive 
management with an objective and 
comprehensive view of the business.

Risk Management Department

Managing risks efficiently to integrate 
any new business undertaken by the 
company. this department is 
independent and reports to the BRC. 
It is allocated sufficient administrative 
resources to identify, assess and 
handle risks appropriately.

Member Meeting No. 1/2023
20/2/2023 

Meeting No. 2/2023
6/12/2023 

Atif Said Rashid Al Siyabi 
(Committee Chairman)  

Osamah Othman Al Furaih  
Bader Nasser Al-Kharafi  
Talal Said Al Mamari  
Abdulrahman Mohammad Ibrahim Al Asfour (Independent)  
Attendance Percentage 100% 100%
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Relationship between the Board of Directors and the Executive Management
The establishment of a prosperous connection between the Board and executive management stands as a 
cornerstone with respect to sound governance and organizational proficiency. At Zain, a balanced union takes place 
between the Board and executive management, allowing the efficient exchange of information. This connection 
facilitates competent decision-making, supported by constructive discussions, and a commitment to the company’s 
strategy.

The strength of the connection between the Board and executive management hinges on a foundation of shared 
understanding, encompassing key elements such as the company's mission, vision, strategic framework, team 
capabilities, implementation plans, and performance goals. Yet, the essential foundation of this partnership 
becomes evident through an understanding that defines the boundaries of their specific roles, responsibilities, and 
limited areas of authority. This understanding, in turn, fosters an atmosphere where each stakeholder is inclined to 
deeply respect the significance of the other party's obligations, contributions, and expectations.

The Board shapes the company's trajectory by establishing corporate objectives and strategic direction. 
Furthermore, the Board safeguards the organization by establishing parameters and protocols for both 
the executive management and the broader workforce. This ensures secure operations and sustainable 
accomplishments, with these limits being embodied in internal policies and procedures.

The company's governance framework establishes policies and procedures that underpin the Board's relationship 
with executive management, defining their respective roles and expectations. It's crucial to implement these 
principles in the corporate culture and the interaction between the two parties. 

The Board empowers company operations by aiding executive management and resource development. Executive 
management oversees policy execution and goal achievement according to the approved strategy. The Board 
authorizes and sets limits for executive management's work. Operational plans stem from the Board's strategic 
guidance, enabling goal achievement and integrity maintenance. Executive management's role is crucial in tandem 
with the Board for accomplishing the company's mission.

The Board oversees executive management by monitoring performance, ensuring accountability, investigating 
issues, offering direction, and sharing expertise. Board members depend on timely, comprehensive information from 
executive management to fulfill their responsibilities effectively.

Similarly, executive management anticipates the Board's trust in executing the endorsed strategy and attaining 
outcomes. The Board establishes transparent performance goals and authority boundaries to facilitate seamless 
performance.

An aspect of the Board's role is selecting skilled executive management. The Board designates the CEO to 
communicate this vision to the management team. The executive management, including the CEO, views the Board 
as a resource to enhance company performance, while the Board recognizes the benefits of collaborating with a 
capable executive team.

The Board assesses the CEO and executive management alongside the CEO and BNRC. Thus, the CEO 
comprehends senior management's performance criteria from the Board's directives. This evaluation focuses 
on ongoing enhancement, providing clear Board expectations. Zain's corporate culture hinges on candid, direct 
communication, fostering trust and aligning Board and executive management for shareholder objectives. Executive 
management executes strategy decisions within Board guidelines to ensure goal and policy alignment.
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Rule III: Recruit Highly Qualified Candidates for the Members of a 
Board of Directors and the Executive Management
About the Board of Directors
Board Nominations and Remuneration Committee (BNRC) 

VICE CHAIRMAN AND GROUP CEO
•  Member of the Board of Directors since 2011
•  Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors since 
2014
•  Group CEO since 2017

Date of birth: 1977
Education: Master of Business Administration 
degree from London Business School, and 
Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering from 
Kuwait University, and currently pursuing a PhD 
at IE Business School in Spain.

Work experience: He is one of the most active 
business leaders in the Middle East and Africa 
region. He has an exceptional record of leading 
business development and consulting projects for 
major companies and international institutions. 
His expertise extends to the financial, investment, 
business, and industry sectors across various 
projects in the Gulf region, the Middle East, 
Europe, Africa, and Asia.

Other memberships: Chairman of the Board
of Zain Sudan, Managing Director of Al-Khatim 
Telecom Company in Iraq, Vice Chairman of 
Zain Saudi Arabia, Chairman of the Board of the 
Executive Committee of Kuwait Stock Exchange 
Company, Vice Chairman of Gulf Cables and 
Electrical Industries Company, Board Member of 
Foulath Holding Company, Member Board of
Directors of the International Refreshment 
Commercial Company (Coca-Cola), Member of 
the Board of Directors of Gulf Bank, Member of 
the Advisory Board for the Middle East Region of 
the British Coutts Bank, and Vice Chairman of the
Board of Directors of "Injaz Foundation", a non-
profit organization.”

MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
•  Member of the Board of Directors since 2017

Date of birth: 1972
Education: Bachelor's degree in Business 
Administration from Duquesne University, 
Pittsburgh – Pennsylvania, as well as Senior 
Executive Program from London Business
School, UK

Work experience: Al-Mamari is the CEO 
of Omantel; he has more than 26 years of 
experience, played a pivotal role in many projects, 
the most important of which is the initial public 
offering to sell part of the government’s share in 
the company and the company’s restructuring 
project by merging fixed communication services 
and mobile in a single entity, and the legal merger 
of Oman Mobile with Omantel, he also managed 
the acquisition project by Omantel of 21.9% of 
the capital of Zain Group, in 2017.

Other Memberships: Membership of the Board 
of Directors of Oman Corporate Governance & 
Sustainability Centre, and BMJBR Properties 
Limited.

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
•  A representative of Kuwait Investment 
Authority
•  Member of the Board of Directors since 2023
•  Chairman of the Board of Directors since 2023

Date of birth: 1973
Education: Bachelor’s degree in Business 
Administration from Tennessee State University

Work Experience: Over 23 years of experience 
in the investment, industrial, banking, aviation, 
tourism, hotel, and transportation sectors. 
A prosperous career in project management 
and development, investment, portfolio and 
asset management, real estate and investment 
valuation, project and corporate financing, credit, 
securities analysis, and risk forecasting across 
Europe, America, and MENA.

Other Memberships: Senior Investment 
Manager at Kuwait Investment Authority of the 
General Reserves fund. He was the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of the Kuwait Flour 
Mills and Bakeries Company from (2018-2023). 
Previous Board Member at Kuwait Airways from 
(2018-2020.)

Held the position of Chairman of the Board 
of the National Fund for Small and Medium 
Enterprises (SME) (2014-2017), previously the 
Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of The 
Arab International Hotels Company (2004-
2011). He served as the Chairman of the Board 
of the Touristic Enterprises Company, and was 
a Board member at Arab African International 
Bank, Industrial Bank of Kuwait, the Syrian 
Arab Company for Hotels and Tourism, Kuwait 
United Poultry Company, and the Yemeni Kuwaiti 
Company for Real Estate Development.

INDEPENDENT BOARD MEMBER
•  Member of the Board of Directors since 2018

Date of birth: 1981
Education: Bachelor's degree in Business 
Administration with a major in Accounting from 
Kuwait University

Work Experience: Extensive technical 
experience in the application of information 
technology solutions, worked as a financial 
expert in the management of information 
systems at Equate Petrochemical Company,
He has experience in the field of auditing through 
his work at the State Audit Bureau.

Other Memberships: Chief Executive Officer of 
Alpha Group Holding. He also served as a board 
member of WABA Medical Insurance Company.

MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
•  A representative of the Kuwait Investment 
Authority
•  Member of the Board of Directors since 2018

Date of birth: 1983
Education: Bachelor's degree in Business 
Administration, majoring in Finance, from Kuwait 
University
Work Experience: His experience extends to 
12 years at Kuwait Investment Authority in the 
general reserve sector. In 2010, he participated 
in the project team for the privatization of Kuwait 
Airways. He is currently an investment manager 
within the General Reserve Sector under the local 
equities department at the Kuwait Investment 
Authority.

Other Memberships: Member of the Board of 
Directors, Chairman of the Audit Committee, 
member of the Executive Committee of the 
Tourism Enterprises Company, Member of 
the Board of Directors and Chairman of the 
Audit Committee and Chairman of the Human 
Resources Committee in the Public Facilities 
Management Company.

MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
•  Member of the Board of Directors since 2020

Date of birth: 1973
Education: Master's degree in public 
administration from the University of Exeter, 
United Kingdom, and Bachelor's degree in public 
administration from Yarmouk University in Jordan

Work Experience: He has nearly 20 years of 
experience, having worked in the Ministry of Civil 
Service in the Sultanate of Oman in 1996 for 
18 years, held the position of Director General 
of Organization and Job Classification, and held 
the position of CEO at the Institute of Public 
Administration since 2014.

Other Memberships: Member in the State 
Council in the Sultante of Oman and 
Member in the Consultation Board for the 
Supreme Council of the GCC.

Bader Nasser Al-Kharafi Talal bin Said Al-Mamari Abdul Rahman 
Mohammed Ibrahim 
Al-Asfour

Yousef Khaled 
Al-Abdulrazzaq

Zaki bin Hilal bin 
Saud Al Busaidi

Osamah Othman Al Furaih 
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Atef bin Said bin Rashid 
Al-Siyabi Aladdin Fadelbeit Nasser bin Suleiman 

Al-HarthiMEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
•  Member of the Board since 2020

Date of birth: 1980
Education: Bachelor of Engineering in Computer 
Hardware and Network Technology from 
Coventry University, a Master of Business 
Administration from Franklin University, 
Certificate in Professional Leadership 
Development from HEC Paris.

Work Experience: He is the Chief of Information 
Management at the Oman Investment Authority 
(OIA) in the Sultanate of Oman. His track record 
extends to more than 20 years in Information
Technology and business transformation. His 
experiences vary from hands-on experience 
leading innovative technology solutions 
and system operations to transforming 
business operations and driving technological 
advancements. He is involved in various 
investment initiatives in the ICT sector, where 
he has been leading numerous assignments, 
devising comprehensive strategies, and delivering
several ICT projects at the national level.

Other Memberships: Director of Information 
Management at the General Reserve Fund 
(SGRF) in the Sultanate of Oman

MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
•  Member of the Board since 2020

Date of birth: 1978
Education: Bachelor's degree in electrical and 
electronic engineering from Sultan Qaboos 
University, He holds two certificates in Disruptive 
Strategies and Leading with Finance from 
Harvard University.

Work Experience: He carries over 20 years of 
strategic and operational experience in diverse 
leadership roles – spanning Marketing, Sales, 
Network Operations, Service Delivery and 
Customer Experience
He is the Chief Commercial Officer at Omantel. 
He is responsible for driving the business 
transformation and growth of Consumer and 
Enterprise business lines across Core Telco 
Products, ICT Solutions, and Digital Technologies.

Other memberships: Vice Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of "Infoline" company.

MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
•  Member of the Board since 2020

Date of birth: 1975
Education: Master of Business Administration 
from Victoria University in Australia, Bachelor of 
Finance from the United Arab Emirates University, 
National Leadership and Competitiveness 
Program (NLCP) from Oxford University.

Work Experience: He has experience of up 
to 25 years in the investment, economic and 
financial sectors. He is the Depute President for 
Operations at the Oman Investment Authority, 
responsible for financial and administrative 
affairs, information management, legal affairs, 
and compliance.

Other Memberships: ASYAD Group Chairman, 
Fisheries Development Oman, Chairman, Vietnam 
Oman Investments, Chairman, Oman Etihad Rail 
Company, board member, Charmain of Takatuf 
Oman
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Ossama Matta
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Appointment Date: 2010
Education: Master's degree in Business Administration from the American 
University of Beirut and CPA certificate 
Work Experience: He has extensive experience of more than 25 years 
in the financial and administrative fields in the markets of the Middle East 
region. He joined Zain in 2004 and held the position of Chief Financial 
Officer for the company's business in Lebanon "MTC Touch", after which he 
was promoted to the position of Chief Financial Officer of Zain Kuwait until 
he was assigned the duties of the Chief Financial Officer of Zain Group in the 
Middle eastern markets.

Nawaf Algharabally
CHIEF TECHNOLOGY OFFICER

Appointment Date: 2020
Education: Master’s degree in Business Administration from London 
Business School
Work Experience: He has extensive experience of over 24 years in 
the wireless telecommunications sector in Kuwait, the Middle East, 
and Africa. He participated in the plans to modernize and upgrade 
the networks for Zain's operations regionally, including designing and 
building the 3G network in Kuwait in 2005, installing the first wireless 
communications network in southern Iraq in 2003, and building the 
entire Zain Saudi Arabia network in 2007. In 2019, he was responsible 
for the Zain network development investments in Kuwait, which 
became the first company to launch 5G services in the Gulf region. 

Kamil Hilali
CHIEF STRATEGY OFFICER

Appointment Date: 2018
Education: MSc. in Industrial Engineering from ENIM (Morocco), Master of 
Business Administration from Suffolk University (MA, USA), and Master of 
Finance from London Business School (UK) and professional Venture Capital 
training from Stamford University (CA, USA).

Work Experience: He has extensive experience of more than 21 years in 
management and turnaround strategy, mergers and acquisitions, growth 
and early-stage investment, telecoms, digital infrastructure, ICT, and 
international connectivity. He is a member of the Board of Directors of Zain 
Saudi Arabia, INWI Morocco, TASC Towers Holding, and Zood.

Mohammad Abdal
CHIEF COMMUNICATIONS OFFICER

Appointment Date: 2015
Education: Bachelor of Science in Business Administration with a double 
major in Finance and Information Management Systems from Portland State 
University, USA

Work Experience: he presides over the departments of investor relations, 
corporate communications, governance, and compliance; he has extensive 
experience, which started with Zain 23 years ago, and witnessed its foreign 
expansion journey in the Middle East and Africa region, as he established 
the Middle East Investor Relations Association (MEIRA) in Kuwait.

About the Executive Management at Zain Group 

Malek Hammoud
CHIEF INVESTMENTS AND DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION OFFICER

Appointment Date: 2017
Education: Bachelor's degree in Electrical Engineering from the American 
University of Beirut, MBA from the London School of Business, and a 
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA).

Work Experience: Executing the Group’s plans for digital transformation in 
all its markets in the Middle East and Africa by searching for new investment 
opportunities in digital fields. He has worked in the banking sector building 
extensive regional and international experience in capital markets, corporate 
banking, investment banking services, and digital services.

Dr. Andrew Arowojolu
CHIEF REGULATORY OFFICER

Appointment Date: 2016
Education: Ph.D. in mobile wireless communication, Master's in 
Microelectronics and Communication from the University of Liverpool, 
Bachelor's in Electrical and Electronic Engineering from the University 
of Lagos, LLM (Master of Law) degree in Technology Media and 
Telecommunications Law (Distinction) from the Queen Mary University of 
London Center for Commercial Law Studies.

Work Experience: He has a proven track record in the telecommunications 
sector, as he has 30 years of experience in this field in the Middle East, 
Europe, Africa, and Asia. He is responsible for developing the group's 
regulatory strategy, and engaging with the telecommunications industry 
advocacy and trade associations and national regulatory authorities in all 
countries where the group's operations are located.”

Nawal Bourisli
CHIEF PURPOSE AND HUMAN RESOURCES OFFICER

Appointment Date: 2018
Education: Completed a leadership development program at 
Harvard Business School.

Work Experience: Oversees the work strategy of the Human 
Resources Department, which includes building and refining 
job talents, change management programs, development, 
employment, preparing plans to maintain company values 
and work culture, managing employee reward and motivation 
programs, raising a sense of job connection, providing an 
ideal work environment to increase levels of productivity and 
leadership development.

Jennifer Suleiman
CHIEF SUSTAINABILITY OFFICER

Appointment Date: 2018
Education: Degree in Art History and Archeology from Washington 
University, Missouri, USA

Work Experience: 31 years of experience. She leads the company’s 
sustainability strategy. She develops and publishes the yearly sustainability 
report and other sustainability disclosures. She leads the company’s 
engagement with the GSMA on sustainability related matters as well as 
with the UN Global Compact and its related communication on progress 
disclosure. She represents and actively engages with the GCC Telco 
Sustainability Alliance.
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Maryam Saif

Javier Garcia Cuadrado

CHIEF DIVERSITY, EQUITY AND INCLUSION OFFICER

Appointment Date: 2017
Education: Master’s degree in Organizational Behavior and Bachelor of 
Science in Computer Programming from London Met University, Strategy 
Execution from Said Business School, University of Oxford. 

Work Experience: Certified in Diversity, Equity and Inclusion in the 
Workplace.  Leading diversity and inclusivity with a focus on social 
diversity, internal innovation, and youth development. Member of the 
British Psychological Society and the Association of Coaching, Practitioner 
in Change Management, a Fellowship of the Institute of Recruitment 
Professionals and is qualified for Level 7 Advanced on Coaching 
and Mentoring received by the Chartered Institute of Personnel and 
Development.

CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITOR

Appointment Date: 2023
Education: : CIA (Certified Internal Auditor), COSO Internal Control, COSO 
Enterprise Risk Management, and TEIA (Technical Evaluator on Internal 
Audit); Executive Development (PDD), IESE – Madrid; Master in Financial 
Markets, Universidad Autónoma – Madrid; and Bachelor’s degree in 
Economics, Universidad Autónoma - Madrid.

Work Experience: 20 years of experience in internal audit and the telecom 
industry; he held senior audit roles at renowned entities in Spain, Chile, and 
the UAE. He worked as a team leader at the Institute of Internal Auditors 
(IIA Spain). IIA Spain is an affiliate of the Institute of Internal Auditors – US, 
responsible for the practice standards of the Internal Audit profession.

Board Nominations and Remuneration Committee (BNRC) 

Please refer to Rule II of this report, which contains all information on the functions and achievements of the 
Committee as well as the composition and meetings. 

Remuneration Report for the Board of Directors and Executive Management  

Summary of the company's remuneration and incentives policy, particularly related to members of the 
Board, Executive Management and managers.

The Board is responsible for creating the compensation policy, which establishes the foundation for the 
compensation structures of both the Board and executive management. This policy's alignment with the company's 
objectives and performance is of paramount importance. The policy is a manifestation of the company's strategic 
aims and takes into account the principles of operational integrity and financial standing. This policy constitutes an 
integral component of the overarching corporate governance structure. The BNRC oversees the execution of this 
policy, as facilitated by the Board.

The Company's remuneration policy was created in accordance with the following principles: 

1. Link rewards to the degree of risk
2. Attract and retain the best professionals
3. Ensure equality within the company and competitiveness outside. 
4. Comparison of market performance levels using analyses from specialized consulting firms
5. Ensure transparency in awarding bonuses
6. Link to performance indicators (KPIs) for Board members and Executive Management 
7. Be consistent with the company's strategy and objectives, both long-term and short-term 
8. Match the experience and qualifications of the company's employees at different employment levels

The company's remuneration policy determines the reward system in line with the objectives of the company, 
shareholders, and stakeholders. This policy reflects standards and principles of best practices in good governance 
based on the relevant regulatory requirements.

The BNRC oversees policy implementation, conducts annual policy reviews, and ensures alignment with regulations 
like those from the CMA. Proposed policy changes are presented to the Board for approval. The Board is committed 
to fostering sound governance in the company's compensation structure. Via the BNRC, it regularly updates the 
remuneration policy to align with the company's strategy and risk framework. Executive management is responsible 
for designing the staff reward system per the approved policy and following up on implementing the strategy.

The KPIs are based on the company's overall strategy and are approved by the Board. Executive Management 
implements this strategy and reports thereon to the Board regularly.

Board Remuneration 
• The total Board remuneration shall not exceed 10% of the company's net profits (after depreciation, reserves, and 

payment of dividends to shareholders not less than 5% of the company's capital or any higher percentage, as 
provided in the Articles of Association of the Company). 

•	 The Board remuneration is approved during the Annual General Meeting of shareholders as per the 
recommendations of the BNRC and by the Board itself. 

•	 In 2023, the total remuneration granted to Board members was KD 478,500, which was approved by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. 

Abdul Ghaffar Setareh 
CHIEF RISK OFFICER

Appointment Date: 2016
Education: Telecommunications Engineering degree from Rabat, Morocco

Work Experience: Extensive experience and a proven record of 
achievements over the past three decades in the telecommunications and 
information technology sector, having worked and led various work teams 
in operations, engineering, insurance, and risk management across all Zain 
business units in the Middle East and Africa. He is certified in Risk and 
Information Systems Control (CRISC) and as Information Security Manager 
(CISM).

Firas Oggar
HEAD OF LEGAL

Appointment Date: 2017
Education: Master's degree from the University of Paris in International 
Business Law

Work Experience: 23 years in prestigious institutions in France and the 
Middle East, experiences in executive positions, qualified lawyer before the 
Paris Bar (France), member of the GC Power list Middle East (Legal 500) and 
visiting Professor at the University of Paris Patheon-Assas.
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Executive Management Remuneration 
Executive management's remuneration system factors in the company's operating environment, achievements, risk 
tolerance, and comprises the following essential elements:
 

Fixed Remunerations
• The determination of fixed remuneration hinges on the executive member's level of responsibilities and their 

specific career path within the company. A remuneration index is established for each role, reflective of its 
value to the company.

•	 The BNRC, in collaboration with pertinent departments like human resources, conducts an annual review 
of fixed remuneration. This assessment considers the overall remuneration package, prevailing market 
conditions, and the performance of divisions across the company.

•	 Fixed remunerations, including salaries, allowances, and benefits (and end-of-service indemnity), are 
awarded under the approved salary and grading structure by the Board of Directors, the applicable laws 
and regulations and the manual of contractual agreements of employees issued by human resources. 

 
Variable Remunerations
•  Variable remunerations are intricately tied to the attainment of pre-defined objectives. 
•	 This category of remuneration is strategically crafted to incentivize and recognize the efforts of Executive 

Management members. Variable bonuses are allocated based on both the individual performance of the 
Executive Management member and the holistic performance of the company.

•	 Within Zain, variable remuneration incorporates two distinct components: annual variable remuneration 
(awarded on a yearly basis) and multi-annual variable remuneration (distributed over multiple years, 
highlighting the Board's focus on both short and long-term objectives). 

•	 Annual objectives encompass two categories: financial indicators (pertaining to fiscal year financial targets 
for the company and its departments) and non-financial indicators (pertaining to operational objectives, 
achieved through activities and processes such as product launches, targeted investments, etc.).

Balance between fixed and variable remuneration 
The company maintains a healthy balance between fixed and variable remuneration, enabling the option to 
decrease variable remuneration in scenarios of poor financial performance. The proportion of fixed and variable 
remuneration is evaluated and established annually by the Board, guided by recommendations from the BNRC.

Annual
Remuneration

Remunerations and benefits of Members of Board of Directors

Total 
number of 
members 

 
 

Fixed remuneration and 
benefits (Kuwaiti Dinar)

"Variable remuneration and
benefits (Kuwaiti Dinar)"

"Fixed remuneration and 
benefits (Kuwaiti Dinar)"

"Variable remuneration and
benefits(Kuwaiti Dinar)"  
  

"Remunerations and benefits through the parent company" Remunerations and benefits through the subsidiaries

9 478,500 57,200

Health insurance Annual 
remuneration

Committees’ 
remuneration

Health 
insurance 

Monthly 
salaries total 
of the year

Annual 
Remuneration

Committees’ 
remuneration 

Total remunerations and benefits granted to five senior executives who have received the highest remunerations. This is in addition to the 
Chief Executive Officer and the financial manager or their deputy, if not included *

Fixed remuneration and benefits
(Kuwaiti Dinar)

Total 
executive 
positions

Remunerations and Benefits through the parent Remunerations and Benefits through the subsidiaries

5 991,572  1,649  7,590  12,189  118,320  34,560   1,640  24,668  1,888,454  

*Details of the segments and types of remuneration and benefits mentioned are examples without limitation

Variable 
remuneration 
and benefits 
(Kuwaiti Dinar)

Fixed remuneration and 
benefits (Kuwaiti Dinar)

Variable
remuneration 
and benefits 
(Kuwaiti Dinar)

Monthly 
Salaries
(total of 
the year) 

Health
Insurance

Annual 
Tickets

Housing 
Allowance

Transportation 
Allowance

Childrens 
Education 
Allowance

Annual
Remuneration

Childrens 
Education 
Allowance

Health Club 
Allowance

Transportation 
Allowance

Housing 
Allowance

Annual 
Tickets

Social 
Security

Health
Insurance

Monthly 
Salaries 
(total of
the year)

*Details of the segments and types of remuneration and benefits mentioned are examples without limitation

There are no material deviations from the remuneration policy approved by the Board of Directors.

Rule IV: Safeguard the Integrity of Financial Reporting

Written pledges by both the Board of Directors and the Executive Management of the integrity of the financial 
statements
Please refer to the financial statements section in the 2023 annual report.

Board Audit Committee
Please refer to Rule II of this report, which contains all information on the functions and achievements of the 
Committee as well as the composition and meetings.

In the event of a conflict between the recommendations of the Audit Committee and the decisions of the 
Board of Directors, a statement will be included detailing and clarifying the recommendations and the 
reason/s behind the decision of the Board of Directors not to abide by them.

There were no inconsistencies between the Audit Committee recommendations and the decisions of the Board  of 
Directors during 2023.

Emphasizing the independence and impartiality of the external auditor
The independence and impartiality of the external auditor are crucial to ensure unbiased and accurate assessments 
of a company's financial statements and operations. This integrity helps maintain investor confidence, supports 
transparent reporting, and upholds the credibility of financial information.

The Companies Law and the CMA regulations stipulate specific requirements that external auditors must meet 
when preparing their audit reports and verifying the accuracy of company reports. Zain is committed to having the 
external auditor be independent of the company and its Board and not perform actions that may affect impartiality 
and independence. Therefore, the Audit Committee shall recommend the appointment, reappointment or change 
of the external auditor to the Board, including determining their fees and reviewing their appointment letters. The 
external auditor is officially appointed at the Ordinary General Assembly based on the recommendations of the 
Board while fulfilling the following requirements:
•  The external auditor is a licensed auditor by the CMA and has fully met all registration requirements stated by  

the CMA
•  The external auditor is independent and does not perform additional tasks that may affect neutrality and 

independence

Audited financial statements play a vital governance role by providing an objective and reliable assessment of a 
company's financial health and performance. They enhance transparency, aid in regulatory compliance, and bolster 
stakeholders' trust, fostering effective oversight and decision-making. The company's accounting system aims to 
identify, compile, classify, analyze, record, and report on the company's transactions and maintain accountability for 
assets.

One of the key responsibilities of the external auditor is to thoroughly assess and validate the precision of the 
company's financial statements. This involves ensuring adherence to applicable regulations, laws, and standards. 
The external auditors provide their professional assessment on the equity of Zain's financial position, operational 
outcomes, and cash flows. Additionally, they validate the appropriateness of the company's chosen accounting 
principles and evaluate associated risks.

To facilitate a comprehensive audit process, the Board ensures that the external auditors are adequately equipped 
with the necessary time, resources, and expertise to grasp the intricacies of the business and its operations. Part of 
this process involves the examination of the opinion letter provided by the independent auditor. The Board takes a 
proactive stance in addressing all observations outlined in this letter, ensuring effective collaboration with executive 
management.

The external auditors meet with the Audit Committee quarterly; additionally, they have the right to request a 
meeting with the Committee when necessary, without the presence of executive management. The Board must call 
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for a General Assembly meeting based on a request from the external auditor within 15 days from the date of the 
request. The external auditors attend the meetings of the General Assembly and read their report to shareholders, 
explaining any obstacles or interferences from the Board during the performance of their duties. The auditors must 
also inform the CMA of any material violations or obstacles and their details.

Accordingly, Deloitte and Touche (Al Wazzan & Partners) has been appointed to perform the functions required by 
the independent external auditor. We would like to confirm that Deloitte is not providing any additional services for 
Zain. 
 
About Deloitte & Touche (Al Wazzan & Partners) 
Deloitte & Touche, with its approximately 286,000 professionals, enjoys a globally connected network of member 
firms in more than 150 countries where it provides audit, consulting, financial advisory, enterprise risk services, 
tax. Deloitte & Touche (M.E.) is a member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (DTTL) and is the first Arab 
professional services firm established in the Middle East region with uninterrupted presence since 1926 with more 
than 5,900 staff working in over 26 offices in 15 countries in the Middle East.
 
In Kuwait, Deloitte & Touche Al Wazzan & Co. has a strong audit practice serving leading enterprises and 
institutions in telecommunications, banking, aviation, insurance, construction, trading, manufacturing, energy, and 
resources. The Kuwait audit practice has approximately 10 partners, principals and directors, and more than 103 
dedicated audit professionals.
 
Auditors’ Fees
The total fee for audit and other assurance services for the Group and its subsidiaries amounts to KD 1.113 million 
(2022: KD 1.001 million).
   

Rule V: Apply Sound Systems of Risk Management and Internal Audit 
A brief statement on the implementation of the requirements for the formation of an independent 
department/office/unit for risk management:

We have diligently executed the prerequisites for establishing a risk management department that functions 
independently in strict accordance with corporate governance standards. The Chief Risk Officer (CRO) oversees this 
department with substantial independence, resources, and direct access to the Board of Directors. This department 
is vested with the responsibility of identifying, evaluating, and supervising the array of risks inherent to our 
organization. In alignment with the widely recognized Three Lines of Defense framework for risk management, an 
autonomous risk function stands as a pivotal element within the company's second line of defense. This department 
assumes the duty of recognizing, assessing, and overseeing the variety of risks inherent to the organization. 
Under the approved company's organizational structure, the Risk Management department reports to the BRC, 
conforming to relevant legal and regulatory mandates.

Board Risk Committee  
 
Please refer to Rule II of this report, which contains all information on the functions and achievements of the 
Committee as well as the composition and meetings.

Internal Control Systems  

Defining values, principles, and roles is pivotal for informed decision-making. Implementing our code of conduct and 
internal policies is vital for efficient, ethical, and legal operations. Thus, we prioritize adherence to applicable laws, 
guidelines, and practices through robust external and internal controls. These systems safeguard stakeholder rights 
and bolster our objectives and strategic pursuits.

Heart Radiance

OUR VALUES

OUR VISION

Belonging
The courage to make the choices 
that makes this a better world

• Internal Audit
• Risk Management
• Corporate governance 

and compliance

• Independent functions
• Quality and Integrity
• Assignment of roles per 

governance principles

• External factors that shape 
the internal control 
environment such as laws, 
regulations, charters and 
international standards

• Independent registered 
external auditors

• Compliance risks
• Market risks
• Operations risks 

• Policies
• Procedures
• Code of conduct
• Technical tools and 

software
• Training 

“to become the leading provider of innovation and digital lifestyle communications by providing the best and 
simplest experience for our customers”

Putting inspiration at the center of 
our powerful leadership  

Breaking boundaries and bringing 
people together

INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK

Three-line defense Defined 
Responsibilities

Control 
Environment Risk Assessment Awareness

External mechanisms for control and oversight
External control mechanisms are overseen by entities external to the organization, encompassing regulatory bodies, 
government agencies, independent auditors, and other pertinent bodies. These mechanisms predominantly aim to 
evaluate adherence to legal frameworks, regulations, and optimal practices.

Within this context, Zain voluntarily undergoes an independent audit to evaluate its holistic corporate governance 
structure. The company is subject to rigorous oversight and examination by several authoritative bodies, including 
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the CMA, the Ministry of Commerce and Industry, the Anti-Corruption Authority, the Competition Protection 
Agency, and the Communications and Information Technology Regulatory Authority (CITRA), along with relevant 
governmental and regulatory entities in all operational jurisdictions.

The CMA undertakes diligent supervisory inspections, closely monitoring corporate activities in alignment with 
pertinent legislation. Consequently, the company's operations undergo comprehensive audits, yielding detailed 
reports incorporating compliance status, implementation efficiency, and any necessary adjustments, breaches,  
or corrective actions. Furthermore, all corporate records are subject to scrutiny and auditing under the purview of 
the CMA.

In accordance with both the Kuwaiti Companies Law and international accounting standards, Zain is obligated 
to designate an auditor during the Ordinary General Assembly. This appointment occurs subsequent to a 
recommendation put forth by the Board of Directors, alongside endorsement from the Audit Committee of  
the Board.

The chosen auditor must not simultaneously hold the position of Chairman or Board member within the same 
company whose financial records they are entrusted to audit. Additionally, they cannot occupy an executive role 
within the company, engage in overseeing its accounts, or maintain any direct kinship up to the second degree with 
individuals involved in the company's management or account supervision.
Furthermore, the appointed auditor is barred from acquiring shares in the entities whose financial records they 
audit. It is also a stipulation that the auditor abstains from purchasing or selling company shares throughout the 
auditing period while actively providing advisory services to the company. Adherence to these regulations ensures 
the integrity and impartiality of the auditing process.

The auditor has the right, at all times, to review all the company's books, records, and documents and to request 
the data he deems necessary. The auditor or his delegate must attend the ordinary general assembly meetings and 
submit a report on the company's financial statements. The report shows the financial position of the company 
at the end of the fiscal year and the results of the company’s business operations for that year. It also includes a 
statement on whether the data contained in the report of the Board and the company's books are compatible with 
generally accepted accounting principles and what is stipulated in the law. The Board or a number of shareholders 
representing 25% of the capital may request the replacement of the auditor during the fiscal year.

Internal controls systems

The Board understands the complex landscape of risks inherent to the company's operations, including the scope 
of risks that pass through environmental, social, and governance domains. Maintaining an unwavering vigilance, 
the Board remains committed to mitigating the company's exposure to these risks. Collaboratively engaged with 
executive management, the Board decides a course of action to deal with these risks. The Board's role extends to 
the identification of both internal and external relevant factors that highlight these risks. With strategic policies and 
tactics, the company's risk appetite outlines the framework within which these identified risks are to be addressed. 
A pivotal cornerstone within this intricate structure is the company's internal controls, fixed to amplify stakeholder 
value and foster the attainment of strategic objectives.

This network of controls not only aligns operations with best practices, statutes, and regulations but also serves as 
a support for risk management. These systems serve as the foundation for the establishment of a robust internal 
control framework and as a channel through which strategic objectives are achieved. This ensures the delivery of 
dependable financial reports to both internal and external stakeholders, supports operational efficiency, guarantees 
legal compliance, and secures corporate assets.
The following list contains key procedures taken by the company to ensure adherence to integrity and ethical 
values:

1. The company's organizational structure takes into account the Four Eyes Principle
2. The Internal Audit Department is independent as it reports to the Board Audit Committee. One of the 

responsibilities of this department is to audit the company's operations and procedures, to ensure compliance 
with relevant laws, policies, and standards, and to identify areas that can be modified

3. Assigning an independent audit office to evaluate and review the internal control systems and to prepare a 
report to be submitted to the CMA on an annual basis

4. An independent auditor reviews and evaluates the performance of the Internal Audit Department every three 
years; a copy of the findings report is provided to the Board Audit Committee and the Board of Directors.

5. A registered independent auditor provides limited independent assurance of the sustainability report

Zain's control environment relies on the dedication to upholding integrity and ethical principles. This commitment 
extends to preserving the independence of the Board of Directors in relation to executive management, as well as 
their vigilant oversight of internal controls within the company. Zain’s environment is further characterized by the 
establishment of a well-defined organizational structure, administrative hierarchy, and clear delegation of authority 
and responsibilities to effectively monitor progress towards business objectives. Furthermore, a key aspect of this 
control environment is the unwavering dedication to attracting, nurturing, and retaining top talent. Simultaneously, 
there is a commitment to ensuring accountability throughout the organization for the implementation of robust 
internal controls.

The framework of internal control systems includes a collection of policies, procedures, standards, and protocols 
designed to uphold organizational governance. The Board assumes the responsibility for shaping the structure and 
parameters guiding executive management in the company's operational landscape. These internal policies and 
procedures have garnered the Board's endorsement, ensuring their alignment with shareholder and stakeholder 
rights, ethical codes, applicable laws, regulations, and industry benchmarks.

Furthermore, the Board undertakes a comprehensive annual assessment of risks, supplemented by evaluations 
triggered by substantial shifts in company dynamics, market conditions, or regulatory standards. Consequently, 
the policies and procedures comprise control mechanisms tailored to mitigate these identified risks. The Audit 
Committee assumes the key role of analyzing the adequacy of internal control systems in the company. In line with 
this authority, the committee conducts a comprehensive appraisal, concluding in a report that contains its insights, 
judgments, and recommendations on the effectiveness of said systems.

The efficient control environment at Zain allows the members of the Board and executive management to 
understand their responsibilities and the limits of their authority. The employees in this environment are also 
committed to following the company’s policies, procedures, and code of conduct. The control environment also 
includes technical competency and ethical commitment. 

In a proactive stride towards strengthening our control environment, the Board has formulated and published 
written protocols, including policies, procedures, codes of conduct, and standards of behavior. The overarching 
objective of these measures is to cultivate a culture of ethical behavior, instilling a positive culture that demands 
uniform adherence to these standards across all tiers of our organization. Furthermore, our executive management 
champion unwavering integrity and elevated professional benchmarks. Their leadership approach serves to 
reinforce our internal control mechanisms, fostering a robust framework that resonates throughout the company.

The Board guarantees the appropriate segregation of duties and procedures, maintaining documents and 
records, and assessing performance by independent bodies. Conducting independent checks on performance is 
a valuable control method. Based on the regulations and instructions by the CMA, the company appointed Al-
Bazie & Partners, an independent auditing firm, to assess and review internal control systems. The Internal Control 
Review (ICR) includes a complete assessment of the company's internal control system to determine whether 
the company's functions and departments are operating as intended and whether they can manage the risks that 
the company may face in its day-to-day operations. The Internal Control Review (ICR) is vital to governance as it 
ensures risk mitigation, operational efficiency, transparency, compliance, fraud prevention, stakeholder confidence, 
and informed decision-making, thereby upholding accountability and facilitating sustainable organizational growth.

The ICR provides stakeholders, including shareholders, regulators, and the Board, with an overview of the 
effectiveness of the internal control environment. It highlights weaknesses in the company’s internal control 
environment and identifies processes that can be improved.

The procedures of the Internal Control Review involve assessing documentation, identifying risks, evaluating 
processes, conducting control tests, verifying compliance, analyzing data, interviewing management, reporting 
findings, making recommendations, and promoting ongoing improvement. The findings and recommendations are 
shared with the Board and the CMA.
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Subject: Internal Control Systems Report For the year ended 31 December 2023

Purpose of this Report
In accordance with our letter of engagement dated 4 September 2023, we have examined and evaluated the internal control 
systems of Mobile Telecommunications Company K.S.C.P. referred to as “Zain Group” which were applied during the year 
ended December 2023 ,31, with regard to the following departments of business of Zain Group:

RSM Ablazie & Co.

Arraya Tower 2, Floors 41 & 42
Abdulaziz Hamad Alsaqar St., Sharq

P.O. Box 2115, Safat 13022, State of Kuwait

T +965 22961000 | F +965 22412761
www.rsm.global/kuwait

Our approach and procedures were carried out with regard to the Executive Regulations of Law no. 7 of 2010 Regarding the 
Establishment of the Capital Markets Authority and Regulating Securities Activities, Module 15 “Corporate Governance".

Responsibilities of Zain Group
We would like to point out that among the responsibilities of the Zain Group’s management is to establish appropriate internal 
control systems at the level of the Zain Group, and in order to undertake these responsibilities, judgments and estimates will 
be made to assess the expected benefits and costs related to management information and control procedures.

Our Responsibilities
The aim is to provide a reasonable, but not absolute, and here for example assurance that the assets are protected from any 
losses arising from the unauthorized use or disposal of those assets, and that risks are adequately monitored and evaluated, 
and that the transactions are carried out in accordance with the approved policies and procedures, and that they are 
appropriately recorded, and the work is carried out properly.

Because of inherent limitations in control system, and despite the levels of controls identified, there are still instances where 
these may not always be effective, and errors or irregularities may nevertheless occur and not be detected or traced. This may 
be due to human error, incorrect management judgment, management override, controls being by-passed or a reduction in 
compliance.

Our report is based on the findings and conclusion from the work undertaken, the scope of which has been agreed with the 
management. Also, projection of any evaluation of the systems to future periods is subject to the risk that information from 
management and control procedures may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of 
compliance with those procedures may deteriorate.

The factors considered which might influence our report are:
• Inherent risk in the areas being examined / evaluated;
• Limitations in the individual area being examined / evaluated;
• The adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and governance control framework;
• The impact of weakness identified;
• The level of risk exposure; and
• The response to management actions raised and timeliness of actions taken.

Procedures and Findings
In regard to the nature and scale of its business, during the year ended December 31, 2023, the internal control systems in the 
areas examined by us were evaluated and maintained in proportion to the size of the risks and business in Zain Group, except 
for the matters specified in the detailed report.

RSM Albazie & Co.

Dr. Shuaib A. Shuaib
License No. 33-A

• Corporate Communications, Investor Relations, Corporate 
Governance and Compliance
• Finance
• Investment & Digital Transformation
• Technology
• Regulatory Affairs
• Strategy and Business Development
• Commercial

• Human Resources
• Legal
• Internal Audit
• Risk Management
• Zain Tech
• Corporate Sustainability
• Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
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A brief statement on implementing the requirements for forming an independent department/office/unit for 
internal audit

In alignment with corporate governance laws and regulations in Kuwait, establishing an independent internal audit 
department necessitates thorough adherence to regulatory guidelines. This involves defining the department's 
scope, formulating strong internal audit procedures, appointing qualified personnel, ensuring independence from 
operational functions, reporting directly to the Board Audit Committee (BAC), and upholding a consistent evaluation 
process to verify compliance and effectiveness. Such implementation reinforces transparency, accountability, high 
ethical standards, and effective risk management within the organization's governance framework. The Internal 
Audit Department operates independently. It falls under the supervision of the Chief Internal Auditor and reports 
to the BAC. In addition, the BAC is concerned with supervising financial reporting, risk management, and internal 
control, and is also responsible for submitting recommendations to the Board regarding the appointment of an 
external auditor. 

The requirements to form the Audit Committee and define its responsibilities in the organization comply with 
the relevant laws and regulations issued by the CMA and the Ministry of Commerce and Industry, which greatly 
enhanced the role of audit committees in the governance framework. The extent of the Audit Committee's role and 
duties is evident through its responsibilities (for details on the role and responsibilities of the committee, please see 
the second rule of this report). Internal audit is an independent, objective assurance and advisory activity designed 
to add value and improve the company's operations. The Internal Audit department helps achieve the company's 
objectives by providing a structured and disciplined approach to assessing and enhancing the effectiveness of risk 
management, internal control, and governance processes.

In line with our mission, the Internal Audit department provides the executive management, Risk Committee and the 
Board of Directors with information, assessments, recommendations and advice regarding the audited operations 
and other critical and ethical issues. Internal audits are conducted throughout all areas of the company's operations.

The primary responsibilities of the internal audit function can be summarized as follows:
• Evaluating the adequacy of the internal control systems
• Recommending improvements in controls
• Assessing compliance with policies, procedures, and sound business practices
• Conducting a thorough assessment of compliance with all approved policies and ethical standards
• Evaluating compliance with laws, guidelines, and regulations
• Examining operations to determine whether results are consistent with established objectives and whether 

processes are being carried out as planned
• Working closely with departments to identify and evaluate risks and controls without compromising the principle 

of independence
• Preparing an internal audit work plan based on a systematic risk assessment, including the risks/control issues 

identified by the executive management, the Audit Committee and the Board

The Chief Internal Auditor issues reports to the Audit Committee and the Board while carrying out the tasks 
and responsibilities assigned to the management. The Chief Internal Auditor meets with the Audit Committee of 
the Board periodically to report on the plans and results of the audit function and provide any other information 
required. In addition, he has direct access to the Chairman and the Board in matters of pressing importance.
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Rule VI: Promote Code of Conduct and Ethical Standards

Professional Conduct and Values
Promoting a Code of Conduct and ethical standards within a company under corporate governance principles 
requires a strategic and comprehensive approach. Here's how Zain effectively achieves this:
1.	 Leadership Commitment: The Board of Directors and executive management lead by example, demonstrating 

unwavering commitment to ethical behavior. Their actions and decisions set the tone for the entire organization. 
2.	 Clear Communication: The company has approved a well-defined and accessible code of conduct for the Board, 

management, employees and suppliers. The Code of Conduct outlines the company's values, expectations, and 
ethical guidelines. Our Code of Conduct sets out what we expect from all parties, such as the Board, Executive 
Management, employees, suppliers, and partners. This document is widely communicated to all employees, 
stakeholders, and partners and is published on the website.

3.	 Incorporate into Performance Evaluation: Adherence to the Code of Conduct and ethical standards is tied into 
performance evaluations and recognition systems. This reinforces the importance of ethical behavior in career 
progression.

4.	 Whistleblower Protection: The company implemented a confidential and safe mechanism for reporting ethical 
violations, such as an anonymous whistleblower form. This ensures security when reporting misconduct.

5.	 Transparency and Reporting: Annual reports and updates that highlight the company's efforts to uphold ethical 
standards are published on the website. This demonstrates accountability and progress to stakeholders.

6.	 Incorporated in Decision-Making: Zain integrates ethical considerations into decision-making processes and 
encourages employees at all levels to question and evaluate decisions from an ethical standpoint.

7.	 Third-Party Audits: Zain periodically engages external auditors to assess the company's adherence to ethical 
standards and the effectiveness of its internal controls.

8.	 Supplier and Partner Engagement: Zain extends ethical standards to suppliers, contractors, and partners and 
collaborates with them to ensure alignment with the company's ethical expectations. (Refer to the Supplier 
Code of Conduct on the company’s website.)

9.	 Continuous Improvement: Zain regularly reviews and updates the Code of Conduct to reflect changing industry 
norms, regulatory requirements, and stakeholder expectations.

10. Accountability Measures: We clearly define consequences for violating the Code of Conduct and ensure that 
disciplinary actions are fair, consistent, and aligned with company policies.

By implementing these strategies, Zain can effectively foster a culture of ethics and integrity, ultimately contributing 
to its long-term success and sustainability under the principles of corporate governance.

The company is firmly committed to the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), the Core 
Conventions of the International Labor Organization (ILO) and the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises. 

By doing so, we can have a positive and long-term impact, as corporate sustainability provides key competitive 
advantages. Zain does not rely on mere adherence to legal minimums, but as an industry leader, we aspire to be 
among the best in global sustainability practices. To achieve this, the Board, executive management, and all parties 
at Zain are committed to the highest human rights and labor standards and establishing a sound environment and 
good governance practices in all business activities.

Personal Data Protection and Privacy 
Zain and its subsidiaries and affiliates are subject to laws, regulations, charters, and resolutions enacted and 
promulgated by the relevant legislative bodies and regulatory authorities in each respective jurisdiction. In addition, 
Zain complies with international standards such as those issued by the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board 
(SASB) and the International Standards Organizations ISO/IEC 27001 information security management standard.

The protection and privacy of personally identifiable information (PII) entrusted to Zain by customers, clients, 
employees, suppliers, stakeholders, local and international strategic partners, and other individuals Zain works with 
are paramount to the organization. Accordingly, we are committed to protecting and respecting the privacy of all 
data subjects who engage with the company securely and transparently to comply with applicable legislation.

Zain embeds its privacy administration processes in its Group-wide regulatory compliance management and risk 
evaluation program, which actively supports the implementation of the company’s ‘4Sight’ strategy. The over-
arching privacy policy at Zain sets out the broad principles and guidelines for collecting, processing, storing, and 
disclosing personal data in line with applicable laws and regulations. We also issue privacy notices on the websites 
of all Zain operating companies. These privacy notices are regularly updated, provide information on the latest 
country-specific data protection laws and regulations, and outline any country-specific mandates we further 
implement to protect your data. Please refer to the company's website to view the full data protection and privacy 
policy. The policy is approved by the Board.

Human Rights
Zain is committed to respecting human rights as defined in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the 
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, and the ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and the 
Rights at work. The policy is also guided by the United Nations Guiding Principles for Business and Human Rights, 
the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, the 
Guidelines of the Organization for Cooperation and Economic Development for Multinational Companies, and it is in 
alignment with the principles of the United Nations Global Compact and the Global Network Initiative’s principles on 
Freedom of Expression and Privacy – GNI Principles. This policy applies to all Zain operating companies and those 
entities under Zain Group management control. The policy also applies to all our suppliers and business partners. 
Our suppliers are expected to adhere to the Zain Group Supplier Code of Conduct and the Zain Group Human 
Rights Policy. Zain is committed to monitoring this policy's implementation through its internal processes overseen 
by Group Sustainability, Group Risk Management, Group Corporate Governance and Group Legal, whose mandate 
is to report on a transparent basis the progress made on human rights issues to the Board. In addition, human rights 
issues are communicated in Zain’s Annual Corporate Sustainability Report.

Conflict of Interests
Zain's governance framework includes a set of policies aimed at protecting the rights of shareholders and other 
stakeholders. This framework includes the conflict-of-interest policy that defines employee actions when there is 
a potential conflict between their personal and the company's interests. The policy also sets limits for employees 
where possible conflicts may arise.

Board members and executive management at Zain are obligated to disclose every actual or potential case of 
conflict of interest, as defined within the company’s policy based on relevant laws, regulations, and international 
standards. Zain’s conflict of interest policy includes clear examples of cases of conflict of interest and the methods 
of addressing and dealing with them. A conflict of interest occurs when an individual’s interests influence their 
judgment, decisions, or actions in a way that negatively affects their professional commitments or responsibilities 
and raises questions about whether their decisions can be unbiased. Accordingly, Zain includes conflict of interest in 
its policies, procedures and charters and treats every case with top priority.

Board members are also obligated to disclose any personal interest in the business and contracts for the company’s 
account. This disclosure is recorded in the minutes of the meetings. The Board member with personal interests in 
the topic at hand refrains from participating in voting on the relevant resolution. If a Board member has a personal 
interest, a special report from the auditor shall be attached to this disclosure.

According to the CMA executive bylaw, the company assigns an independent expert to submit a report to the 
General Assembly or the Board regarding any transaction or any arrangement whereby each of the parties enters 
into any project or buys an asset or provides financing for it when the value of the transaction or arrangement is 
equivalent to 10% or more of the company’s total assets. Such reports are submitted before the deal or agreement 
is approved. 

The policy is based on several principles, such as protecting the rights of stakeholders and maximizing shareholders' 
value. In addition, it emphasizes maintaining the confidentiality of transactions and information issued by the Board.

Sanctions
Zain Group has developed a sanctions policy in line with applicable sanctions laws and regulations. This policy 
summarizes the precautions imposed by the sanctioning authorities that control the company’s ability to conduct 
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any activity in some high-risk regions or with sanctioned persons. This policy also sets out restrictions and 
measures which must be followed by every employee in the company consistently. The company is committed 
to complying with the sanction laws and regulations in all the countries in which it operates; this aligns with its 
strategy and vision as the most trusted network provider.

This policy covers the effects of non-compliance with the sanctions laws and regulations and the process for 
reporting such violations.

Anti-Corruption
The Board has adopted an anti-corruption policy within the framework of corporate governance at Zain. The anti-
corruption policy sets out the principles which Zain and its subsidiaries follow, based on zero tolerance for bribery 
and corruption. This policy aims to ensure appropriate measures are in place to combat corruption and bribery in all 
company operations to avoid any violations of relevant laws and regulations.

Zain Group strictly prohibits offering, authorizing, or receiving bribes under any circumstances, including bribery 
of individuals and government officials. Such actions are unethical and illegal. We strive to succeed with honesty 
and fairness, relying on our excellent performance and ethical business practices. We are committed to conducting 
our business activities with integrity, in line with our company Code of Conduct. This policy is communicated to 
all stakeholders, promoted, and supported by awareness and training initiatives, to ensure full understanding and 
compliance by all stakeholders.

The policy has been prepared under laws and regulations and covers various topics, including business conduct, 
giving and receiving gifts, doing business with a third-party, political and charitable contributions (Zain does 
not provide financial support to political parties and affiliations), financial facilities, non-controlling ownership 
percentages, commitment to maintaining accuracy and integrity in keeping company records, reporting and 
disciplinary measures in case of policy violation, conflict of interest, related party transactions, economic sanctions 
and anti-money laundering.

Anti-Money Laundering (AML) 
Zain’s commitment to the highest ethical and legal standards extends to its business operations across all countries. 
Accordingly, Zain Group takes all necessary measures to prevent money-laundering activities within its footprint. 
The Board approved this policy to ensure that Zain is committed to complying with all requirements of relevant 
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Funding Laws, Regulations and Standards. This policy aims to ensure 
the completion of risk-based controls that prevent the misuse of Zain Group assets by money launderers and those 
involved in financing terrorism. It also protects Zain, its employees, and stakeholders from involuntarily committing 
money laundering and terrorist financing violations. 

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion
Zain’s Board is committed to the diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) principles starting with the principles behind 
the composition of the Board, which is in line with the size and geographic spread of Zain, its portfolio, culture, 
and status as a listed company. The company recognizes the importance of a diverse Board in providing a range 
of opinions in the decision-making process, which is beneficial to the company's long-term success and protects 
stakeholder rights. When selecting Board members, the process is based on reasonable criteria, and there is no 
discrimination on any personal or physical attributes that do not speak to a person’s ability to perform as a member. 
The Board supports Zain’s DEI approach and management efforts to ensure that the diversity of the Board and 
Executive Management is continuously enhanced. 

The Board approved this policy which aims to promote diversity on the Board in terms of experience and knowledge 
regardless of gender, race, ethnic origin, disability, age, nationality, national origin, religion/belief, marital status, and 
social class. Zain Group opposes all forms of discrimination. This policy is largely set up to address the importance 
of a diverse Board in employing the unique identities, skills, and experiences of the members in a way that 
collectively benefits the company.

Zain is proud to be among the first telecom providers in the region to have established a DEI department to indicate 
how seriously the company uplifts our entire workforce and benefits society.

This DEI department adopts a series of carefully prepared programs and initiatives in more than one field, such as 
programs for gender diversity, a program for people with special needs, a program for youth empowerment, and an 
internal innovation platform (helping Zain employees to turn their ideas into startups of their own) and programs for 
mental health. As Zain believes its employees represent its greatest asset, it takes pride in its continuous efforts to 
support its employees. While Zain Group continues its programs and initiatives to enhance its workforce, it seeks 
at the same time to harness the power of this diversity to build a business model that inspires others and sets 
an example in the labor markets looking for a change. Details of DEI’s initiatives and policies are available on the 
company's website.

Rule VII: Ensure Timely and High-Quality Disclosure and Transparency
Disclosure mechanisms and characteristics
Zain adheres to the rules and guidelines of disclosure and transparency according to the Disclosure and 
Transparency Module issued by the CMA. The following are the most important policies concerned with ensuring 
transparency in the company's operations:

Disclosure policy
The company's governance framework includes a disclosure policy through which it ensures the accurate, realistic, 
and timely disclosure of all material information related to the company, including financial position, performance, 
ownership, and corporate governance. The policy aims to enhance the company's ability to comply with the rules, 
laws, and instructions issued by the CMA and other relevant regulatory bodies while ensuring fairness and equality 
in providing the right to access that information. 

The policy defines a framework for the proactive disclosure of information related to the company. It emphasizes 
achieving a balance between the confidentiality required by our customers with the information needed by 
stakeholders such as shareholders, regulators, and analysts. This policy aims to provide the necessary information 
to all stakeholders, whether they are employees, customers, members of society or the general public. This policy 
defines the principles and requirements of transparency and the types of information that will be disclosed to 
ensure that stakeholders are treated fairly. The Board monitors the disclosure process and communicates with 
internal and external stakeholders. A set of the company's internal policies has been published on the official 
website after the approval of the company's Board to provide a clearer picture of the company's internal processes, 
policies and procedures, which leads to a deeper connection with shareholders and other stakeholders and reaching 
the highest levels of trust with different groups of stakeholders. The Corporate Governance and Compliance 
Department is responsible for supervising the disclosure process in accordance with the requirements of the CMA 
to ensure full compliance by the company with the instructions contained in Module Ten of the CMA’s executive 
bylaw on disclosure and transparency. 

Accordingly, the Corporate Governance and Compliance Department works to provide any clarifications related 
to disclosure requirements. This department is the main point of contact responsible for communicating with and 
responding to the inquiries of the CMA and the relevant regulatory authorities.

Data protection and privacy policy
The company is legally and ethically obligated to protect customer information to ensure that it is not misused in a 
way that harms the customer’s interests or the company’s reputation. All employees are responsible for protecting 
customer information and not disclosing any information they are not authorized to disclose, following the relevant 
regulatory requirements. All employees are fully aware of all policies related to data protection, distribution, 
transmission, preservation, or disposal.

Disclosure archive
All public disclosures are posted on the company's website; with the approval of the Corporate Governance 
and Compliance Department and in cooperation with the Corporate Communications and Investor Relations 
Departments, the company utilizes its website to communicate with stakeholders (shareholders, investors, 
customers, regulatory authorities, etc.) and distribute company information that is required to be published. The 
information available on the website includes annual reports, quarterly reports, financial information, and market 
disclosures (for more than 12 years) and other information.
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Insider Trading Policy
Zain establishes adequate contractual arrangements that require insiders who have access to internal information 
about it and its customers to maintain the confidentiality of such information, not misusing it, transferring it 
or causing it to be transmitted directly or indirectly to other persons, and not urging other persons to deal in 
securities based on such inside information. In addition, Zain maintains a permanent record of the insider's trades. 
Accordingly, Boursa Kuwait is obligated to receive the insiders' watchlist and to verify that the people whose names 
appear in that list comply with the provisions of applicable laws and regulations when trading in securities. Boursa 
Kuwait is also obligated to consider the adherence of the insiders of the listed company not to trade during the 
prohibition periods indicated in the regulations and to announce all disclosures received accordingly.

Disclosures record for the Board of Directors and Executive Management
The company maintains a record that includes all the disclosures of Board members and Executive Management. 
The company is committed to updating this record according to the disclosures issued to ensure accuracy.

The company also maintains a record that includes the disclosures of the insiders. The information and disclosures 
are kept within the internal electronic library that facilitates the availability of information to the concerned parties at 
the appropriate time.

The company's official website contains a record that includes all the company's disclosures to the market that date 
back more than ten years.

Investor Relations (IR)
Zain is committed to providing information and reports to shareholders and potential investors through the Investor 
Relations (IR) department. The Board has approved an IR policy that confirms compliance with applicable laws, 
rules, and instructions, that covers all employees of the company and the company’s board of directors. The IR 
policy includes all means of communication with shareholders, potential investors, analysts, and the media; this 
includes annual and quarterly reports, news, prospectuses, memoranda for shareholders, press releases held by 
official spokespersons, and information on the company's website.

The most important principles of this policy are protecting shareholders’ rights, communicating with shareholders, 
and issuing disclosures to shareholders. Accordingly, important information is made available to shareholders 
through appropriate means of disclosure such as periodic reports, annual reports, the company’s website, Boursa 
Kuwait website, quarterly communication with analysts and relevant conferences, etc.

The responsibility for implementing this policy lies with the employees of the IR Department, in addition to other 
stakeholders in the company. This department plays a vital role in ensuring the protection of shareholders’ rights by 
the company. The IR department includes multiple competencies and expertise, which ensures easy and continuous 
communication with shareholders, potential investors, analysts, and the media.

The main objectives of Investor Relations  
1.	Establish consistent and reliable communication channels with investors in compliance with relevant regulations 

and laws, including those issued by the CMA and the Commercial Companies Law of the State of Kuwait
2.	Strengthen the company's position in the market and attract shareholders and investments
3.	Establish a link between executive management and the financial community to strengthen the relationship of 

executive management with analysts and stakeholders
4.	Provide financial and non-financial information related to the company to the Board of Directors, executive 

management, shareholders, and analysts. 

Following the disclosure of the financial statements, the IR department organizes a call between Executive 
Management and analysts to discuss the results of the company’s financial statements and open the door to any 
inquiries that analysts may have regarding the company’s performance. The transcripts of these calls are available 
on the company's website to be a reference for shareholders and the public in both Arabic and English.

The IR team and Executive Management attend IR conferences to attract potential investors' interest and hold 
individual meetings with local and international potential investors and existing shareholders. All executives 

attending these conferences are fully prepared to answer any questions or inquiries raised during the meetings, 
provided that these meetings meet all relevant regulatory requirements.

The IR department is responsible for assembling the company’s annual report, including requesting input from 
relevant departments. In addition, the IR team reviews the content received from these departments and ensures its 
consistency with the company’s strategy and approved public image.

Key highlights of the year 2023 for the Investor Relations Department:

• Achieved a significant accomplishment by elevating foreign ownership to 15.4% by the end of the year 2023, a 
record high international ownership since inception.

•	Participated in two different Corporate-Days, hosted by HSBC and Boursa Kuwait (targeting different 
geographical markets - London & Dubai).

•	Nominated as "Best IR Corporate and Professional Award" in the region by Middle East Investor Relations 
Association (MEIRA)

IT infrastructure and disclosure processes

•  The company's website includes all the disclosures that date back more than ten years. The website also includes 
periodic financial reports, analyst reports and other facts and indicators.

•  The website contains information about the Board, executive management and the company's code of conduct, 
and the main principles and values that support the company's operations.

•  Zain IR App: Developed in 2017, it is a comprehensive platform that caters to all IR activities and publications of 
the company. The Zain app primarily focuses on disseminating key information to stakeholders, such as company 
financials, shareholders' presentations, earnings calls and management transcripts. Additionally, it provides 
updated share price information, dividend details, and analysts’ consensus to ensure investors are well-informed 
about Zain's performance. The app also features an updated calendar that lets users track all the upcoming events 
related to Zain, ensuring that they do not miss any significant announcements. The Zain IR App is a crucial tool. 
It enhances the transparency and efficiency of all IR activities, ultimately leading to better communication with 
investors and greater value creation for all stakeholders.

•  The CMA is addressed by e-mail (in addition to mail) to provide the required information and disclosures.
•  Communication with the CMA takes place through the CMA’s electronic portal, which was established to facilitate 

the transactions of the entities covered by its supervision and enhance and raise work efficiency in an electronic 
environment.

•  The company follows the electronic system of disclosures through the Boursa Kuwait website to update 
disclosures and data.

•  The company submits all required documents, such as the company's annual financial statements, the request, 
and other requirements necessary for holding the AGM, through the online platform provided by Kuwait Clearing 
Company. Moreover, all requests and inquiries by stakeholders are also received electronically by the Ministry of 
Commerce. Additionally, the platform facilitates other procedures and services.

•  As listed in the Premier Market, Zain uses the electronic system provided by the Kuwait Clearing Company to hold 
its AGM and enable the companies' shareholders to participate in the shareholders' meetings without attending in 
person.

•  The company's intranet includes an electronic library that contains all the details and information, which are easily 
accessible at any time with the correct credentials.
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Rule VIII: Respect the Rights of Shareholders
Summary of shareholders ’meetings during the last three years

AGM for the year 
ending on 31/12/2020

Extraordinary general 
meeting 

Ordinary general 
meeting

AGM for the 
year ending on 

31/12/2021
AGM for the year 

ending on 31/12/2022

Date of BOD meeting 23/2/2021 9/5/2021 14/7/2021 10/2/2022 13/3/2023

Date and time of the General 
Shareholders Meetings

17/3/2021  
10:00 a.m.

8/6/2021 
10:00 a.m.

12/10/2021 
10:00 a.m.

22/3/2021 
10:00 a.m.

11/4/2023 
11:00 a.m.

Venue KCC Live streaming KCC Live streaming KCC Live streaming KCC Live streaming
Zain HQ (in-person) and  

KCC Live streaming 
(online)

Percentage of Shareholders in 
Attendance 72.49% 77.99% 66.43% 75.15% 80.1%

Equal Treatment of Shareholders and Protection of Shareholders’ Rights 
The company is committed to ensuring that all shareholders exercise their rights fairly. In addition, the company 
is committed to protecting shareholders' assets from any misuse by the Board, executive management, or key 
shareholders. The company treats all shareholders of the same class equally and without discrimination, in line 
with the company’s interests, and following the laws and regulations. The company is committed to providing the 
following rights to the shareholders: 
 
•  Recording the ownership value in the shareholders' register with Kuwait Clearing Company (KCC)
•  Disposal of shares through registration of ownership and/or transferring
•  Receipt of cash and share dividends
•  Acquiring a share of the company's assets in case of liquidation (after payment of all debts of the company)
•  Obtaining data and information about the company's business and operational and investment strategy regularly
•  Participation in meetings of the General Assembly of shareholders and vote on its decisions 
•  Election of Board members
•  Monitoring the performance of the company in general and the work of the Board in particular
•  Accountability of Board members or Executive Management if they fail to perform the tasks assigned  

to them

Shareholders also receive information and data following the laws. Shareholders are entitled to access the 
information contained in the Company's disclosure records. As part of the company’s corporate governance 
framework, the protection of shareholders’ rights policy has been developed to ensure the company’s commitment 
to respecting and protecting the rights of all shareholders per the relevant laws and regulations. In the provisions 
of the regulations and instructions issued by the regulatory authorities, this policy applies to the company, its 
subsidiaries, the board of directors, the executive management, and all employees about their role in protecting the 
rights of the shareholders.

Shareholders’ Register at the Kuwait Clearing Company (KCC)  
 
In April 2004, Zain signed an agreement with the Kuwait Clearing Company (KCC) to maintain a record of its 
shareholders with the KCC. Accordingly, the KCC provides the following:  
•	 Create an index for all shareholders, which includes the names, trading numbers, number of shares and 

nationalities.
•	 Update the data according to all trading activities on Boursa Kuwait
•	 Perform all procedures for transfer of ownership in addition to buy/sell transactions after obtaining all the required 

approvals from the regulatory authorities 
•	 Track procedures for lost/damaged certificates and the related issuance of new ones
•	 Distribute cash dividends and stock splits 
•	 Provide the company with shareholders’ balance reports on a daily/monthly basis 
•	 Provide the company with unclaimed dividend reports monthly
•	 Distribute outstanding share certificates, issue new shares for heirs, and register them 
•	 Record mortgage transactions on the company’s shares
•	 Prepare AGM invitations in coordination with the company
•	 Allow shareholders to obtain the company’s information or documents in compliance with laws and regulations 

Shareholders’ voting and participation at the AGM 

The company encourages all shareholders to participate in the Annual General Meetings (AGM) and to vote on all 
resolutions adopted by the Assembly, including the selection of the members of the Board. Any class of shareholders 
is entitled to attend the meetings of the General Assembly without paying any fees for their attendance. The voting 
in the General Assembly shall be by secret ballot.

The Board invites all shareholders to the AGM under the laws and regulations. When organizing the general 
meetings of the shareholders, the company includes the agenda and the date and place of the meeting in the 
invitation. In addition, the company provides all information related to the agenda items well before the General 
Assembly, particularly the reports of the Board, the external auditor and the financial statements. 

The company encourages shareholders to actively participate in the General Assembly, discuss the issues on the 
agenda and related inquiries, and ask questions to Board members and the external auditor. The Board or the external 
auditor shall answer the questions to the extent that they do not jeopardize the interests of the company. 

Shareholders are provided access to all the data contained in the disclosure register of the Board members and 
Executive Management members without any fees. In addition, shareholders are also entitled to access the minutes of 
the AGMs. 

The company sends out invitations for the extraordinary general assembly meeting at the request of a number of 
shareholders who own at least fifteen per cent (15%) of the company’s capital within thirty (30) days from the date of 
the request as stated in the relevant laws. In addition, shareholders who own a percentage of five per cent (5%) of the 
company's capital may add items to the agenda of the General Assembly meetings.

Each shareholder may file a case to nullify any decision issued by the Board or the general assembly (ordinary or 
extraordinary) in violation of the law, the company’s articles of association (AOA) or the company’s memorandum, or 
that was intended to harm the interests of the company. In addition, shareholders who own at least 15% of the capital 
may appeal before the court in the decisions of the ordinary and extraordinary General Assembly, which prejudice the 
rights of the minority shareholders.

Rule IX: Recognize the Roles of Stakeholders 

Protecting the rights of stakeholders

The demands of our stakeholders are constantly evolving and engaging with them regularly is essential to the 
continuity of our business. Zain is committed to protecting the rights of stakeholders and creating benefits and 
job opportunities by ensuring a stable and strong financial position for the company. Accordingly, the Board is 
responsible for setting standards for protecting the rights of all stakeholders and updating them, as appropriate, to 
clarify changes in the provisions of the law, regulations, and instructions issued by the regulatory bodies.

The purpose of this policy is to focus on the company's efforts to protect the rights of all stakeholders. This policy 
applies to the company, its subsidiaries, the Board, executive management, and employees, as each has a role in 
protecting the stakeholders' rights. Therefore, all members of the company's management and its employees must 
be aware of the requirements of this policy and the relevant laws and are working to comply with them.

Stakeholder categories include shareholders, regulators, customers, employees, the community, suppliers, and 
third-parties such as partners and competitors.

The company safeguards the protection of the rights of stakeholders through the following:
• Dealing with all stakeholders fairly and ensuring that members of the Board, related parties and stakeholders are 

treated fairly and without discrimination
• Allow stakeholders to access information and data related to their activities to obtain and refer to that information 

quickly and regularly

As the company guarantees the protection of the rights of stakeholders, it also expects all stakeholders to fulfil their 
obligations governed by contracts, laws and regulations issued by the relevant authorities.
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Stakeholder participation and following the company's operations

The major responsibilities of the company’s Board towards its stakeholders include:
•	 To appoint competent executive management – As executive management, headed by the CEO, is responsible 

for the day-to-day management of the company’s operations and for the implementation of the company’s 
strategy, it is one of the foremost responsibilities of the Board to select a company of personnel that is capable of 
performing this task competently.

•	 To effectively and efficiently supervise the company’s affairs – The company’s Board has overall responsibility 
for the company, including approving and overseeing the implementation of strategic objectives, risk strategy 
and corporate governance standards. This is in addition to the Board’s responsibility for overseeing executive 
management. The Board administers its supervisory duties directly or through its committees (Board Risk 
Committee, Board Audit Committee, and Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee).

•	 To adopt sound policies – The Board must provide executive management with a clear framework for managing 
the company’s operations. This is achieved by having oversight over the key policies followed within the company, 
covering such areas as investments, credit and asset and liability management, and other related policies.

•	 To remain abreast of the company’s conditions and performance – The Board is aware of any developments in the 
company’s internal or external environment. This enables the Board to intervene promptly when the need arises. 

•	 To maintain proper capitalization of the company – Capital adequacy is one of the primary measures of a 
company’s financial health. Therefore, it is the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the company remains 
reasonably capitalized, taking into account regulatory requirements and the company’s strategic objectives.

•	 To observe laws, by-laws, and instructions – The company is governed by a set of regulations with which it must 
comply. It is ultimately the responsibility of the Board to ensure that there are no violations.

Our People 

Communication Channels
•  Workshops 
•  Groupwide emails and awareness material
•  In-person events 
•  Annual employee engagement surveys 
•  Whistleblowing form 
•  Zainers app 

Priorities
•  Job security and satisfaction 
•  Employee benefits 
•  Opportunities for development and growth 
•  Competitive salaries 
•  Have a relation to company’s core values and principles 
•  Access to international networking opportunities 
•  Health and safety protection 
•  Mental health and wellbeing

Our Customers

Communication Channels
•  Interactive digital channel
•  Customer satisfaction surveys 
•  Store experience surveys 
•  Services available through app, website, retail stores, 

contact centers
•  Digital and alternative channels – inbound customer 

service agents & telesales 
•  Direct messaging, social media platforms and various 

media outlets 

Priorities
•  Reliable, accessible, innovative and affordable service 
•  Awareness about promotional material and other useful 

info 
•  Customized services 
•  Transparency and accuracy of billing 
•  Data protection and information security 
•  Efficient complaint resolutions
•  Feedback analysis 

Our Community

Communication Channels
•  Social media awareness campaigns 
•  Support and develop sustainable initiatives and activities 
•  Establish meaningful partnerships
•  Participate in community events, forums and workshops

Priorities
•  Build climate change mitigation and adaptation plans, in 

addition to biodiversity protection
•  Enable an inclusive digital society 
•  Responsible supply chain management 
•  Commitment to upholding health and safety standards. 
•  Establish community outreach programs that support 

underprivileged communities

Our Suppliers

Communication Channels
•  Open direct channels and automated process 

engagement 
•  Provide periodic assessments 
•  Supplier Code of Conduct
•  Check against conflict of interests, related party 

transactions, and sanctions policies
•  Efficient onboarding procedures

Priorities
•  Embedding principles of diversity and inclusion 
•  Incorporating sustainability standards 
•  Provide timely payments

Our Governments

Communication Channels
•  CMA online portal
•  Boursa Kuwait (disclosure portal, emails)
•  KCC (Kuwait Clearing Company) emails communications, 

eAGM
•  Inspection visits
•  Disclosure forms
•  Annual/periodic reports
•  Participation in events, workshops, forums
•  Meetings (in-person and virtual)
•  Website (disclosure archive, reports, articles of 

associations, policies)
•  Topic specific correspondence with regulatory authorities 
•  AGM

Priorities
•  Compliance with laws and regulations
•  Promoting best standards in the industry and the market
•  ESG principles 
•  Disclosure and transparency 
•  Raising awareness about key topics such as ESG, digital 

transformation and innovation investment

Our Investors

Communication Channels
•  Meetings, conferences (in-person and virtual)
•  Annual/interim reports and presentations
•  Press Releases 
•  Disclosure of company material info
•  Analyst Calls / Webcasts 
•  IR app/website/emails
•  Social Media 
•  Annual General Meetings (AGM)
•  Feedback and surveys

Priorities
•  Financial reporting and integrity
•  Communicating the Strategy
•  News about operations and activities 
•  Industry-specific news and updates 
•  Dividend Policy
•  ESG and corporate governance updates
•  Regulatory Updates
•  Investor Relations Events & Roadshows 
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•  Disclosure of company material info
•  Analyst Calls / Webcasts 
•  IR app/website/emails
•  Social Media 
•  Annual General Meetings (AGM)
•  Feedback and surveys

Priorities
•  Financial reporting and integrity
•  Communicating the Strategy
•  News about operations and activities 
•  Industry-specific news and updates 
•  Dividend Policy
•  ESG and corporate governance updates
•  Regulatory Updates
•  Investor Relations Events & Roadshows 

Our Stakeholders:
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Rule X: Encourage and Enhance Performance 
Board Training and Development Plan
Board evaluation is a legal requirement per corporate governance regulations in Kuwait, and it is one of the most 
important practices related to the Board’s performance. The Board of Zain clearly expresses the company’s vision, 
mission, and values; therefore, its performance is characterized by a clear purpose, effective leadership, and 
strategic direction.

The training program is designed to improve the effectiveness of the Board by expanding its awareness in all 
matters related to the company, its performance, the telecommunications sector, the markets in which it operates, 
and other important areas. The Board is always keen to utilize the available methods and techniques to improve its 
effectiveness.

The training program for the Board aims to create a real difference in the company’s performance. The Board 
develops its performance by exploring challenges related to the performance of its role. The Chairman of the Board 
reviews the members’ training and development needs based on the evaluation results and in cooperation with 
the BNRC. The Board seeks to develop its skills and competencies through training courses and increasing its 
knowledge of the leading technical aspects of the company's activity.

The company has prepared an induction program for the members of the Board that contains information about the 
company, its performance, mission and vision, and all internal policies and procedures, in addition to meeting with 
the executive management, conducting field visits to the company’s facilities, attending presentations on strategic 
plans and the most important matters related to financial and accounting affairs, risk management, and compliance 
programs, the company's internal and external auditors and legal advisors.

The company encourages members of the Board to attend training courses and seminars to develop members' skills 
related to the company's business.

Board Evaluation 
Board performance evaluation clarifies individual and group roles to be more effective, translating into better 
corporate governance. The Board, its committees and individual members are evaluated annually. The evaluation 
of the Board includes several topics that affect its performance, added value, and the objectives of the company in 
general. Among these measures are the following:

•	 Attendance and key performance indicators following the company's strategy and objectives and relevant laws 
and regulations

•	 The Board's commitment to laws and regulations that deal with various topics such as business development, 
formation of the board's structure, adoption of internal policies and other responsibilities and roles as determined 
by the regulations of the CMA

•	 Diversity, equity and inclusion in the composition of the Council
•	 Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Performance Standards
•	 Coordinating meetings, topics, and agendas by relevant laws
•	 The items of discussion, their objective and relevance and their impact on the company's performance
•	 Telecom industry trends and latest developments
•	 The company's risks and the most critical developments and procedures.
•	 Communication with stakeholders and the effectiveness of these channels
•	 Related party transactions and conflicts of interest
•	 Discussing the reports issued by the regulatory authorities, auditors, or any inspection team and the work plans
•	 Deviations from the approved budget
•	 Required training courses
•	 Acquiring required information in a timely manner

Many benefits can be considered for evaluating the Board and developing its performance. These benefits include 
creating an opportunity for members to self-reflect, analyze and assess areas of weakness, providing Board 
members with a tool to measure their effectiveness and competencies, stimulating a learning culture, and defining 
action plans to improve communication for effective decision-making. In addition, this process will improve the 
working relationship between the committees and the Board. It will facilitate identifying the training needs of the 
Board to ensure keeping abreast of the latest developments.

The Board’s annual self-evaluation is one of the most effective ways to create a space for communicating any 
concerns and measuring the board of directors' performance. During the self-evaluation process, the members are 
given the chance to expand their knowledge and awareness, be reminded of their responsibilities, and create a 
healthy Board culture. Self-evaluation is considered one of the most effective ways to give room for the members 
of the Board to express their opinions and add value to the performance of the Board, which is shaped by their 
personal touch and stems from the experience and background of each member.

The Board decided to conduct a self-assessment of their performance during 2022, covering all areas and criteria 
based on the assessments made during the past three years by an external party. In addition, the Board has 
incorporated updates to reflect recent trends and requirements by regulators and the best global standards. The 
Board evaluates itself and is assisted and supported by the Secretary of the Board and the BNRC. The evaluation 
is provided to all members by the Secretary in an online questionnaire, and the results are analyzed. Decisions 
regarding performance development are made based on the feedback.

Value Creation
Zain's Board is responsible for overseeing the company's business and the performance of executive management. 
The Board also oversees the overall conduct of achieving our strategic objectives and creating long-term success 
to generate sustainable value for our shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board seeks to lay the foundation 
for a bright and sustainable future, aiming to accelerate growth through responsible, inclusive and sustainable 
technology. The goal is to ensure that Zain continues to build trust and create value for stakeholders. In addition, the 
Board monitors progress on the digital impact and sustainability policy and oversees progress in achieving goals 
related to climate and the environment.

Zain has adopted sustainability practices in response to emerging challenges and stakeholder expectations 
through environmental, social and governance (ESG standards. Strategic focus in these ESG areas leads to superior 
financial performance and motivates the Board and Executive Management to keep abreast of developments in the 
industry and achieve the highest value for shareholders and stakeholders. In addition, trust and integrity in business 
operations lead to the attraction and retention of shareholders and increased customer loyalty. These non-financial 
factors act as sources of competitive advantage, which increases the company's value in the long run.

Similar positive effects resulting from an excellent performance in the areas of ESG come through more operational 
capabilities, quality of management, increase in confidence and efficiency of execution, and more efficient 
management of capital. These factors also indicate the company's ability to make sound decisions strategically. As a 
result, it leads to allocating and attracting wealth and leading the company in an effective, productive and valuable 
way. In addition, ESG disclosures impact the company’s reputation, leading to an increase in the company's market 
value, thus, achieving higher value for shareholders in the long-term.

Rule XI: Focus on the importance of social responsibility
A summary of the development of a policy that ensures a balance between each of the company's goals and 
society's goals.

The Corporate Sustainability (CS) department at Zain is responsible for assessing the company’s environmental, 
social, economic, and human rights impact to create long-lasting value for the organization and its stakeholders. 
The CS department works cross-functionally to embed the CS strategy across the company’s entire value chain. 
Zain’s CS strategy aims to provide meaningful connectivity that leads to equitable and inclusive systemic change 
across Zain’s communities.  

The company’s CS policy supports and outlines the role of the CS department and ensures the strategy is 
embedded across the company’s business activities. The CS strategy is in direct alignment with the company’s 
4sight strategy, contributing towards achieving the company’s goals and strategic targets. The CS policy is an 
official statement that confirms Zain’s commitment to addressing key social, economic, environmental, and human 
rights challenges in its markets. The key focus areas highlighted in the policy are an extension of Zain’s overall CS 
strategy, which include but are not limited to climate change, supply chain management, data privacy and security, 
child online safety, and youth unemployment. 
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The CS policy is available on the company’s official website to ensure all stakeholders can access the policy in 
Arabic and English. 

An overview of the programs and initiatives in the field of social work
Under Zain’s newly established Corporate Sustainability strategy 2020-2025, the company continues to establish 
programs that help support the achievement of the strategic targets. 

1.  Climate Change: 

In 2023, Zain continued to embrace its evolving landscape by revisiting the assumptions regarding climate-
related issues and how they might impact the business in the short-, medium- and long term. To remain agile 
and competitive and address its stakeholders’ concerns, the company took strides to further its climate action 
agenda and transition to a Net-Zero economy. 
 
To do so and embark on a comprehensive transition, Zain continued addressing its climate impacts. The 
company implemented a Climate Change Compliance Framework that dictates adaptation and mitigation 
initiatives. This framework allows Zain to assess its business resilience to physical and transition risks, creating 
more value for its shareholders and customers.

From a community perspective, the company persisted in monitoring and evaluating behavioral changes related 
to climate issues. Zain established specific quantitative targets for each market, aiming to engage 40% of its 
customer base by 2025. Furthermore, Zain is intensifying its commitment to biodiversity conservation and 
nature preservation through collaborative partnerships with various stakeholders, including governmental 
entities and environmental organizations.

Each market conducted a variety of communication campaigns where Zain embedded pre- and post-surveys to 
assess and measure generated impacts. The following are examples of the awareness campaigns launched in 
each market: 

Bahrain
•	 Zain Bahrain partnered with ‘Our Sea Remediation and Waste Management’ for a beach cleanup using 

solar-powered robotic technology called ‘bebot.’ Launched in November 2023, the initiative has removed 
5.8 tons of waste from 24,750 square meters of marine shorelines, contributing to biodiversity conservation. 
The goal is to segregate the collected waste for recycling, reuse, or eco-friendly disposal. The partnership 
plans to expand to larger areas across Bahrain in 2024. 

Iraq
•	 In collaboration with UNICEF, 100 acacia trees planted in three schools in Karbala as part of a biodiversity 

initiative aimed at promoting sustainable practices and fostering a green and healthy learning environment 
for the youth.

Jordan
•	 In 2008, Zain Jordan established the Zain Forest in Jerash Governate as part of its commitment to combat 

climate change and preserve nature. In collaboration with the Arab Group for the Protection of Nature, 
both entities nurture and fertilize the forest trees. In 2023, to address increasing soil erosion, the team 
planted 8,500 hardwood trees, mitigating ecological imbalances, and attracting wildlife, including migratory 
birds. The Zain Forest contributed to a reduction of 711 tons of CO2 emissions, aligning with the emission 
reduction strategy. 

  
Kuwait
•	 Zain Kuwait sustained a 25-year partnership with the Kuwait Dive Team, focusing on ecological preservation 

and biodiversity in Kuwait's sea. Through coastal cleanups and school initiatives involving 80 female middle 
school students, the partnership raises awareness about preserving marine biodiversity. A dedicated boat 
highlights Zain Kuwait's commitment to coastal biodiversity. The team removed 4,165 tons of waste from 
coastal areas and coral reefs through this impactful partnership.

Saudi Arabia
•	 Red Sea Global and Zain KSA have unveiled the world's first zero-carbon 5G network at The Red Sea's Six 

Senses Southern Dunes resort, powered 100% by renewable energy from over 760,000 solar panels. This 
groundbreaking collaboration, integrating sustainability and cutting-edge technology, reflects a commitment 
to regenerative tourism and aligns with Vision 2030's goals for clean energy, carbon neutrality by 2060, and 
environmental and biodiversity preservation. 

South Sudan
•	 Zain South Sudan reached 55,6203 people this year through its engagement activities on social media. 

Some of the topics that the company focused on included water conservation and plastic pollution. 

2. Operating Responsibly

To address ESG impacts, Zain’s approach to responsible supply chain management encompasses all the 
company’s operations. The company has been working to upskill suppliers and further develop their awareness 
and knowledge on sustainability-related components. In 2023, Zain launched its second training video 
highlighting the importance of upholding human rights, promoting ethical labor practices, and grievance 
mechanisms were set in place.

This year, Zain further developed its physical audit process by creating an additional level of verification by 
establishing an observation form. This form ensures Zain reports on risks identified because of physical audits. 
The observation form ranks the severity of the observation raised and if considered high-risk and a violation of 
the supplier code of conduct, the supplier undergoes a termination process. Throughout the year, zero suppliers 
were terminated based on results of the physical audit.  

Operation Bahrain Iraq Jordan Kuwait Saudi Arabia Sudan South Sudan

Number of Suppliers 32 18 90 40 2 0 36

* Due to the political crisis, Sudan was not able to conduct the training for its suppliers this year.

Data Privacy
To address the growing concerns over data privacy, Zain aims to empower marginalized communities 
through targeted training programs equipping individuals from these communities with essential 
knowledge and skills related to data privacy. By fostering awareness and understanding, Zain seeks to 
bridge the digital literacy gap and empower marginalized groups to navigate the evolving landscape of 
data protection effectively.

Throughout the year, each of Zain’s operations finalized its plan on the data privacy programs and 
identified the target segment. Some of the operations progressed their efforts while others will be 
conducting them in 2024.   
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3. Inclusion 
People with Disabilities:

•	 To foster inclusivity, Zain employees, including sales agents, human resources, corporate communications, 
technology, and others, are learning sign language to better interact with customers, colleagues, and 
potential hires with hearing impairments. In 2023, 88 more employees were trained, bringing the total to 
over 385 across Zain's operations in their respective national sign languages. 

•	 Zain Bahrain advanced its 'Natawasel' service, the first sign language video call center in government 
health centers. Developed to prevent medical misdiagnoses for the deaf and hard-of-hearing, Natawasel 
collaborated with the Bahraini Deaf Society. Video call services are available in 27 health centers, with over 
891 calls logged. In 2024, Zain Bahrain aims to extend this service to the country's traffic and emergency 
lines.

Women in Tech (WiT)

Women in Tech was established in 2021, based on research conducted on women in STEM-related fields in 
the MENA region. Zain continued to scale its Women in Tech program across its operating markets where it 
matches female STEM students with experts from Zain’s operations to be mentored. Through these successful 
matches, the program aims to enable future generations of females to enter the field with the promise of 
becoming change-makers in the industry.  
 
In 2023, the third cycle of Women in Tech was launched in Iraq, Jordan, and Saudi Arabia. Every year, the 
program evolves to better address the needs of the target community through focus groups, surveys, and 
feedback sessions. A total of 408 young women joined the program across the Group, showcasing a 6% 
increase from 2022.

4. Generation Youth:

Zain Group scored 8.4/10 in the Children’s Right and Business 2023 Global Benchmark, ranking as fifth in the 
Telecom sector and 21st company across all sectors. It reached Leader position against a sector average of 
5.8/10 and a regional average of 3.4/10.

Child Online Safety 

•	 Zain continued to take major strides in installing mechanisms that prevent child sexual abuse material 
(CSAM) through Project Arachnid and the Internet Watch Foundation (IWF) across its operations. As part of 
the ongoing commitment to online safety, Zain remains vigilant in adopting technologies that enhance the 
detection and prevention of CSAM, thus contributing to a safer and more secure digital space for all. 

*Due to the political crisis, Sudan was not able to conduct the physical audit this year. Operation Target Segment  Progression in 2023 

Bahrain  Elderly Community  

Zain Bahrain conducted awareness sessions for the 
elderly community on the importance of data privacy 

and provided tips on how to stay safe online.  

In addition, through the company’s engagement with 
its suppliers, Zain Bahrain elevated the partnership 

by training migrant workers from its suppliers 
on data privacy. This approach strengthens the 

relationship with suppliers and empowers its value 
chain with the skills needed to become digitally 

proficient. 

Iraq Migrant Workers  

Zain Iraq hosted a cybersecurity awareness session 
for students that interned with the company during 

the summer vacation. The topics covered in the 
session included: Information, devices, wireless 
security, social engineering, and safe internet 

browsing. 

Jordan  Students  

30 summer interns working in Zain Jordan’s mobile 
maintenance centers participated in a cybersecurity 

awareness session to educate them on the 
significance of data security, providing essential 
knowledge and skills to safeguard themselves 

against cyber threats.

Kuwait  Students 

Zain Kuwait will work on adapting the employees’ 
data privacy training program to a marginalized 

segment. Throughout the year, Zain Kuwait worked 
on identifying the segment they plan to target. 

Saudi Arabia  
Target group is under 

development  

In 2023, 3,093 participants from Zain KSA 
subsidiaries, vendors, and partners underwent 
the ‘Be aware-Be secure’ cybersecurity training 

and awareness program, reinforcing a robust 
cybersecurity culture across the organization and 

its extended network. The plan is to customize the 
program for university students. 

Sudan Students 
Sudan was not able to finalize its plan due to the 

impact of the war.

South Sudan  -
Zain conducted a session for 10 students from the 

Catholic University in Juba on the importance of data 
privacy. 

Opco Progress

Zain Bahrain
Already installed an extensive CSAM blocking per 

TRA requirements  

Zain Iraq  Launched Q4 2023

Zain Jordan  Launched Q4 2022 

Zain Kuwait  Launched Q3 2021  

Zain Saudi Arabia   Launched Q2 2023

Zain Sudan   
Throughout the conflict, Zain maintained its installation and 

operations with the Internet Watch Foundation
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•	 The company is a part of the revitalized GSMA Mobile Alliance against Digital Child Sexual Exploitation. 
The Mobile Alliance is centered on taking proactive steps to fight technology-facilitated child sexual 
exploitation. It adopts a multi-stakeholder approach and engages with key international stakeholders 
to ensure a well-coordinated response. The efforts include setting and promoting standards, offering 
online safety education, supporting national helplines, collaborating with law enforcement, using 
influence to encourage multi-stakeholder action, and staying informed through consultation with 
partners within the Alliance.

Digital Literacy 
  
•	 For the fourth consecutive year, Zain Bahrain partnered with the Supreme Council for Women to offer 

the Girls for Tech program, powered by Clever Play, an organization that embeds STEM learning in 
children’s education. The program provides girls aged 8-14 with skills on coding, website creation, and 
basic robotics.   

 2020 2021 2022 2023

Number of Users 1,000 girls 100 girls 250 girls 585 girls

Youth Unemployment 

•	 The Ra’idat Program, a local competition initiated by the French Embassy in Iraq and executed 
in collaboration with Zain Iraq and the Station, the first co-working space for entrepreneurs in 
Baghdad, aims to support and empower female Iraqis in their entrepreneurial pursuits. This initiative 
provides a platform for women across different cities in the country, fostering their business 
development and implementation. In 2023, the program achieved significant participation, with over 
150 females engaging in the competition, underscoring its impactful role in promoting and nurturing 
entrepreneurship among Iraqi women.  

 2020 2021 2022

Number of 
Youth 87 trainees 76 trainees 87 trainees

Launched in 2008, Zain Jordan continued to provide training for youth with mobile maintenance skills to 
increase employment opportunities under its Mobile Maintenance Center. This year, the company trained 
youth in mobile maintenance, fixing fiber technology, and gaming devices. Across six governorates 
where the centers are located, 203 graduated the program and 162 were employed in 2023.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Qualified Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
of Mobile Telecommunications Company K.S.C.P. (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter 
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of 
our report, the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as 
at 31 December 2023, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards) 
(IFRSs).

Basis for Qualified Opinion	
As disclosed in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the Group has excluded the effects reported 
therein of applying International Accounting Standard 
(IAS) 29: Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies with respect to its subsidiaries in the 
Republic of Sudan. It is not possible to determine with 
reasonable certainty the exact impact of applying 
hyperinflationary accounting for these subsidiaries as 
the Group has not performed the required calculations. 
In these circumstances, we are unable to quantify the 
effect of the departure from IAS 29.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the International 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.

Emphasis of Matter
We draw attention to note 2 of the consolidated financial 
statements, which describe that the Group’s operations 
in Sudan have been affected as a result of the military 
operations taking place in Sudan since 15 April 2023. 
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current year. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition
The Group recognized revenue from telecom services 
amounting to KD 1.9 billion for the year ended 31 December 
2023.  

There is inherent complexity in the telecom services revenue 
recognition process because of the complexity of the related 
Information Technology (“IT”) environment, the processing 
of large volumes of data through a number of different IT 
systems and the combination of different products.  

The process from setting up of customers in network 
system through generation of call records till recognition of 
revenue in the accounting records is highly automated and 
does not involve significant judgements. However, there is a 
risk management override related to revenue occurrence as 
there could be inappropriate manual journal entries, given 
revenue is a key performance indicator for stakeholders.
 
Even though the inherent risk of complexities in the  
revenue recognition process is reduced through the highly 
automated nature of the systems, due to the inherent risk 
of fraud associated with revenue recognition, particularly 
occurrence of revenue as described above, we have 
considered this as a key audit matter.  

The accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in 
note 2.3.16 and the related disclosures are made in note 19 
and note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included:
•	An understanding of the significant revenue processes and 

identifying the relevant controls, IT systems, interfaces and 
reports;

•	An evaluation of the relevant IT systems, with the assistance 
of our internal IT specialists, and testing the design and 
implementation of relevant internal controls related to revenue 
recognition. 

•	Testing the operating effectiveness of relevant controls over 
the recording of revenue transactions and the change control 
procedures in place around the systems. 

•	Verifying key reconciliations performed by the Group’s Revenue 
Assurance team, including testing end to end reconciliation from 
business support systems to billing and rating systems to the 
general ledger

•	Identifing revenue related manual journal entries posted to the 
general ledger and  agreeing these entries to the underlying 
supporting documentation on a sample basis.

•	Testing a sample of subscribers to determine that the revenue is 
recognised based on a valid customer contract.

•	Verifying the reconciliation of deferred revenue to the charging 
system and the recognition of this revenue in profit or loss.

We also assessed the disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements relating to this matter against the requirements of IFRSs.

Impairment of Goodwill

As at 31 December 2023, goodwill is carried at KD 534 million 
which represents 10.7% of the total assets. 

The impairment test of goodwill performed by management is 
significant to our audit because the assessment of the recoverable 
amount of goodwill under the value-in-use basis is complex and 
requires considerable judgment on the part of management. 
Estimates of future cash flows are based on management’s views 
of variables such as the growth in the telecommunications sector, 
economic growth, expected inflation rates and yield. 

Therefore, we identified the impairment testing of goodwill as a 
key audit matter. 

The Group’s policy on assessing impairment of goodwill is set out 
in note 2.3.8 and related disclosures are made in note 12 to the 
consolidated financial statements.	

We evaluated the controls over the impairment assessment 
process to determine if they had been appropriately designed and 
implemented. 

With the support of our internal valuation experts, we  
benchmarked and challenged key assumptions forming the 

Group’s value-in-use calculation including the cash flow 
projections and discount rate. 

We compared actual historical cash flows with previous forecasts 
and assessed differences, if any, were within an acceptable range. 
We assessed the cash flow forecasts and compared the discount 
rate and growth rate to market data. 

We analyzed the sensitivities such as the impact on the valuation 
if the growth rate would be decreased, or the discount rate would 
be increased. 

We also assessed the disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements relating to this matter against the requirements of 
IFRSs.

Corporate Governance Report 2022
Independent Auditor’s Report
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Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of the information included in the Annual 
Report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023. The other information does not include the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the report of the Company’s Board of Directors prior to the date of our 
auditor’s report and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Group’s Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 
2023 after the date of our auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  We are unable to 
conclude if the other information is materially misstated as a result of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion 
section of our report.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:
•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of accounts have been kept by the Company and the consolidated financial statements, 
together with the contents of the report of the Company’s Board of Directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, 
are in accordance therewith. We further report that we obtained all the information and explanations that we required for 
the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements incorporate all the information that is required by the 
Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 and its Executive Regulations and by the Company's Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of 
Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of 
the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 and its Executive Regulations or of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles 
of Association, as amended, have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2023 that might have had a material effect on 
the business of the Company or on its financial position.

We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any material violations of the provisions of 
Law No. 7 of 2010, concerning the Capital Markets Authority and its related regulations, as amended, during the year ended 31 
December 2023, that might have had a material effect on the business of the Company or on its financial position.

Bader A. Al-Wazzan  
Licence No. 62A
Deloitte & Touche - Al-Wazzan & Co.

Kuwait
06 March 2024

Independent Auditor’s Report
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2023 2022

ASSETS Note(s) KD ’000 KD ’000
Current assets
Cash and bank balances 4.1  313,547  232,227 
Bank balances held in customers’ account 4.2  12,967  8,182 
Trade and other receivables 5  893,252  784,406 
Contract assets 19.2  76,094  70,457 
Inventories 6  54,945  48,144 
Investment securities at fair value through profit or loss 7  35,130  34,129 

   1,385,935  1,177,545 
Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale 8  4,024  259,759 

 1,389,959  1,437,304 
Non-current assets
Contract assets 19.2  54,017  49,155 
Investment securities at FVOCI 7  11,698  17,600 
Investments in associates and joint venture 9  206,472  96,533 
Other non-current assets 11  59,685  42,328 
Right of use of assets 10  128,191  106,461 
Property and equipment 11  1,109,050  1,067,694 
Intangible assets and goodwill 12  2,036,624  2,132,433 

 3,605,737  3,512,204 
Total Assets  4,995,696  4,949,508 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13  1,089,330  983,262 
Deferred revenue 19.2  63,383  64,270 
Income tax payables 14  19,118  18,604 
Due to banks 15  169,881  213,559 
Lease liabilities 16  28,862  19,424 

   1,370,574  1,299,119 
Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale 8  1,010  88,281 

1,371,584 1,387,400
Non-current liabilities
Due to banks 15  1,141,657  1,152,999 
Lease liabilities 16  147,039  85,375 
Other non-current liabilities 17  375,181  427,874 

 1,663,877  1,666,248 
 

Equity
Attributable to the Company’s shareholders
Share capital 18 432,706 432,706
Share premium 1,707,164 1,707,164
Legal reserve 18 216,354  216,354 
Foreign currency translation reserve 18  (1,556,226)  (1,513,879)
Investment fair valuation reserve  (14,070)  (9,353)
Other reserves 18  2,998  3,855 
Retained earnings  457,025  392,999 

1,245,951 1,229,846
Non-controlling interests 27  714,284  666,014 
Total equity 1,960,235 1,895,860
Total Liabilities and Equity 4,995,696 4,949,508
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2023 2022
Note(s) KD ’000 KD ’000

Revenue 19.1  1,908,942 1,728,058
Cost of sales  (617,415) (565,587)
Operating and administrative expenses 20  (553,434) (457,259)
Expected credit loss on financial assets (ECL)  (33,288)   (32,247)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment 10,11,12,2.1  (345,391) (335,289)
Interest income  14,048 4,820
Investment income 21  11,056 5,478
Share of results of associates and joint venture 9  1,172 3,605
Other (expenses) / income  (19,996) 1,520
Gain on sale and lease back transactions 8  84,212 402
Impairment of goodwill 12  -   (21,197)
Finance costs 22  (126,870) (88,303)
Gain from currency revaluation  6,043 1,883
Gain from disposal of a subsidiary 8  2,711 -
Profit before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat, 
income taxes and Board of Directors’ remuneration 331,790 245,884
Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for Advancement of Sciences  (2,232) (2,027)

National Labour Support Tax and Zakat 23  (15,101) (8,091)
Income tax expenses 24  (23,191)   (10,939)
Board of Directors’ remuneration  (479) (435)
Profit for the year  290,787 224,392

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company  215,473 195,972
Non-controlling interests  75,314 28,420

 290,787 224,392

Earnings per share (EPS)
Basic and diluted – Fils 25 50 45
 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
 as at 31 December 2023

Osamah Othman Alfuraih
Chairman

Bader Nasser Al Kharafi
Vice Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 
Year ended 31 December 2023
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                            Equity attributable to Company’ shareholders

Balance at 1 January 2023  432,706  1,707,164  216,354 (1,513,879) (9,353) 3,855 392,999 666,014 1,895,860

Profit for the year - - - - - - 215,473 75,314 290,787

Other comprehensive 
income for the year - - - (42,347) (4,717) (857) - (2,302) (50,223)

Total comprehensive 
income for the year - - - (42,347) (4,717) (857) 215,473 73,012 240,564

Transactions with 
shareholders of the 
Company, recognized 
directly in equity:

Non-controlling interest 
arising on the acquisition 
(note 3)

- - - - - - - 166 166

Cash dividends (note 18) - - - - - - (151,447) - (151,447)

Cash dividends to non-
controlling interest of 
subsidiaries (2022)

- - - - - - - (24,908) (24,908)

Balance at 31 December 
2023  432,706  1,707,164  216,354  (1,556,226)  (14,070)  2,998  457,025  714,284  1,960,235 

Balance at 1 January 2022 432,706 1,707,164 216,354 (1,499,458) (4,620) (2,492) 339,781 622,581 1,812,016

Profit for the year - - - - - - 195,972 28,420 224,392

Other comprehensive 
income for the year - - - (14,421) (4,694) 6,347 - 17,229 4,461

Total comprehensive 
income for the year - - - (14,421) (4,694) 6,347 195,972 45,649 228,853

Realised loss on equity 
securities at FVOCI  - - - - (39) - 39 - -

Transactions with 
shareholders of the 
  Company, recognized 
directly in equity:

Cash dividends (note 18) - - - - - - (142,793) - (142,793)

Cash dividends to non-
controlling interest of 
subsidiaries (2021)

- - - - - - - (2,216) (2,216)

Balance at 31 December 
2022 432,706 1,707,164  216,354 (1,513,879)  (9,353) 3,855 392,999 666,014 1,895,860

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Total
equity

Retained 
earnings

Investment
fair 

valuation 
reserve

Legal
reserve

Share
capital

Non-
controlling 
interests

Other 
reserves

Share 
premium

Foreign 
currency 

translation
reserve

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income Year ended 31 December 2023

KD ‘0002023 2022

 KD ’000 KD ’000

 Profit for the year 290,787 224,392

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Foreign exchange differences on translating foreign operations  (35,723)  (8,051)  

Less: Gain reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of foreign operation  (5,067) -

 (40,790) (8,051)

Other reserves  (2,885)  18,050

 (43,675)   9,999

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 

Fair value loss on investments in equity instruments designated as at FVOCI  (7,102) (4,694)

Other reserves  554  (844)

 (6,548) (5,538)

Total comprehensive income for the year 240,564 228,853

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company  167,552 183,204

Non-controlling interests  73,012 45,649

 240,564 228,853

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended 31 December 2023
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Note(s) KD ’000 KD ’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year before income tax, KFAS, NLST, and Zakat  331,311 245,449
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 10,11,12, 
2.1  345,391 335,289

ECL on financial assets  33,288  32,247 
Interest income  (14,048)  (4,820)
Investment income 21  (11,056)  (5,478)
Share of results of associates and joint venture 9  (1,172)  (3,605)
Gain on sale and lease back transactions 8  (84,212)  (402)
Impairment of goodwill 12  -    21,197 
Finance costs 22  126,870  88,303 
Gain from currency revaluation  (6,043)  (1,883)
Gain from disposal of a subsidiary 8  (2,711)  -
Gain on sale of property and equipment  1,012 136
Cash flows from operating activities before working capital changes  718,630  706,433 
Increase in bank balances held in customers’ account 4.2  (4,754)  (8,182)
Increase in trade and other receivables  (141,196)  (114,103)
(Increase) / decrease in inventories  (7,570)  11,270 
Decrease in trade and other payables and deferred revenue  (7,953)  (83,289)
Cash generated from operations  557,157  512,129 
Payments: 
Income tax  (7,471)  (11,338)
Kuwait Foundation for Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)  (2,027)  (6,816)
National Labour Support Tax and Zakat  (5,550)  (3,153)
Net cash from operating activities  542,109  490,822 

Cash flows from investing activities
Deposits maturing after three months and cash at banks under lien 4.1  4,948  (3,878)
Proceeds from sale of investment securities  60,010 758
Investments in securities  (1,076) (5,107)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 3  (10,942) -
Investment in associate and joint venture  (1,363) (115)
Acquisition of property and equipment (net)  (214,704) (182,766)
Acquisition of intangible assets (net)  (79,327) (77,424)
Proceeds from sale of telecom assets (sale and lease back) 8  199,274 589
Interest received  3,606 2,713
Dividends received  135 331
Net cash used in investing activities  (39,439) (264,899)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings 15  142,860 458,543
Repayment of bank borrowings 15  (207,361) (420,518)
Repayment of lease liabilities  (43,159) (64,635)
Dividends paid to Company’s shareholders  (151,465) (141,872)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders of subsidiaries  (24,760) (2,215)
Finance costs paid  (104,194) (53,340)
Net cash used in financing activities  (388,079) (224,037)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  114,591 1,886
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (28,323) (5,421)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  226,181 229,716
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4  312,449 226,181
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1. Incorporation and activities 
Mobile Telecommunications Company K.S.C.P. (the “Company”) is a Kuwaiti shareholding company incorporated in 
1983. Its shares are traded on the Kuwait Stock Exchange. The registered office of the Company is at P.O. Box 22244, 
13083 Safat, State of Kuwait.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) along with associates provide mobile telecommunication services in 
Kuwait and 7 other countries (31 December 2022 - Kuwait and 7 other countries) under licenses from the governments 
of the countries in which they operate; purchase, deliver, install, manage and maintain mobile telephone systems; and 
invests surplus funds in investment securities.

The Company is a subsidiary of Oman Telecommunications Company SAOG, Oman (“Parent Company”).

These consolidated financial statements were authorized and approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the 
Company on 06 March 2024 and are subject to approval of the shareholders at their forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting. 

2. Basis of preparation and material accounting policy information

 2.1  Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). These 
consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis of measurement adjusted for the 
effects of inflation where entities operate in hyperinflationary economies and modified by the revaluation at fair 
value of financial assets held as “at fair value through profit or loss”, “at fair value through other comprehensive 
income” and “derivative financial instruments”. These consolidated financial statements have been presented in 
Kuwaiti Dinars (KD), rounded to the nearest thousand. 

The economy of Republic of South Sudan became hyperinflationary in 2016. Accordingly, the results, cash flows 
and financial position of the Group’s subsidiary in South Sudan have been expressed in terms of the measuring unit 
current at the reporting date in accordance with IAS 29: Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies. The 
methods used to measure the fair value and adjustments made to the accounts of Group’s entities that operate in 
the hyperinflationary economies are discussed further in the accounting policies and in the respective notes.

In 2015, the Group noted that the economy of the Republic of Sudan, where the Group has subsidiaries, may be 
hyperinflationary from the beginning of 2015. This was based on the general price index showing the cumulative 
three-year rate of inflation exceeding 100% at that time. However, International Accounting Standard, IAS 29: 
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies, does not establish an absolute rate at which hyperinflation is 
deemed to arise and states that it is a matter of judgment when restatement of financial statements in accordance 
with this Standard becomes necessary. In addition, the Group noted that in the 2014 International Monetary Fund 
(IMF) Sudan country report, the cumulative projected three year inflation rate outlook for Sudan in 2016 to be 
around 57% and thus, applying IAS 29 in 2015, could have entailed going in and out of hyperinflation within a short 
period which was confirmed when the Republic of Sudan went out of hyperinflation in 2016. The Republic of Sudan 
has been again declared as hyperinflationary in 2018. Based on the above matters, Group believes that there is no 
definitive basis to apply IAS 29 at this stage. However, Group will review it on an ongoing basis, accordingly it has 
not quantified the impact of applying IAS 29 as of 2023. 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. It also requires management to exercise its 
judgment in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving a high degree of judgment or 
complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these consolidated financial statements are 
disclosed in note 35.

20222023

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2023

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2023

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2023
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Political uncertainty in Sudan
On 15 April 2023, a violent power struggle erupted in Khartoum, the capital of Sudan, involving the two primary 
factions of the ruling military regime. This conflict has directly affected the Group's operations in Sudan and its 
telecommunication assets, as certain areas in Sudan continue to experience high levels of hostility or temporary 
control by opposing forces. These events have had an adverse impact on the country's economy and consequently, 
on the Group's business and operational outcomes in Sudan.

As of the issuance date of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has not incurred any significant 
damage to crucial assets that would hinder its ability to sustain operations.

Since 15 April 2023, continuous monitoring of network and base station equipment has been in place, particularly 
in areas experiencing significant downtime. Various actions, such as reallocation of network traffic, capacity 
expansion, and other measures aimed at restoring network coverage and ensuring satisfactory network 
performance, are being implemented. Zain Sudan is actively involved in performing essential network maintenance, 
repairs, and optimizations utilizing both its current equipment and external resources. Zain Sudan currently holds 
agreements with suppliers of network equipment, and transportation routes for its delivery are accessible in all 
regions of Sudan, except for North Darfur, North Kordofan, Wad-Madani and Khartoum, which are facing the most 
significant impact from the ongoing hostilities.

The Group has taken appropriate actions to ensure the continuity of communication services and operations. The 
management has prepared and reviewed the updated financial forecasts for the year, taking into consideration most 
likely and possible downside scenarios for the ongoing business impacts of the war. These forecasts were based on 
the following key assumptions:
•	 There will be no substantial increase in the intensity of hostilities, thereby not adversely impacting the number of 

active sites, significantly.
•	 Zain Sudan will have the capability to conduct maintenance and repair tasks in the affected territories of Sudan, 

ensuring a satisfactory level of network performance in regions where it is feasible while considering the physical 
security of technical specialists;

•	 There will be no significant fluctuations in the fuel rate, foreign exchange rates and other major costs during the 
course of the conflict;

•	 Zain Sudan will be able to ensure the uninterrupted functioning of its crucial IT infrastructure, aligning with 
management's implemented measures and incident response and disaster recovery plans;

•	 The generated revenue from service and product sales will be sufficient for Zain Sudan to meet both operating 
expenses and essential capital investments.

Based on these forecasts, considering possible adverse scenarios, management reasonably expects that the Group 
possesses adequate resources to effectively handle its operations in Sudan. Management will maintain ongoing 
monitoring of the potential repercussions and will proactively implement all available measures to minimize any 
adverse consequences.

If a worst-case scenario unfolds with widespread hostilities across Sudan, it can be anticipated that the Group's 
operations may encounter disruptions for an indeterminate duration. This represents an uncertainty that is beyond 
the control of the Group. After evaluating the revised forecasts, management has examined Zain Sudan’s capability 
to operate as a going concern at the time of releasing these consolidated financial statements. As a result, it 
has determined that there are no significant uncertainties that could impede the Zain Sudan's infrastructure and 
operations, thereby casting significant doubt on its ability to continue as a going concern. Consequently, Zain 
Sudan is expected to be able to realize its assets and fulfill its obligations in the ordinary course of business. The 
management of Zain Sudan has concluded that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on 
a going concern basis.

Because of the ongoing conflict in Sudan as described above, there have been some damages to network 
equipment, spares and inventories. Unfortunately, the current situation is not viable for the management of the Zain 
Sudan to access these areas and take stock of the actual damages and losses due to continuing hostilities in these 
regions. Based on an initial assessment of the damages mainly in the main warehouse in Khartoum, Zain Sudan has 
recorded an impairment loss of SDG 25.51 billion (KD 13.476 million) on its property and equipment and a provision 
for damage to its inventories amounting to SDG 2.31 billion (KD 1.222  million) respectively during the current year.

Due to security concerns in certain locations, Zain Sudan is not able to exercise control over some of its property 
and equipment with a net book value of SDG 4.57 billion (KD 1.691 million) representing 703 network sites as of 
31 December 2023. The management of Zain Sudan does not expect any significant damage to the Zain Sudan’s 
network sites in the Sudanese regions of North Darfur, North Kordofan, Wad-Madani and Khartoum and has 
concluded that the sites located in these affected areas have the ability to generate future economic benefits.

The Zain Sudan’s management estimate such losses are fully covered under the Political Violence Insurance Policy 
and has submitted an initial provisional claim of USD 47.980 million (KD 14.698 million) with the insurer mainly 
relating to the equipment, spares and commercial items in the main warehouse which was partially set on fire 
during the conflict. According to the Political Violence Insurance Policy, Zain Sudan also have a claim for Business 
Interruption loss over a twelve-month period.  In the opinion of Zain Sudan’s management, losses, if any, will be 
fully recovered from the insurance company and based on the current assessment per available information, no 
significant financial impact is anticipated on the consolidated financial statements. 

Sudan experienced a network blackout starting from 7 February 2024 as all the three main internet operators in 
Sudan were either partially or completely offline and discussions to resolve this issue are in progress. Subsequently, 
Zain Sudan has restored its services in Port Sudan and other neighboring states by setting up a new switch and 
data center in Port Sudan.

Going concern
The directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group have 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

2.2 New and revised accounting standards
The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those 
used in the previous year except for the following new and amended IASB Standards during the year.

2.2.1 New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year
The Group has applied the following new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued and effective:
•	 IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’ – This standard replaces IFRS 4, which permits a wide variety of practices in 

accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 will fundamentally change the accounting by all entities that issue 
insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features.

•	 Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice statement 2 – Disclosure of accounting policies – The amendments 
change the requirements in IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The amendments replace all 
instances of the term ‘significant accounting policies’ with ‘material’ accounting policy information. Accounting 
policy information is material if, when considered together with other information included in an entity’s financial 
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial 
statements make on the basis of those financial statements. 

•	 Amendments to IAS 8 - The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition 
of accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary amounts in financial 
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.

•	 Amendment to IAS 12 – deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction. The 
amendments introduce a further exception from the initial recognition exemption. Under the amendments, an entity 
does not apply the initial recognition exemption for transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible 
temporary differences. Depending on the applicable tax law, equal taxable and deductible temporary differences 
may arise on initial recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and 
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

•	 Amendment to IAS 12 - International tax reform - pillar two model rules - These amendments give companies 
temporary exception from accounting for deferred taxes arising from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation 
and Development’s (OECD) international tax reform. Following the amendments, an entity is required to disclose 
that it has applied the exception and to disclose separately its current tax expense (income) related to Pillar Two 
income taxes.

The application of this amendment did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2023
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Standard, interpretation, 
amendments Description Effective date

Amendment to IAS 1 – Current 
and Non-current liabilities

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current: The amendments clarify that 
the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights that are in 
existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is unaffected 
by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement 
of a liability, explain that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at 
the end of the reporting period, and introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make 
clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity 
instruments, other assets or services. 1 January 2024

Non-current liabilities with 
covenants

Non-current liabilities with covenants - The amendments specify that only 
covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the 
reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting date (and therefore must be considered in 
assessing the classification of the liability as current or noncurrent).

Amendments to IAS 7 and 
IFRS 7 on Supplier finance 
arrangements

These amendments require disclosures to enhance the transparency of supplier 
finance arrangements and their effects on a company’s liabilities, cash flows and 
exposure to liquidity risk. The disclosure requirements are the IASB’s response to 
investors’ concerns that some companies’ supplier finance arrangements are not 
sufficiently visible, hindering investors’ analysis.

1 January 2024

Amendment to IFRS 16 – Leases 
on sale and leaseback

The amendments to IFRS 16 add subsequent measurement requirements for 
sale and leaseback transactions that satisfy the requirements in IFRS 15 to be 
accounted for as a sale. The amendments require the seller-lessee to determine 
‘lease payments’ or ‘revised lease payments’ such that the seller-lessee does not 
recognise a gain or loss that relates to the right of use retained by the seller-lessee, 
after the commencement date. The amendments do not affect the gain or loss 
recognised by the seller-lessee relating to the partial or full termination of a lease. 
Without these new requirements, a seller-lessee may have recognised a gain on 
the right of use it retains solely because of a remeasurement of the lease liability 
(for example, following a lease modification or change in the lease term) applying 
the general requirements in IFRS 16. This could have been particularly the case in 
a leaseback that includes variable lease payments that do not depend on an index 
or rate.

1 January 2024

IFRS S1 – General requirements 
for disclosure of sustainability-
related financial information

This standard includes the core framework for the disclosure of material 
information about sustainability-related risks and opportunities across an entity’s 
value chain.

1 January 2024 
subject to 
endorsement 
from the 
regulator

IFRS S2 – Climate-related 
disclosures

This standard sets out the requirements for identifying, measuring and disclosing 
information about climate-related risks and opportunities that is useful to primary 
users of general purpose financial reports in making decisions relating to providing 
resources to the entity.

1 January 2024 
subject to 
endorsement 
from the 
regulator

Amendments to IAS 21 - Lack of 
Exchangeability

An entity is impacted by the amendments when it has a transaction or an 
operation in a foreign currency that is not exchangeable into another currency at a 
measurement date for a specified purpose. A currency is exchangeable when there 
is an ability to obtain the other currency (with a normal administrative delay), and 
the transaction would take place through a market or exchange mechanism that 
creates enforceable rights and obligations.

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2025 (early 
adoption is 
available)

2.2.2	 Standards issued but not effective
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised 
IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

The management does not expect the adoption of the Standards and Interpretations listed above to have a material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group in future periods.

2.3	 Material accounting policy information
2.3.1	 Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets 
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interest 
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss 
as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at 
the acquisition date, except that:
•	 Deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognized 

and measured in accordance with IAS 12 and IAS 19 respectively;
•	 Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based 

payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree 
are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see below); and

•	 Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 are measured in accordance 
with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after 
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and 
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes a contingent consideration 
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of 
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration that 
qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against 
goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during 
the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances 
that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration 
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted 
for within equity. Other contingent consideration is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates with 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests (including joint operations) in 
the acquired entity are remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised 
in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously 
been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be 
appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities 
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition 
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

2.3.2	 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by 
the Group made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved when the Group:
•	 has the power over the investee;
•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
•	 has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.
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The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over 
the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of 
the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the 
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:
•	 The size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote 

holders;
•	 Potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
•	 Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to 

direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous 
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group 
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the 
subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies 
used into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the 
members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those interests of 
non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of 
net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate 
share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, 
the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-
controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Group and to the 
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the 
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the noncontrolling 
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss is calculated as 
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), less liabilities of the subsidiary and 
any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that 
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary 
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as required/permitted by applicable IFRS 
Standards). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is 
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 when applicable, or the cost 
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

2.3.3	 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 

to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in the statement of profit 
or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular 
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
 
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, 
depending on the classification of the financial assets. 

Classification of financial assets 
(i) Debt instruments designated at amortised cost

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:
•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows; and
•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and effective interest rate method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are 
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the 
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial 
recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of 
the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition 
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference 
between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently at 
amortised cost and at FVOCI. For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial 
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that 
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the 
amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial 
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying 
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group recognises interest income by applying 
the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The 
calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so 
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the "interest income" line item.

(ii)	 Equity instruments designated as at FVOCI
On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate 
investments in equity instruments as at FVOCI. Designation at FVOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held 
for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination.
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Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they 
are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, they will be transferred to retained earnings. 

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9, 
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the 
‘investment income’ line item in profit or loss.

(iii)  Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. 
Specifically:

•	 Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity investment 
that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business combination as at FVOCI 
on initial recognition.

•	 Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In 
addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVOCI criteria may be designated 
as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement 
or recognition inconsistency (‘accounting mismatch’) that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or 
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group has not designated any debt instruments 
as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that are 
measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI, trade receivables, contract assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts. 
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The expected credit losses on 
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the 
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where 
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-
impaired at the reporting date. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to 
result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

(i)	 Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of 
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the 
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. 

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is 
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for impairment. 
In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial 
guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant 
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due. 

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition 
if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is 
determined to have low credit risk if:

(1)	 The financial instrument has a low risk of default,
(2)	 The borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and
(3)	 Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce 

the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

(ii)	 Definition of default
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the 
Group in full, there is sufficient doubt about the ultimate collectability; or the customer is past due for more than 90 
days.

(iii)	 Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable 
data about the following events:

(a)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above);
(c)	 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, 

having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
(d)	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
(e)	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv)	 Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

(v)	 Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default 
and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for 
the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting 
date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, 
together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on 
historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant 
forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted 
at the original effective interest rate. 

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for 
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition 
of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in 
the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on derecognition of an investment in 
equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss 
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previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to 
retained earnings.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a 
shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms 
of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL and 
do not arise from a transfer of an asset, are measured subsequently at the higher of:

•	 The amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 (see financial assets above)
•	 The amount recognised initially less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with   

the revenue recognition policies.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate. Derivatives are 
recognised initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to 
their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the 
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit 
or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value 
is recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Group has both a 
legally enforceable right and intention to offset.

Hedge accounting 
For hedge accounting, the Group designates derivatives as either hedges of the fair value of recognized assets or 
liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); or hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognized asset 
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge) or hedges of a net investment in a foreign 
operation (net investment hedge).

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument 
and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge 
transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the 
hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to 
the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

•	 there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;
•	 the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and
•	 the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item 

that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to 
hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk 
management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio 
of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Fair value hedges
The fair value change on qualifying hedging instruments is recognised in profit or loss except when the hedging 
instrument hedges an equity instrument designated at FVOCI in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive 
income. The carrying amount of a hedged item not already measured at fair value is adjusted for the fair value change 
attributable to the hedged risk with a corresponding entry in profit or loss. For debt instruments measured at FVOCI, 
the carrying amount is not adjusted as it is already at fair value, but the hedging gain or loss is recognised in profit 
or loss instead of other comprehensive income. When the hedged item is an equity instrument designated at FVOCI, 
the hedging gain or loss remains in other comprehensive income to match that of the hedging instrument. Where 
hedging gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss, they are recognised in the same line as the hedged item.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet the 
qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or 
is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. The fair value adjustment to the 
carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date.

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments that are 
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under 
the heading of cash flow hedging reserve, limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from 
inception of the hedge. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss, 
and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit 
or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item. 
However, when the hedged forecast transaction results in the recognition of a non‑financial asset or a non‑financial 
liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are 
removed from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non‑financial asset or non‑financial 
liability. This transfer does not affect other comprehensive income. Furthermore, if the Group expects that some 
or all of the loss accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve will not be recovered in the future, that amount is 
immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet the 
qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is 
sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. Any gain or loss recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in cash flow hedge reserve at that time remains in equity and is reclassified 
to profit or loss when the forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 
gain or loss accumulated in cash flow hedge reserve is reclassified immediately to profit or loss.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the 
foreign currency forward contracts relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item. Gains and losses 
on the hedging instrument accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on 
the disposal or partial disposal of the foreign operation.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and reported on a net basis in the accompanying consolidated 
statement of financial position when a legally enforceable right to set off such amounts exists and when the Group 
intends to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.3.4	 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand, demand and time deposits with banks whose original maturities do not exceed three months are 
classified as cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

2.3.5	 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where 
applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value represents 
the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and 
distribution.

2.3.6	 Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest 
in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 
investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is 
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is recognised initially in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a 
joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests 
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues 
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the 
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, 
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. 
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the 
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is 
acquired.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with 
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of 
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing 
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any 
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of 
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the 
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate or 
a joint venture. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or a joint venture and the retained interest 
is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded 
as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with IFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
associate or a joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest 
and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or a joint venture is included in the determination 
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would be 
required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on 
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a 
reclassification adjustment) when the associate or joint venture is disposed of.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use 
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been 
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would 
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a Group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only 
to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group. The Group has elected 
to apply this accounting policy in situation where it ceases to have control of a subsidiary as a result of selling its 
controlling interest to an existing associate or joint venture.

The Group applies IFRS 9, including the impairment requirements, to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture 
to which the equity method is not applied and which form part of the net investment in the investee. Furthermore, in 
applying IFRS 9 to long-term interests, the Group does not take into account adjustments to their carrying amount 
required by IAS 28 (i.e. adjustments to the carrying amount of long-term interests arising from the allocation of losses 
of the investee or assessment of impairment in accordance with IAS 28).

2.3.7	 Property and equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Freehold land is not depreciated.

Property and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic useful lives, which are 
as follows:

These assets are reviewed periodically for impairment. If there is an indication that the carrying value of an asset is 
greater than its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount and the resultant impairment 
loss is taken to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The residual value, useful lives and methods of depreciation 
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end.

Assets in hyper inflationary economies are restated by applying the change in the general price indices from the date 
of acquisition to the current reporting date. Depreciation on these assets are based on the restated amounts. 

2.3.8	 Intangible assets and goodwill
Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives which are disclosed in note 12. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are recognized initially 
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are 
acquired separately.

Reacquired rights
These represents rights which were previously granted to the acquiree to use one or more of the recognized or 
unrecognized assets of the acquirer, but reacquired as part of a business combination. These reacquired rights 

Years

Buildings 50

Leasehold improvements 3 – 8

Cellular and other equipment 3 – 20

Furniture and fixtures 3 – 5
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to 
the extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which has been recognised for the asset in prior years.

2.3.10	Non-current assets held for sale 
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is 
highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management 
must be committed to the sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one 
year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities 
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the 
Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of an investment in an associate or, a portion of an 
investment in an associate, the investment, or the portion of the investment in the associate, that will be disposed 
of is classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met. The Group then ceases to apply the equity 
method in relation to the portion that is classified as held for sale. Any retained portion of an investment in an 
associate that has not been classified as held for sale continues to be accounted for using the equity method.

2.3.11	Fair value measurement

Fair values
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

•	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
•	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs.           

are measured on the basis of the remaining contractual term of the related contract regardless of whether market 
participants would consider potential contractual renewals of the contract or other binding arrangement in determining 
its fair value. 

A reacquired right is an identifiable intangible asset and is recognized separately from goodwill and are amortised 
over the remaining contractual period in which the right was granted.

IRUs
IRU are the rights to use a portion of the capacity of a terrestrial or submarine transmission cable granted for a fixed 
period. IRUs are recognized at cost as an asset when the Group has the specific indefeasible right to use an identified 
portion of the underlying asset, generally optical fibers and the duration of the right is for the major part of the 
underlying asset’s economic life. They are amortised on a straight line basis over the shorter of the expected period 
of use and the life of the contract which ranges between 10 to 20 years.

De-recognition of intangible assets
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or 
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised.

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out in note 2.3.1 above.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are 
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the 
unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill 
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and risk specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted. The Group prepares formal four to five year plans for its businesses. These plans are 
used for the value in use calculation. Long range growth rates are used for cash flows into perpetuity beyond the four 
to five year period. Fair value less costs to sell is determined with reference to published quoted prices.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the 
profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described in note 2.3.6 above.

2.3.9	 Impairment of property, plant and equipment right-of-use of assets and intangible assets excluding 
goodwill
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use 
of assets and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other 
assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When 
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual 
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a 
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there is an 
indication at the end of a reporting period that the asset may be impaired.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement as a whole:

•	 Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
•	 Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is directly or indirectly observable.
•	 Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is unobservable. 

For financial instruments quoted in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices. 
Bid prices are used for assets and offer prices are used for liabilities. 

For unquoted financial instruments, fair value is determined by reference to the market value of a similar investment, 
discounted cash flows, other appropriate valuation models or brokers’ quotes. 

For financial instruments carried at amortized cost, the fair value is estimated by discounting future cash flows at the 
current market rate of return for similar financial instruments. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group determines classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the 
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

2.3.12	Taxation
The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in 
profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further 
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is considered probable 
that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at the best estimate of 
the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based on the judgement of tax professionals within 
the Group supported by previous experience in respect of such activities and in certain cases based on specialist 
independent tax advice.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, 
and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, a deferred tax 
liability is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets 
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the 
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 
asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

2.3.13	Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 
those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Onerous contracts
Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract 
is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations 
under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it.

2.3.14	Post-employment benefits
The Group is liable to make defined contributions to State Plans and lump sum payments under defined benefit plans 
to employees at cessation of employment, in accordance with the laws of the place where they are deemed to be 
employed. The defined benefit plan is unfunded and is computed as the amount payable to employees as a result 
of involuntary termination on the consolidated statement of financial position date. This basis is considered to be a 
reliable approximation of the present value of the final obligation.

2.3.15	Leases
The Group as lessee
The Group assesses whether contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a 
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, 
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. 
For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its 
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:
•	 Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;
•	 Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at  

the commencement date;
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•	 The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
•	 The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
•	 Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate 

the lease
The lease liability is presented as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 

liability (using effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments 
made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) 
whenever:

•	 The lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

•	 The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a 
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating 
interest rate, in which case a revise discount rate is used).

•	 A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case 
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments
made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are 
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. 
If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use of asset reflects that the Group 
expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying 
asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use of assets are presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for an identified 
impairment loss as described in the ‘Impairment of property, plant and equipment right-of-use of assets and intangible 
assets excluding goodwill’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the 
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition 
that triggers those payments occurs.

As a practical expedient, IFRS16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for any 
lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has used this practical expedient. 
For a contracts that contain a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of 
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Sale and leaseback
The Group enters into sale and leaseback transactions whereby it sells certain assets to a third-party and immediately 
leases them back. Where sale proceeds received are judged to reflect the fair value, any gain or loss arising on disposal 
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss, to the extent that it relates to the rights that have been transferred. 
Gains and losses that relate to the rights that have been retained are included in the carrying amount of the right 
of use asset recognised at commencement of the lease. Where sale proceeds received are not at the fair value, any 
below market terms are recognised as a prepayment of lease payments, and above market terms are recognised as 
additional financing provided by the lessor.

The Group as lessor
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net 
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic 
rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group regularly reviews the estimated unguaranteed residual value and applies 
the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, recognising an allowance for expected credit losses on the lease receivables. 

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate consideration 
under the contract to each component.

2.3.16	Revenue
Revenues from operations consist of recurring revenues, such as billings to customers for monthly subscription fees, 
roaming, leased line and airtime usage fees, and non-recurring revenues, such as one-time connection fees, and 
telephone equipment and accessory sales. 

Handsets and telecommunication services
Revenue from mobile telecommunication services provided to postpaid and prepaid customers is recognized as 
services are transferred. When the customer performs first, for example, by prepaying its promised consideration, 
the Group has a contract liability. If the Group performs first by satisfying a performance obligation, the Group has a 
contract asset. Consideration received from the sale of prepaid credit is recognized as contract liability until such time 
the customer uses the services when it is recognized as revenue.

The Group provides subsidized handsets to its customers along with mobile telecommunication services. The contract’s 
transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation based on their relative stand-alone selling price. This 
results in reallocation of a portion of revenue from trading revenue to service revenue and correspondingly creation of 
a contract assets. Contract asset represents receivable from customers that has not yet legally come into existence. 
The standalone selling prices are determined based on observable prices. Revenue from device sales is recognized 
when the device is delivered to the customer. This usually occurs when a customer signs the contract. For devices 
sold separately, customer pays in full at the point of sale. Revenue from voice, messaging, internet services etc. are 
included in the bundled package and are recognized as the services are rendered during the period of the contract.

Value added services - Principal vs. agent 
Revenue from value added services (VAS) sharing arrangements depend on the analysis of the facts and circumstances 
surrounding these transactions. Revenue from VAS is recognized when the Group performs the related service and, 
depending on the Group’s control or lack of control on the services transferred to the customer, is recognized either 
at the gross amount billed to the customer or the amount receivable by the Group as commission for facilitating the 
service.

Significant financing component 
If a customer can pay for purchased equipment or services over a period, IFRS 15 requires judgement to determine if 
the contract includes a significant financing component. If it does, then the transaction price is adjusted to reflect the 
time value of money.

Commissions and other contract costs 
Certain incremental costs incurred in acquiring a contract with a customer is deferred on the consolidated statement 
of financial position and amortised as revenue is recognised under the related contract; this will generally lead to the 
later recognition of charges for some commissions payable to third party distributors and employees. 

Intermediaries are given incentives by the Group to acquire new customers and upgrade existing customers. Activation 
commission and renewal commission paid on post-paid connections are amortized over the period of the contract. 
In case of prepaid customers, commission costs are expensed when incurred. However, the Group may choose to 
expense such commission costs if the amortization period of the resulting asset is one year or less or if it is not 
significant.

Customer loyalty programs
The Group operates a customer loyalty program that provides a variety of benefits for customers. The Group allocates 
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the consideration received between products and services in a bundle including loyalty points as separate performance 
obligation based on their stand-alone selling prices.

Installation and maintenance contracts
The Group also enters into installation and maintenance contracts where the revenue is recognised over time based 
on the cost-to-completion method. The related costs are recognised in profit or loss when they are incurred. Advances 
received are included in contract liabilities. 

Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis using the effective yield method and dividend income is 
recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 
of the financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 

In calculating interest income, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when 
the asset is not credit-impaired). However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial 
asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis. 

2.3.17	Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.3.18	Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of the Group entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At 
each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:
•	 exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive 

use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on 
those foreign currency borrowings;

•	 exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and
•	 exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement 

is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future (therefore forming part of the net investment in the 
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the net investment.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated 
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which 
case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in a foreign exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling 
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal 
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint 
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), 

all of the exchange differences accumulated in a foreign exchange translation reserve in respect of that operation 
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not result in 
the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. 
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint 
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of 
the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. 

2.3.19	Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies
The financial statements of subsidiaries whose functional currencies are the currencies of hyperinflationary economies 
are adjusted in terms of the measuring unit current at the end of the reporting period. 

In the first period of application, the adjustments determined at the beginning of the period are recognized directly 
in equity as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. In subsequent periods, the prior period adjustments related 
to components of owners' equity and differences arising on translation of comparative amounts are accounted for in 
other comprehensive income.

Items in the consolidated statement of financial position not already expressed in terms of the measuring unit current 
at the reporting period, such as non-monetary items carried at cost or cost less depreciation, are restated by applying a 
general price index. The restated cost, or cost less depreciation, of each item is determined by applying to its historical 
cost and accumulated depreciation the change in a general price index from the date of acquisition to the end of the 
reporting period. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss if the restated amount of a non-monetary item 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

At the beginning of the first period of application, the components of owners' equity, except retained earnings, are 
restated by applying a general price index from the dates the components were contributed or otherwise arose. 
Restated retained earnings are derived from all other amounts in the restated consolidated statement of financial 
position. At the end of the first period and in subsequent periods, all components of owners' equity are restated by 
applying a general price index from the beginning of the period or the date of contribution, if later.

All items recognized in the income statement are restated by applying the change in the general price index from the 
dates when the items of income and expenses were initially earned or incurred.

Gains or losses on the net monetary position are recognized in profit or loss.

All items in the consolidated statement of cash flows are expressed in terms of the general price index at the end of 
the reporting period.

2.3.20	Contingencies
Contingent assets are not recognized as an asset until realisation becomes virtually certain. Contingent liabilities, 
other than those arising on acquisition of subsidiaries, are not recognized as a liability unless as a result of past 
events it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle a present, legal or constructive 
obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimated. Contingent liabilities arising in a business combination are 
recognized if their fair value can be measured reliably.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2023
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3.  Subsidiaries
The principal subsidiaries of the Group are:

Pella owns 100% of Jordan Mobile Telecommunications Services Co. JSC – “JMTS”. Al Khatem owns 100% of Atheer. 
Zain Tech owns 100% of BIOS and 65% of Adfolks.

JMTS, MTCB, Zain Sudan, Zain South Sudan, Atheer and SMTC operate the cellular mobile telecommunications 
network in Jordan, Bahrain, Sudan, South Sudan, Iraq and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA) respectively. Mada 
Jordan provides WiMAX services in Jordan. Zain Tech provides network consultancy and cloud solutions in MENA 
region.

SMTC
In July 2018, the Group concluded that it is able to control SMTC through its majority representation on the board of 
directors and accordingly considered it as a subsidiary effective from that period.

Acquisition of Subsidiaries

ZainTECH
In January 2023, the Group, through Zain Tech, acquired the entire equity interest of BIOS Middle East Holdings Ltd 
(“BIOS”) for a purchase consideration of AED 158.161 million (KD 13.220 million) (including contingent consideration) 
of which an amount of AED 126.056 million (KD 10.495 million) was paid during the year. The net cash outflow (net 
of cash and cash equivalents acquired) on acquisition amounts to AED 120.167 million (KD 10.002 million). BIOS is 
a company incorporated in UAE having multiple subsidiaries engaged in business of IT related activities and cloud 
services.

In May 2023, the Group, through Zain Tech, acquired 65% equity interest of Adfolks Software Trading L.L.C (“Adfolks”) 
for a purchase consideration of AED 14.184 million (KD 1.188 million) of which an amount of AED 10.554 million 
(KD 0.883 million) was paid during the year. The net cash outflow (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) on 
acquisition amounts to AED 8.782 million (KD 0.735 million). Adfolks is a company incorporated in UAE engaged in 
cloud and related services.

The Group completed the purchase price allocation (PPA) in respect of these acquisitions during the year. The amounts 
assigned to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as on the acquisition date, are as set out below.

* Intangible assets recognized represents the value of the Customer Relationship that the Group acquired as part of 
the business combination.

Bookeey
During the year, the Group acquired 83.39% equity interest of Xenon Electronic Payment Company W.L.L (“Bookeey”) 
for a purchase consideration of KD 2.437 million, which was paid during the year. The net cash outflow (net of cash 
and cash equivalents acquired) on acquisition amounts to KD 0.205 million. The recognized amounts of net assets of 
Bookeey as at the date of acquisition was KD 0.675 million, resulting in a goodwill of KD 1.874 million.  The provisional 
values assigned to the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition, are subject to review within one 
year of acquisition on finalization of the Purchase Price Allocation (PPA). Bookeey is a company incorporated in 
Kuwait engaged in electronic payment and settlement systems services.

Others
In October 2023, the Group entered into an agreement for acquisition of 100% equity interest of Specialized Technical 
Services Company (“STS”), a company engaged in providing digital transformation solutions in the Middle East and 
North Africa, for a purchase consideration of US$ 32 million (KD 9.900 million) (including contingent consideration). 
This acquisition is subject to regulatory approvals.
 
Financial support to Group companies
The Group has committed to provide working capital and other financial support to certain subsidiaries including 
Mobile Telecommunications Company Saudi Arabia (“SMTC”), Zain Jordan (Pella) and Al Khatem (Atheer) whose 
working capitals are in deficit. Based on business plans, the Group does not expect these conditions will have a 
material adverse impact on the operations of these Group companies.

Zain International B.V. (“ZIBV”) The Netherlands 100% 100%
Pella Investment Company (“Pella”) Jordan 96.516% 96.516%
Zain Bahrain B.S.C (“MTCB”) Bahrain 65.11% 65.11%
Sudanese Mobile Telephone (Zain) Company Limited (“Zain Sudan”) Sudan 100% 100%
South Sudanese Mobile Telephone (“Zain South Sudan”) South Sudan 100% 100%
Al Khatem Telecoms Company (“Al Khatem”) Iraq 76% 76%
Atheer Telecom Iraq Limited (“Atheer”) Cayman Islands 76% 76%
Mobile Telecommunications Company Saudi Arabia (“SMTC”) Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 37.045% 37.045%

Al Mouakhaa Lil Kadamat Al-Logistya Wal Al-Itisalat (“Mada Jordan”) Jordan 	
99.1%

	
99.1%

ZainTech Solutions FZ-LLC (“Zain Tech”) 
(previously known as Nexgen Advisory Group FZ LLC) UAE 100% 100%

Subsidiary Country of
incorporation

Percentage  
of ownership

20222023

Consideration transferred  13,220  1,188 
Non-controlling interest share  -  53 

13,220  1,241 

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
   Cash and cash equivalents  493  148 
   Trade and other receivables  734  354 
   Property and equipment  779  25 
   Intangible assets*  2,875  235 
   Other assets  114  - 
   Trade and other payables  (1,129)  (370)
   Due to banks  -  (205)
   Other non-current liabilities  (421)  (34)
Total identifiable net assets  3,445  153 

Goodwill arising from business combination 9,775 1,088

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration 10,495 883
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired (493) (148)

10,002 735

Adfolks

KD ‘000

BIOS

KD ‘000

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2023
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4.  Cash and bank balances 

4.1  Cash and bank balances
Cash and bank balances include the following cash and cash equivalents:

In 2011, the Group paid US$ 473 million (equivalent to KD 144.756 million) to settle the guarantees provided by 
the Company to lending banks for loans to a founding shareholder of SMTC. The Group has been pursuing legal 
action for its recovery and in November 2016 the London Arbitration Court upheld the Group’s right to recover 
the US$ 473 million paid in addition to interest and costs. These amounts are secured by an agreement to transfer 
to the Group, the founding shareholder's shares in SMTC, which is currently pledged to the murabaha lenders of 
SMTC, and the shareholder loan in SMTC owed to the founding shareholder. The Company has initiated the legal 
procedures necessary to enforce the arbitration award in and outside KSA. In 2020, the courts in KSA rejected the 
Company’s application to enforce the arbitral award in KSA. During 2020 the Company wrote to Supreme Judicial 
Counsel requesting that the matter be referred back to the enforcement court for reconsideration. The Supreme 
Judicial Counsel recommended that MTC file a second reconsideration motion with the Riyad Appeal Court. On 21 
June 2022, MTC filed its third reconsideration motion with the Riyadh Appeal Court. On 29 November 2022, the 
Riyadh Appeal Court dismissed MTC's motion for reconsideration. MTC is considering its strategy and options for 
proceeding with enforcement of the award.

On 27 July 2023, MTC filed a petition before the Supreme Judicial Counsel to enforce the award and objecting to the 
rejection of Riyadh Enforcement Court. As a result, a study by judicial committee has concluded that the Group has 
the right to enforce the award excluding the interest portion from the total amount, and suggested to the Minister of 
Justice, President of the Supreme Judicial Counsel (final signatory) that the Group should submit to the court of appeal 
a petition for reconsideration in this regard.   

Subsequently on 15 January 2024, MTC was informed by Supreme Judicial Council that Minister of Justice signed 
the study ordering the court of appeal to accept a request for reconsideration by the Company and hire an expert to 
segregate interest from the principal amount.

In 2010, the Group paid US$ 40 million (equivalent to KD 12.232 million) to settle guarantees provided by the Company 
to lending bank for loans to a founding shareholder of SMTC. In 2013, the Group won a legal action for the recovery 
of that amount and is currently pursuing further legal action for its implementation in KSA at the High Supreme Court. 

Both the above amounts are secured by an agreement to transfer to the Group, the founding shareholder's shares in 
SMTC.

5.  Trade and other receivables

KD ’000 KD ’000
Trade receivables:

Customers  456,785 381,492
Distributors  72,096 63,040
Other operators (interconnect)  71,509 74,775
Roaming partners  15,708 12,584
ECL  (169,082) (162,188)

 447,016 369,703

Other receivables:
Accrued income  9,321 21,889
Staff  1,427 1,309
Deposits and other receivables  168,864 106,128
Prepayments and advances  114,667 130,501
Others (refer note below)  157,706 156,988
ECL  (5,749) (2,112)

 446,236 414,703
 893,252 784,406

20222023

KD ’000 KD ’000

Cash on hand and at banks  190,339 205,499
Short-term deposits with banks  150,365 56,336
Government certificates of deposits held by subsidiaries 6 8

 340,710  261,843 
Expected credit loss  (27,163)  (29,616)

 313,547  232,227 

Cash at banks under lien (1,092) (6,038)
Government certificates of deposits with maturities exceeding three months held by subsidiaries (6) (8)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows 312,449 226,181

20222023

4.1  Bank balances held in customers’ account
Bank balances held in customers’ Account as part of electronic payment services provided by the Group are presented 
separately from cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position of the Group. The regulations in 
respective locations require that these balances with banks are held in a manner to ensure that these balances are 
not co-mingled with the Group’s cash and cash equivalents.

During the current year Group management decided to present these Bank balances held in customers account 
separately from the other bank balances in order to achieve better presentation. The comparative amounts have been 
reclassified from Cash and cash equivalent to Bank balances held in customers’ account (KD 8.182 million) in line with 
the current year presentation is not material to the consolidated financial statement of the Group.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2023
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Investment securities are denominated in the following currencies:

8.	 Assets and liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale
Assets and liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale represent telecom tower assets in Kuwait and KSA 
classified as held for sale, on the basis of plan to sale and lease back of those assets. 

KSA
In 2022, SMTC received board of directors' approval on the final offers (the “Final Offers”) from the Public Investment 
Fund (PIF), HRH Prince Saud bin Fahd Bin Abdulaziz, and Sultan Holding Company after completing the due diligence 
and internal approvals of all parties. The approved final offers were to acquire stakes in SMTC’s towers infrastructure 
comprising of 8,069 towers, valuing these assets at US$ 807 million (KD 250.089 million). Pursuant to the Final 
Offers SMTC will own 20% stake in newly formed Tower Company. PIF’s Final Offer also includes a call option that 
will grant PIF the right to buy the remaining 20% stake from SMTC for a certain amount. Under the terms of the 
offers, SMTC will sell its passive, physical towers infrastructure and retain all other wireless communication antennas, 
software, technology, and intellectual property (IPs).

On 28 May 2022, SMTC received a letter from the Communications, Space and Technology Commission (“CST”), 
which included the CST's Board of Directors approval for “Zain Business Limited” (a subsidiary of Zain KSA) to acquire 
aforementioned telecom tower sites owned by SMTC.

During the first quarter ended 31 March 2023 Financial Completion date was triggered and all respective conditions 
were completed, consequently the passive infrastructure of all the sites were derecognized from the books of the 
Group. Additionally, and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Mobile Tower Space use Agreement 
(“MTSA”) with Golden Lattice Investment Company (“ GLI”), the Group leased back the right to use specified spaces 
on each site recognizing the Right of Use Assets (“ROU”) and Lease Liability (“LL”) on the same. The total gain 
recorded from the above transaction was SR 1,191 million (KD 97.631 million).

The ground leases for all sites, whether transferred or yet to be transferred but landlord consent is available, have 
been accounted in such a manner that the related ROU and LL have been derecognized with any resulting gain or 
loss recognized in the income statement. For all other cases, the related carrying amounts of ROU and LL have been 
retained. The total loss on termination due to the above accounting for ground leases amounted to SR 177 million (KD 
14.492 million) recorded in the year 2023.         

On 19 October 2023 SMTC received a request from PIF to exercise its unconditional call option as per the SHA. The 
investment in these unquoted equity shares were classified as investment securities at FVTPL in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. The call option was exercised on 20 November 2023 for a total consideration of SAR 
726 million (KD 59.731 million). The gain realized on this sale amounts to SAR 121 million (KD 9.949 million).

Iraq
During 2022, Atheer Telecom Iraq Limited received approval from its board of directors for the sale of its passive 
tower infrastructure. Under the terms of the offer received, Atheer was to sell and leaseback its passive physical 
towers infrastructure comprising of 4,604 towers. 

In January 2023, Atheer sold and leased back from TTI Holding Limited (TTI, a subsidiary of the Group) 4,604 towers, 
for an aggregate value of US$ 180 million (KD 55.224 million). This intercompany transaction was eliminated at the 
Group level.

In July 2023, the Group sold its controlling stake in TTI (including tower infrastructure) to TASC Towers Holding 
Limited (“TASC”) (an associate of the Group), for a consideration of US$ 238 million (KD 73.469 million). This resulted 
in a gain of US$ 8.7 million (KD 2.711 million) after elimination of loss resulting from downstream transaction. This 
includes the impact of reallocating goodwill of US$ 161 million (KD 49.671 million) attributable to tower operations 
and recycling of $16 million (KD 5.067 million) FCTR to income statement. The consideration was settled by issuing 
shares of TASC.

Kuwait
Between 2020 and 2022 the Company completed the sale and lease back of 1,398 telecom towers in Kuwait.
During August 2023, the Company completed sale and lease back of additional 101 telecom towers in Kuwait for a 
total sale consideration of US$ 6.409 million (KD 1.974 million). Total gain from this transaction was KD 1.073 million 
which is recognized in the statement of profit or loss during the year.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

KD ’000 KD ’000

Kuwaiti Dinar  56,657 59,145
US Dollar  223,369 230,799
Bahraini Dinar  12,087 12,997
Sudanese Pound  12,674 6,299
Jordanian Dinar  35,282 45,152
Iraqi Dinar  93,685 106,088
Saudi Riyals  439,850 318,032
Others  19,648 5,894

 893,252 784,406

KD ’000 KD ’000

Handsets and accessories  62,682 53,290
Provision for obsolescence  (7,737) (5,146)

 54,945 48,144

KD ’000 KD ’000
Current investments
At fair value through profit or loss
Unquoted equities  922 976
Funds -mandatorily at FVTPL  3,030 3,255
Other funds  31,178 29,898

 35,130 34,129

Non-current investments
At fair value through other comprehensive income
Quoted equities- designated at inception  2,204 1,857
Funds  2,910 2,803
Unquoted equities - designated at inception  6,584 12,940

 11,698 17,600

KD ’000 KD ’000

Kuwaiti Dinar  5,213 5,069
US Dollar  40,700 45,582
Other currencies  915 1,078

 46,828 51,729

20222023

20222023

20222023

20222023

6.	 Inventories

7.	 Investment securities 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2023
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9.	 Investments in associates and joint venture
9.1	 Details of material associate

TASC
The Group’s hold 92.87% (31 December 2022 – 69.10%) interest in the equity shares of TASC Towers Holding 
Limited (”TASC”), a company incorporated in UAE.

During the year the Group increased its’ holding in TASC from 69.10% to 92.87% as a result of issuing of additional 
shares to settle the consideration on sale of TTI as disclosed in note 8.

The Group determines that it does not have the control over TASC on the basis that the Group does not have ability 
to have majority representation in the Board under the terms agreed in the agreement between TASC shareholders.
 
Summarised financial information in respect of TASC is set out below. 

In December 2023, the Group signed definitive agreements with Ooredoo Group Q.P.S.C (“Ooredoo”) for a merger 
transaction to combine both company’s passive infrastructures (towers) via a cash and share deal. The Group and 
Ooredoo will contribute assets and cash to the newly formed tower company to retain a 49.3% stake each in the 
newly formed tower company. The transaction (initial market closings) is expected to be completed by 2024.

9.2  Other associates
Investment in associate includes the Group’s :

•	 KD 1.055 million (31 December 2022 – KD 1.083 million) interest in IHS Kuwait Limited, a company incorporated 
in Kuwait,  which represents 30% of the equity shares and voting rights of the associate. The associate became 
operational in February 2020 pursuant to the sale and lease back of telecommunication towers transaction with 
the Company. 

•	 KD 0.554 million (31 December 2022 – KD Nil) interest in Entertainment Content Trading Company WLL 
(referred to as ”Playhera MENA”) , a company incorporated in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, which represents 30% 
(31 December 2022 – Nil) of the equity shares of the associate acquired during 2023.

The carrying value of the associates and their results for the period are determined by Group management using the 
equity method based on management information provided by the associates.

9.3  Joint venture
Investment in joint venture includes Group’s KD 86.390 million (31 December 2022 - KD 81.925 million) interest in 
the joint venture, Zain Al Ajial S.A., a company incorporated in Morocco, that owns 31% of the equity shares and 
voting rights of Wana Corporate (a Moroccan joint stock company that is specialized in the telecom sector in that 
country). The carrying value of this joint venture and its results for the year are determined by Group management 
using the equity method based on management information provided by Wana Corporate.

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in TASC  
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

31 December
 2023

31 December
 2022

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Telecom tower assets  855  150,547 
Right of use of assets  3,169  109,212 

 4,024  259,759 

Lease liabilities 1,010 88,281 

The sale and leaseback facilitates transfer of residual value risk and also provides flexibility in managing the asset 
ageing and Group’s liquidity.

The carrying value of disposal group held for sale comprises of remaining telecom tower assets, remaining right of use 
of assets and its related lease liabilities classified as held for sale in Kuwait (2022 – Kuwait, KSA and Iraq) as follows.  

KD ’000 KD ’000

Current assets 16,921 4,997
Non-current Assets 151,342 49,795

Current liabilities 27,715 19,746
Non-current liabilities 39,332 24,978

Equity attributable to owners of the parent company 86,202 10,068

Non-controlling interest 15,014 -

Revenue  27,008  7,870 
Total comprehensive loss  (2,977)  (2,912)

KD ’000 KD ’000

Net assets of associate  86,202  10,068 
Group’s interest 92.87% 69.10%
Proportion of the group’s ownership interest in the associate  80,056  6,957 
Goodwill  37,856  6,403 
Carrying amount of the group’s interest in the associate  117,912 13,360

20222023

20222023

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2023
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11.  Property and equipment
KD ’000

Land and 
buildings and 

leasehold 
improvements 

Cellular 
and other 
equipment

Projects in
progress Total

Cost
As at 31 December 2021 106,299 3,111,656 140,335 3,358,290
Additions 1,183 56,096 149,253 206,532
Transfers/reclassification 958 153,735 (161,621) (6,928)
Disposals/ write off (80) (19,431) (284) (19,795)
Effect of derecognition of subsidiary (7) (23)  - (30)
Transfers to assets of disposal group classified as held for 
sale - (342,202) (17) (342,219)

Exchange adjustments (73) 20,440 (1,922) 18,445
As at 31 December 2022 108,280 2,980,271 125,744 3,214,295

Additions 970 53,025 210,979  264,974 
Transfers/reclassification 658 98,840 (95,738)  3,760 
Disposals/ write off (385) (52,895) (1,667) (54,947)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 3)  - 2,747  - 2,747 
Exchange adjustments  (1,226)  (5,168)  (9,952)  (16,346)
As at 31 December 2023  108,297  3,076,820  229,366  3,414,483 

Charge for the year 2,589 189,349  -  191,938 
Transfer/reclassification - 8,533  -  8,533 
Disposals (382) (51,534)  -  (51,916)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 3) - 989  -  989 
Impairment (note 2) -  -  13,476  13,476 
Exchange adjustments 35 (353)  (3,870)  (4,188)
As at 31 December 2023 53,167 2,242,660  9,606  2,305,433 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  
As at 31 December 2021 48,246 2,092,776 - 2,141,022
Charge for the year 2,638 195,176  - 197,814
Transfer/reclassification (248) 2,085 - 1,837
Disposals (65) (18,878) - (18,943)
Effect of derecognition of subsidiary (3) (9) - (12)
Transfers to assets of disposal group classified as held for 
sale

- (193,303) - (193,303)

Exchange adjustments 357 17,829 - 18,186
As at 31 December 2022 50,925 2,095,676  - 2,146,601

Net book value  
As at 31 December 2023  55,130  834,160  219,760  1,109,050 
As at 31 December 2022 57,355 884,595 125,744 1,067,694 

Exchange adjustments in previous year include effect of hyperinflationary restatement of property and equipment in 
Zain South Sudan based on the respective price index changes. 

Advances of KD 42.436 million (2022: KD 22.443 million) paid for projects in progress are included under Other non-
current assets in the statement of financial position.

31 December 2023
KD ’000

Land and 
building

Cellular 
and other 
equipment

Total

Balance as of 31 December 2022 86,146 20,315 106,461
Add: Additions 61,753 31,600 93,353
Less: Depreciation (23,750) (10,867) (34,617)
Less: Retirement (6,517) (23) (6,540)
Transfers to assets of disposal group classified as held for sale (28,688) - (28,688)
Exchange adjustments (1,779) 1 (1,778)
Closing balance as at 31 December 2023 
(excluding assets of disposal group classified as held for sale) 87,165 41,026 128,191

31 December 2022
KD ’000

Land and 
building

Cellular 
and other 
equipment

Total

Balance as of 31 December 2021 153,665 10,080 163,745
Add: Additions 60,977 17,640 78,617
Less: Depreciation (25,854) (6,874) (32,728)
Less: Retirement (1,033) (646) (1,679)
Transfers to assets of disposal group classified as held for sale (104,051) - (104,051)
Reclassification from intangible assets 377 - 377
Exchange adjustments 2,065 115 2,180
Closing balance as at 31 December 2022 
(excluding assets of disposal group classified as held for sale) 86,146 20,315 106,461

10.  Right of use of assets
The recognized right-of-use assets relate to the following types of assets:

Land and building comprises mainly of telecommunication sites on lease.

The Group does not have any lease contracts with variable lease payments which are not included in the measurement 
of the lease liabilities.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for:

The Group mostly leases indoor and outdoor spaces for installation of its telecommunications sites. Rental contracts 
are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 15 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a 
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets 
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2023
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Impairment testing
The Group determines whether goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are impaired, at least on an 
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which these items are allocated. 
The recoverable amount is determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less cost to sell if that is higher. 

The Group determines the recoverable amounts of all CGUs based on value in use other than for SMTC. For SMTC the 
recoverable amount is determined based on the fair value less cost to sell. The fair value of Group’s holding in SMTC 
is determined with reference to the published quoted prices of SMTC.

Group management used the following approach to determine values to be assigned to the following key assumptions, 
in the value in use calculations:

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis by varying these input factors by a reasonably possible margin and 
assessing whether the change in input factors results in any of the goodwill allocated to appropriate cash generating 
units being impaired. 

These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five 
year period. The recoverable amounts so obtained were higher than the carrying amount of the CGUs. 

Key assumption Basis used to determine value to be assigned to key assumption

Growth rate Increase in competition expected but no significant change in market share of any CGU as a result of 
ongoing service quality improvements and expected growth from technology and license upgrades. 
The growth rates are consistent with forecasts included in industry and country reports.

Compounded annual growth in revenue of up to 17.4% (2022: 20.1%) for Zain Sudan, 11.4% (2022: 
13.3%) for Atheer and 4.1% (2022: 3.5%) for Pella during the projected five-year period. Value as-
signed reflects past experience and changes in economic environment. 

Cash flows beyond the five-year period have been extrapolated using a growth rate of upto 4.4% 
(2022: 3%) for Zain Sudan, 4.5% (2022: 2.2%) for Atheer and 4.4% (2022: 3%) for Pella. This growth 
rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate of the market in which the CGU operates.

Capital expenditure The cash flow forecasts for capital expenditure are based on experience and include the ongoing capital 
expenditure required to continue rolling out networks to deliver target voice and data products and 
services and meeting license obligations. Capital expenditure includes cash outflows for the purchase 
of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets.

Discount rate Discount rates of 30.4% (2022: 25.2%) for Zain Sudan, 16.3% (2022: 20%) for Atheer and 12.3% 
(2022: 12.1%) for Pella. Discount rates reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.

 License and spectrum

End of amortisation 
period

KD ’000 KD ’000
License – SMTC 2047  975,022 1,015,832
License – Atheer 2030  112,530  128,285 
License – Pella 2026 to 2036  139,439  133,874 
Spectrum – SMTC 2032 to 2034  102,286  112,403 
Spectrum – Atheer 2027  13,141  13,404 
Others  18,964  15,223 

 1,361,382 1,419,021

20222023

KD '000

Goodwill
Licences and 

spectrum 
fees

Others CWIP Total

Cost
As at 31 December 2021 596,509 2,798,930 280,230 - 3,675,669
Additions -  61,441 13,147 6,298   80,886
Transfers/ reclassifications - - 6,808 - 6,808
Write off/ disposal - - (208) - (208)
Impairment (21,197) - - - (21,197)
Exchange adjustments 5,546 31,036 2,137 (11) 38,708 
As at 31 December 2022 580,858 2,891,407 302,114 6,287 3,780,666  
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 3)  12,737  494  2,897  -  16,128 
Additions  -  28,630  7,014  5,277  40,921 
Transfers/ reclassifications  -  -  2,762  (1,561)  1,201 
Write off/ disposal  (49,430)  (6,289)  (431)  -  (56,150)
Exchange adjustments  1,585  5,813  (2,308)  23  5,113 
As at 31 December 2023  545,750  2,920,055  312,048  10,026  3,787,879 

Accumulated amortization and Impairment  
As at 31 December 2021 11,942 1,368,350 147,566 - 1,527,858
Charge for the year -  89,737 15,010 - 104,747  
Transfers/ reclassifications - - (1,837) - (1,837)
Write off/ disposal  - -  (69) -  (69)
Exchange adjustments -  14,299  3,235 -  17,534 
As at 31 December 2022 11,942  1,472,386  163,905 - 1,648,233 
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 3)  -  26  -  -  26 
Charge for the year  -  88,736  16,624  -  105,360 
Write off/ disposal   -  (6,289)  (238)  -  (6,527)
Exchange adjustments  -  3,814  349  -  4,163 
As at 31 December 2023  11,942  1,558,673  180,640  -  1,751,255 
Net book value
As at 31 December 2023  533,808 1,361,382  131,408  10,026  2,036,624 
As at 31 December 2022 568,916 1,419,021  138,209 6,287 2,132,433  

Goodwill has been allocated to the following Cash Generating Unit (CGU) which is expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the business combination. It is also the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for impairment 
purposes. Goodwill and the CGU to which it has been allocated are as follows:

*This includes goodwill arising from acquisition of BIOS, Adfolks and Bookeey (note 3).

12.  Intangible assets and goodwill

KD ’000 KD ’000

Pella  79,517  79,517 
Zain Sudan  1,402  2,006 
Atheer  422,836  470,115 
SMTC  15,117  15,095 
Others*   14,936   2,183    

 533,808  568,916 

20222023
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Reconciliation of movements of amounts due to banks to cash flows from financing activities:

The current and non-current amounts are as follows:

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

The average effective interest rate as at 31 December 2023 was 6.52% (2022 – 4.06%) per annum.

15.  Due to banksAtheer
This includes the fee paid for the initial license in 2007, its renewal in 2020, 3G license in 2015 and for the 4G license 
in 2020. 

Pella
In 2021, the Pella agreed to renew the new dynamic Telecom license from Telecom Regulatory Commission (“TRC”) 
for a period of 15 years at an amount of JD 156.375 million (KD 66.631 million) with payment terms being three equal 
instalments over a ten-year period without any interest charges.

In September 2022, JMTS a subsidiary of Pella, entered into a settlement agreement with TRC, to end all the disputes 
related to revenue sharing and to extend the useful lives of existing licenses, and grant of 5G license. Under this 
agreement all the existing spectrum licenses was extended for 10 years, in addition to another 5 years to be evaluated 
after 3 years based on specific criteria.

The Group allocated the total amount of the settlement agreement of JD 85.9 million between telecom license 
extensions, 5G license and to the dispute related to the revenue share based on the relative fair value. The amount 
allocated to the 5G, existing licenses and the dispute amounted to JD 26.9 million (KD 11.601 million), JD 36.1 million 
(KD 15.569 million) and JD 22.9 million (KD 9.876 million) respectively.

Dues to regulatory authorities include amount of SAR 805.367 million (KD 65.879 million) (2022: KD 79.708 million) 
payable by SMTC to Ministry of Finance and KD Nil (2022: 11.204 million) payable by Atheer to CMC for the renewal 
of existing license. 

Atheer - Iraq
Income tax assessment for 2011 is contested and is currently under the consideration of Iraq General Commission for 
Taxes (IGCT) (Note 29). 

Atheer has booked the income tax expenses for the year from 2019 to date, based on self-assessment, considering 
most likely outcome. No assessment order has yet been received. Income tax assessment for all other years are paid 
and settled. 

Management believes that they have adequate provisions for liabilities in respect of the assessments contested.

13.  Trade and other payables 

14.  Income tax payables

KD ’000 KD ’000

Trade payables and accruals  789,269  697,162 
Due to roaming partners  17,938  15,259 
Due to other operators (interconnect)  12,730  8,161 
Dues to regulatory authorities (refer below)  80,847  101,608 
Taxes payable  100,364 86,995
Dividend payable  25,308 24,985
Directors’ remuneration  479 435
Other payables  62,395 48,657

 1,089,330 983,262

KD ’000 KD ’000
Company
   Short term loans  24,576 21,406
   Long term loans  562,363 538,854

 586,939 560,260

SMTC  428,019 490,723
   Long term loans  428,019 490,723

Zain Jordan  79,875 79,506
   Long term loans  79,875 79,506

Atheer
   Bank overdrafts  514 2,516
   Long term loans  216,191 233,553

 216,705 236,069
1,311,538 1,366,558

KD ’000 KD ’000

Opening balance  1,366,558 1,305,560
Proceeds from bank borrowings  142,860 458,543
Repayment of bank borrowings  (207,361) (420,518)
Effect of change in foreign exchange rates  9,481 22,973

 1,311,538 1,366,558

KD ’000 KD ’000

Current liabilities  169,881 213,559
Non-current liabilities  1,141,657 1,152,999

 1,311,538 1,366,558

KD ’000 KD ’000

US Dollar  550,097 670,902
Kuwaiti Dinar  413,294 296,343
Saudi Riyals  348,147 399,313

 1,311,538 1,366,558

KD ’000 KD ’000

Atheer – Iraq 5,749 10,029
Pella – Jordan 5,734 2,861
Other 7,635 5,714

19,118 18,604

2022

2022

2022

2022

2022

2022

2023

2023

2023

2023

2023

2023
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The Group is compliant with the principal covenant ratios, which include:
•	 Consolidated net borrowings to adjusted consolidated Earnings Before Interest Tax Depreciation  

and Amortisation (EBITDA);
•	 Adjusted consolidated EBITDA to adjusted consolidated net interest payable; 
•	 Consolidated net borrowings to consolidated net worth (equity);

Company
During the year, the Company has; 

•	 Drawn down loans amounting to KD 150.607 million from existing and new facilities (31 December 2022 -  
KD 143.489 million). This includes:
-	 US$ 80 million (KD 24.536 million) of a revolving credit facility amounting to US$ 130 million.
-	 KD 101 million of a revolving credit facility amounting to KD 200 million.
-	 KD 15 million of a revolving credit facility amounting to KD 100 million. 

•	 Repaid loans amounting to KD 125.484 million (31 December 2022 – KD 127.457 million). This includes:
-	 US$ 70 million (KD 21.490 million) of a revolving credit facility amounting to US$ 130 million
-	 US$ 30.514 million (KD 9.350 million) of long-term facility amounting to US$ 194.117 million
-	 US$ 107.692 million (KD 32.997 million) of long-term facility amounting to US$ 200 million
-	 US$ 21.176 million (KD 6.488 million) of long-term facility amounting to US$ 87.705 million
-	 US$ 65 million (KD 19.971 million) of a term loan facility amounting to US$ 100 million
-	 US$ 30 million (KD 9.267 million) of a long-term facility amounting to US$ 317 million

The above facilities carry a fixed margin over three month CME term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (CME term 
SOFR) or over Central Bank Discount rate. 

SMTC
Long-term loans include:

1)SAR 5,233 million (KD 428.059 million) (31 December 2022: SAR 5,488 million equivalent to KD 448.259 
million) syndicated murabaha facility and SAR Nil (31 December 2022: SAR 520 million equivalent to KD 42.474 
million) working capital facility availed from a consortium of banks.

In September 2020, SMTC signed an Amendment Agreement (the Agreement) with the consortium of lenders 
to refinance the Murabaha facilities that existed as of that date and to secure additional funding for future capital 
investment. 

The Agreement:
a.	 Includes a Total Term Murabaha Facility of SAR 6,000 million (KD 490.800 million), consisting of SAR 

4.880 billion (KD 0.399 billion) and US$ portion of SAR 1.120 billion (KD 0.092 billion) for refinancing of 
the existing Term Murabaha Facility amounting to SAR 3.480 billion (KD 0.285 billion) and balance for 
future specified business purposes. 

b.	 Includes a revolving working capital facility of SAR 1,000 million (KD 81.800 million) consisting of SAR 
813.393 million (KD 66.536 million) and a US$ portion totaling to SAR 186.607 million (KD 15.264 
million).

The Murabaha Facility continues to be secured partially by a guarantee from the Company and a pledge of the 
Company’s and some of the founding shareholders’ shares in SMTC and assignment of certain contracts and 
receivables. Under the Murabaha Financing Agreement, SMTC can declare dividend or other distribution in cash or in 
kind to shareholders, provided SMTC is in compliance with all its obligations under the agreement.

A portion of above syndicated loan has been hedged through a profit rate swap contract.

Zain Jordan
Long term loans include:

1)	 US$ 160 million (KD 49.152 million) (31 December 2022 – US$ 160 million equivalent to KD 48.928 million) 
term loan from a commercial bank which is repayable by 2025.

2)	 US$ 100 million (KD 30.720 million) (31 December 2022 – US$ 100 million equivalent to KD 30.580 million) 
term loan from a commercial bank which is repayable by 30 April 2027.

Atheer
Long term loans include:

1)	 US$ 50 million (KD 15.360 million) (31 December 2022 – US$ 70 million equivalent to KD 21.406 million) term 
loan from a commercial bank which is repayable by 17 December 2024.

2)	 US$ 105 million (KD 32.256 million) (31 December 2022 – US$ 105 million equivalent to KD 32.109 million) 
term loan from a commercial bank which is repayable by 30 June 2026.

3)	 US$ 125 million (KD 38.400 million) (31 December 2022 – US$ 150 million equivalent to KD 45.870 million) 
revolving credit facilities from a commercial bank which is repayable by 17 December 2025.

4)	 US$ 100 million (KD 30.720 million) (31 December 2022 – US$ 100 million equivalent to KD 30.580 million) 
term loan from a commercial bank which is repayable by 30 July 2026.

5)	 US$ 50 million (KD 15.360 million) (31 December 2022 – US$ 50 million equivalent to KD 15.290 million) term 
loan from a commercial bank which is repayable by 14 April 2024.

6)	 US$ 48.750 million (KD 14.976 million) (31 December 2022 – US$ 63.750 million equivalent to KD 19.495 
million) term loan from a commercial bank which is repayable by 28 April 2025.

7)	 US$ 125 million (KD 38.400 million) (31 December 2022 – US$ 125 million equivalent to KD 38.225 million) 
term loan from a commercial bank which is repayable by 03 May 2025.

8)	 US$ 100 million (KD 30.720 million) (31 December 2022 – US$ 100 million equivalent to KD 30.580 million) 
term loan from a commercial bank which is repayable by 25 May 2024.

These facilities are guaranteed by MTC and carry a floating interest rate of a fixed margin over three month SOFR.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2023



ANNUAL REPORT 2023

177176 Strategic Review | Governance | Financial Statements

18.  Share capital and reserves
Share capital (par value of KD 0.100 per share)

No. of shares No. of shares
Authorised, Issued and fully paid up (in cash and bonus shares) 4,327,058,909 4,327,058,909

20222023

Legal reserve
In accordance with the Companies Law and the Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for the year 
has to be appropriated towards legal reserve until such time it reaches a minimum of 50% of the share capital (the 
“threshold”). The Company has not made any transfers to legal reserve during the year as it has reached the threshold. 
This reserve can be utilized only for distribution of a maximum dividend of 5% in years when retained earnings are 
inadequate for this purpose.

Voluntary reserve
The Company’s Articles of Association provide for the Board of Directors to propose appropriations to voluntary 
reserve up to a maximum of 50% of its share capital. During the year, the Board of Directors did not propose any 
transfer (2022 - Nil).

Foreign currency translation reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve mainly represents foreign exchange translation losses arising from Zain Sudan 
and Zain South Sudan.

Other reserves
Other reserves mainly includes hedge reserves gain amounting to KD 2.795 million (2022- KD 3.857 million).

Dividend – 2022
The annual general meeting of shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2022 held on 11 April 2023 approved 
distribution of a cash dividend of 25 fils per share to the registered shareholders, for the second half of the year 2022, 
after obtaining necessary regulatory approvals. This is in addition to the interim dividend of 10 fils distributed earlier 
in 2022 totaling 35 fils per share for the year 2022 (31 December 2021 – 33 fils per share).

Dividend 2023 – Proposed and interim
The Board of Directors recommends distribution of a cash dividend of 25 fils per share to the registered shareholders, 
for the second half of the year 2023, subject to shareholders and statutory approvals.  This is in addition to the interim 
dividend of 10 fils distributed earlier in 2023 totaling 35 fils per share for the year 2023 as in the table above.

19.	 Revenue

19.1	 Disaggregated revenue information 
The total revenue disaggregated by major service lines is:

16.   Lease liabilities

17.   Other non-current liabilities

Dividend 

KD ’000 KD ’000

Balance as of 1 January  104,799 182,307
Additions  136,430 63,361
Accretion of interest  11,692 7,046
Payments  (48,683) (60,047)
Retirements  (5,308) (2,802)
Transfers to liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale  (21,307) (86,693)
Exchange adjustments  (1,722) 1,627
Closing balance as at 31 December (excluding liabilities of disposal group classified as held  
for sale) 175,901 104,799

Current  28,862 19,424
Non-current  147,039 85,375

 175,901 104,799

KD ’000 KD ’000

Saudi Riyals  100,862 55,527
US Dollar  13,043 12,040
Jordanian Dinar  12,480 12,070
Bahraini Dinar  14,214 12,611
Kuwaiti Dinar  7,094 5,707
Others  28,208 6,844

 175,901 104,799

KD ’000 KD ’000

Payable to Ministry of Finance – KSA (refer below)  158,207 203,152
Due for acquisition of spectrum  157,206 167,239
Customer deposits  4,519 3,190
Post-employment benefits  51,466 46,648
Others  3,783 7,645

 375,181 427,874

Fils Fils
Interim dividend 10 10
Proposed dividend 25 25
Total dividend 35 35

KD ’000 KD ’000

Airtime, data, subscription and other services  1,682,351 1,528,212
Trading income  226,591 199,846

 1,908,942 1,728,058

20222023

20222023

20222023

20222023

20222023

Maturity analysis of lease liability is given in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities was in the range of 3.8% to 
21% (2022: 3.5% to 21%). 

The carrying amounts of the lease liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:

During 2013, SMTC signed an agreement with the Ministry of Finance – KSA to defer payments that are due until 
2021. The amounts are repayable in seven years starting from June 2021.

In February 2023, SMTC signed a revised agreement with the Ministry of Finance (“MOF”), Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 
under which the existing deferral of payment to MOF along with commercial commission payable was converted into 
a Murabaha facility with MOF and Al Rajhi Banking & Investment Corporation has been appointed as the Murabaha 
Facility Agent. 

The current portion of these payables, including finance cost, SAR 657.328 million (KD 53.769 million) is recorded 
under trade and other payables.

The total revenue disaggregated by primary geographical market and timing of revenue recognition is disclosed in 
note 26. 

The Group has recognized the following contract assets and liabilities related to contract with customers; 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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19.2  Contract balances 
Contract assets

22.   Finance cost
Finance cost consists of:

23.   National Labour Support Tax (NLST) and Zakat

Contract liabilities

KD ’000 KD ’000
Assets relating to sale of handsets
Current and non-current  136,148 124,552
Loss allowance  (6,037) (4,940)

 130,111 119,612

KD ’000 KD ’000

Due to banks  88,074 57,613
Lease liabilities  13,372 11,723
License and spectrum  9,680 9,261
CITC (KSA)  13,288 8,909
Others  2,456 797

 126,870 88,303

KD ’000 KD ’000

NLST- Kuwait  3,599 3,072
Zakat- Kuwait  1,440 1,229
Zakat – KSHC  4 7
Zakat- Sudan  2,670 1,901
Zakat- KSA  7,388 1,882

 15,101 8,091

KD ’000 KD ’000

Corporate income tax  21,791 14,427
Reversal of corporate income taxes in respect of previous years  -   (5,019)
Other taxes  1,400 1,531

 23,191 10,939

KD ’000 KD ’000

Gain on investments at fair value through profit or loss  10,921 5,147
Dividend income  135 331

 11,056 5,478

KD ’000 KD ’000

Deferred revenue- prepaid customers 63,383 64,270

2022 2022

2022

2022

2022

2022

2023 2023

2023

2023

2023

2023

As permitted under IFRS 15, the Group does not disclose transaction price allocated to the remaining performance 
obligations as it primarily provides services that correspond directly with the value transferred to the customer.

20.   Operating and administrative expenses
a.	 Operating and administrative expenses also includes staff costs of KD 166.181 million (2022 – KD 

146.531 million).

b.	 A part of the regulatory tariff levied on mobile telecommunication operators in Kuwait by the Ministry of 
Communication (MOC) since 26 July 2011 was invalidated by the Kuwait Court of Cassation in April 2017. 
Accordingly, the Group’s claim amounted to KD 24.680 million. 

•	 In June 2022 and in February 2023 the Courts of First Instance and the Court of Appeal respectively, 
issued judgements in favor of the Group. 

•	 In April 2023 MOC appealed to the Court of Cassation against the above ruling and to suspend its 
execution. The request to suspend the execution of order of Court of Appeal was rejected on 30 May 
2023. 

Based on the above, the Group received the above claim amounting to KD 24.680 million and has recognized 
an amount of KD 24.680 million in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income for the year ended 31 December 2023.

NLST and Zakat in Kuwait represents taxes payable to Kuwait’s Ministry of Finance under National Labour Support 
Law No. 19 of 2000 and Zakat Law No. 46 of 2006, respectively. 

24.	 Income tax expenses
This represents the income tax and other tax expenses of subsidiaries. 

The tax rate applicable to the taxable subsidiary companies is in the range of 7% to 26% (2022: 7% to 26%)  
whereas the effective income tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2023 is in the range of 4% to 24% (2022: 4% 
to 24%). For the purpose of determining the taxable results for the year, the accounting profits were adjusted for tax 
purposes. The adjustments are based on the current understanding of the existing laws, regulations and practices of 
each overseas subsidiary companies’ jurisdiction. 

Pillar 2 Income Taxes 
 In 2021, the OECD’s Inclusive Framework (IF) on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) reached  an agreement  
on a two-pillar approach to tackle tax challenges arising from the digitalization of  the economy. Under Pillar 2, 
Multinational Entities (MNEs) with revenues exceeding EUR 750  million are liable to pay a minimum effective corporate 
income tax rate of 15% in each ‎jurisdiction where they operate. ‎

Zain Group operates in multiple jurisdictions that have joined the IF. The Global Minimum Tax under Pillar 2 is  
applicable for all jurisdictions effective 2025 except Zain Sudan (held via ZIBV in the Netherlands), where this Global 
Minimum Tax is applicable effective 2024.

Currently, the Group is assessing its exposure to additional income taxes under Pillar 2  regulations. The assessment 
suggests that a portion of the Group’s earnings will be subject to  these additional taxes. However, providing a 
reasonable estimate of the additional tax burden is  challenging at this stage, as the relevant tax legislation has yet to 
be introduced in Kuwait and  some other jurisdictions.

21.   Investment income

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2023
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Kuwait Jordan Sudan Iraq Bahrain KSA Others Total
Segment revenues
airtime, data, subscriptions and other services (Over 
time)

 254,544  153,338  169,092  297,043  47,783  711,475  49,076  1,682,351 

Segment revenues
trading income (Point in time)  105,920  7,985  2,173  2,398  11,160  96,341  614  226,591 

Net profit before interest and tax     100,888    43,737  71,462  48,107  5,212  78,085  (9,922)  337,569 
Interest income  2,964  684  3,412  695  331  5,694  225  14,005 
Gain on sale and lease back transaction  1,073  -    -    9,905*  -    83,139  -    94,117 
Finance costs  (785)  (13,093)  (1,468)  (26,846)  (808)  (58,897)  (285)  (102,182)
Income tax expenses  -    (7,912)  (6,910)  (4,691)  -    -    (1,479)  (20,992)

  104,140  23,416  66,496  27,170  4,735  108,021  (11,461)  322,517 

Unallocated items:

Investment income  1,107 

Share of results of associates and joint venture  1,569 

Others (including unallocated interest income, income 
tax and finance costs net of elimination)

  (34,406)

Profit for the year  290,787 

Segment assets including allocated goodwill  448,138  414,924  147,830  991,481  98,017 2,212,268  149,122  4,461,780 

ROU asset  11,838  10,002  2,262  19,225  14,136  68,935  1,793  128,191 

Unallocated items:

Investment securities at FVTPL  35,130 

Investment securities at FVOCI  10,783 

Investment in associates and joint venture  204,617 

Others (net of eliminations)  155,195 

Consolidated assets  4,995,696 

Segment liabilities  163,074  159,454  42,061  142,162  28,134  849,590  157,737  1,542,212 

Lease liabilities (Current & non-current)  18,176  12,219  1,658  27,082  14,214  100,862  1,690  175,901 

Due to banks  -    79,875  -    216,706  -    428,019  -    724,600 

 181,250  251,548  43,719  385,950  42,348 1,378,471  159,427  2,442,713 

Unallocated items:

Due to banks  586,938 

Others (net of eliminations)  5,810 

Consolidated liabilities  3,035,461 

Net consolidated assets  1,960,235 

Capital expenditure incurred during the year  46,389  50,117  33,640 60,066   10,418  78,103  26,079  304,812 

Unallocated (net of eliminations)  1,083 

Total capital expenditure  305,895 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment  43,361  22,092  13,766  59,955  9,874  152,555  6,394  307,997 

Amortization of ROU assets  6,869  1,271  767  2,791  3,376  20,000   (457)** 34,617

Unallocated  2,777 

Total depreciation and amortization  345,391 

31 December 2023 KD ’000

KD ’000 KD ’000
Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company: 215,473 195,972

Shares Shares
Weighted average number of shares in issue 4,327,058,909 4,327,058,909

Fils Fils
50 45

20222023

25.   Earnings per share 
Basic and diluted earnings per share based on weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year are 
as follows:

26.   Segment information
The Company and its subsidiaries operate in a single business segment, telecommunications and related services. 
Apart from its operations in Kuwait, the Company also operates through its foreign subsidiaries in Jordan, Sudan,  
Iraq, Bahrain, KSA, Lebanon and South Sudan. This forms the basis of the geographical segments. 

Based on the disclosure criterion, the Group has identified its telecommunications operations in Kuwait, Jordan,  
Sudan, Iraq, Bahrain and KSA as the basis for disclosing the segment information.

*Eliminated at Group level (Refer Note 8)
** Net of eliminations

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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KD ’000
SMTC Al Khatem, Iraq Zain Bahrain

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Current assets  552,421 579,789  190,830 203,698  29,035 31,786
Non-current assets  1,687,117 1,742,043  718,425 714,985  83,118 81,471
Current liabilities  (649,003) (735,649)  (215,167) (239,059)  (29,824) (34,437)
Non-current liabilities  (724,159) (789,761)  (170,783) (176,044)  (12,524) (11,357)
Non-controlling interests - - - -  (1,184) (1,217)

Equity attributable to:
- Owners of the Company  320,951 295,035  397,705 382,713  45,863 43,925
- Non-controlling interests  545,427 501,387  125,599 120,867  23,942 23,538

Revenue  807,816 743,003  299,441 248,038  58,943 54,692
Profit for the year  108,021 40,894  27,170 4,734  4,735 4,642
Other comprehensive income  (2,331) 17,206  - -  - -
Total comprehensive income  105,690 58,100  27,170 4,734  4,735 4,642

Total comprehensive 
income attributable to: 
- Company’s shareholders  39,153 21,523  20,649 3,598  3,083 3,023
- Non-controlling interests  66,537 36,577  6,521 1,136  1,652 1,619

 105,690 58,100  27,170 4,734  4,735 4,642

Cash dividend paid to non-controlling Interests (23,027) - - - (928) (822)
Net cash flow from operating activities 91,882 157,868 105,105 85,065 13,608 15,027
Net cash flow from used in investing activities 132,298 (109,319) (51,707) (33,881) (6,621) (13,002)
Net cash flow used in financing activities (156,285) (57,311) (48,437) (37,251) (5,033) (3,425)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and 
cash equivalents 339 (112) 360 74 20 39

Net increase / (decrease) in cash flows 44,868 (8,762) 4,961 13,933 1,026 (2,222)

Kuwait Jordan Sudan Iraq Bahrain KSA Others Total
Segment revenues
airtime, data, subscriptions and other services  
(Over time)

 255,608  149,751  147,777  245,599  45,431  651,559  32,487  1,528,212 

Segment revenues
trading income (Point in time)  86,517  6,913  2,157  2,439  9,261  91,444  1,115  199,846 

Net profit before interest and tax   81,200  35,343  74,957 23,832   5,322 86,956   (4,048) 303,562  
Interest income  1,811  1,180  1,608  59  118  846  78  5,700 
Gain on sale and lease back transaction  402  -    -    -    -    -    -    402 
Impairment of Goodwill -  -    -   (21,197)  -    -    -   (21,197)
Finance costs  (760)  (8,608)  (281)  (19,656)  (798)  (46,908)  (111)  (77,122)
Income tax expenses  -    (6,677)  (4,031)  499 - -  (143)  (10,352)

 82,653  21,238  72,253 (16,463)  4,642   40,894   (4,224) 200,993

Unallocated items:

Investment income  5,478 

Share of results of associates and joint venture  3,202 

Others (including unallocated interest income, income 
tax and finance costs net of elimination)

14,719

Profit for the year  224,392 

Segment assets including allocated goodwill  413,424  391,668  116,730 1,063,028  100,683 2,301,613  102,344  4,489,490 

ROU asset  10,137  9,725  2,555  5,849  12,574  64,516  1,105  106,461 

Unallocated items:

Investment securities at FVTPL  34,129 

Investment securities at FVOCI  17,600 

Investment in associates and joint venture  96,533 

Others (net of eliminations)  205,295 

Consolidated assets  4,949,508 

Segment liabilities  124,993  137,271  45,585  173,627  33,184  985,000  97,856  1,597,516 

Lease liabilities (Current & non-current)  16,789  11,801  1,635  5,406  12,611  55,527  1,030  104,799 

Due to banks -    79,506  -    236,070  -    490,723  -    806,299 

 141,782  228,578  47,220  415,103  45,795 1,531,250  98,886  2,508,614 

Unallocated items:

Due to banks  560,259 

Others (net of eliminations)  (15,225)

Consolidated liabilities  3,053,648 

Net consolidated assets  1,895,860 

Capital expenditure incurred during the year 31,745   61,687  28,853 55,278  11,554 74,144  23,210 286,471  

Unallocated (net of eliminations)  947 

Total capital expenditure 287,418

Depreciation and amortization  41,816  27,807  2,721  64,544  9,465  151,830  5,572  303,755 

Amortization of ROU assets  6,278  1,491  875  4,068  3,131  16,867  18  32,728 

Unallocated  (1,194)

Total depreciation and amortization  335,289 

31 December 2022 27.	 Subsidiaries with significant non-controlling interests
The summarized financial information for the Group’s subsidiaries that have significant non-controlling interests is 
set out below.

KD ’000

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Amortized costs At fair value through 
profit or loss

Fair value through 
comprehensive income

KD ’000 KD ’000 KD ’000
31 December 2023
Cash and bank balances  313,547 - -
Trade and other receivables  778,585 - -
Investment securities  -   35,130 11,698
Other assets  14,326 - -

 1,106,458 35,130 11,698
31 December 2022
Cash and bank balances 240,409 - -
Trade and other receivables 668,998 - -
Investment securities - 34,129 17,600
Other assets 15,967 - -

925,374 34,129 17,600

28.	 Related party transactions
The Group has entered into transactions with related parties on terms approved by management. Transactions and 
balances with related parties (in addition to those disclosed in other notes) are as follows:

29.	 Commitments and contingencies

30.	 Financial risk management
The Group’s financial assets have been categorized as follows: 

The group has entered into transactions with Kuwait government in the ordinary course of business.

KD ’000 KD ’000

Transactions
Revenue (with parent company) 8,766 2,702
Cost of sales (with parent company) 12,322 8,775
Services rendered by associates 20,996 7,489

Key management compensation
Salaries and other short term employee benefits  2,719 2,514
Post-employment benefits  361 552
Balances
Trade receivables (from parent company)  8,791 2,649
Trade and other receivables (from associates)  2,775 15,620
Other non-current assets (from associates)  8,535 6,911
Trade payables (to parent company)  12,172 8,355
Trade payables (to associates)  3,572 -

KD ’000 KD ’000

Capital commitments  87,371 63,803
Uncalled share capital of investee companies  366 634
Letters of guarantee and credit  58,015 64,461

20222023

20222023

Atheer - Iraq
Atheer received an additional income tax claim of US$ 19.3 million (KD 5.902 million) from IGCT for the year 2011 
on 9 March 2020. On 12 March 2020, Atheer submitted its objection to this additional income tax claim which was 
rejected by the IGCT on 15 March 2020. This additional tax claim is now under appeal procedures before the Appeals 
Committee of IGCT. Atheer believes that it has adequate provisions to meet this liability, if it arises.

On 10 September 2023, the Communication and Media Commission of Iraq (“CMC”) imposed a fine of US$ 75 
million (KD 23.018 million) on Atheer for failing to meet 4G QoS (‘Quality of Service’) KPIs for the year 2022. Atheer’s 
position is that the penalties are not assessed in line with license agreement with CMC and did not comply with 
existing regulations. On 9 October 2023, Atheer challenged the decision before the Appeals Board. Based on the 
report from its attorneys, Atheer believes that the prospects of this matter being re-solved in Atheer’s favor are good.
 
Pella - Jordan
Pella is a defendant in lawsuits amounting to KD 22.613 million (31 December 2022 – KD 22.573 million).   Based on 
the report of its attorneys, the Group expects the outcome of these proceedings to be favorable to Pella.
	

SMTC
SMTC received withholding tax assessments from Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority (“ZATCA”) for an additional 
amount of SAR 252 million (KD 20.614 million) for certain withholding tax items for the years from 2012 to 2013 and 
from 2015 to 2021. SMTC has appealed these assessments against the relevant committees. The SMTC believes that 
the outcome of those appeals will be in its favor with no material financial impact as SMTC has sufficient provisions 
to cover these amounts.

In addition, legal proceedings have been initiated by and against the Group in some jurisdictions. On the basis of 
information currently available and the advice of the legal advisors, Group management is of the opinion that the 
outcome of these proceedings is unlikely to have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position or 
the consolidated performance of the Group.

Financial risk factors
The Group’s use of financial instruments exposes it to a variety of financial risks such as market risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Group continuously reviews its risk exposures and takes measures to limit it to acceptable levels. The 
Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework and developing and monitoring the risk management policies in close co-operation with the Group’s 
operating units. The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the 
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management 
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and Group’s activities. The Group 
through its training, management standards and procedures aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control 
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. The Group’s Board Committee oversees 
how management monitors compliance with the risk management policies and procedures and reviews adequacy of 
the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Board Committee is assisted in its 
oversight role by the Internal audit and the Group risk management department. The significant risks that the Group 
is exposed to are discussed below:

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial 
transactions, recognised assets, recognised liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.

Group management has set up a policy that requires Group companies to manage their foreign exchange 
risk against their functional currency. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or 
recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2023 2022

Market indices Impact on
net profit

Effect on
equity

Impact on
net profit

Effect on
equity
KD ’000

Kuwait Stock Exchange ±151 ±110 ±163 ±93

The Group is primarily exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation 
of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables, trade and other 
payables and due to banks. The impact on the post tax consolidated profit arising from a 10% weakening/
strengthening of the functional currency against the major currencies to which the Group is exposed is given 
below:

(ii)  Equity price risk
This is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, 
whether these changes are caused by factors specific to individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting 
all instruments, traded in the market. The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments 
held by the Group and classified in the consolidated statement of financial position as FVOCI and FVTPL. The 
Group is not exposed to commodity price risk. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity 
securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits 
set by the Group.

The effect on the consolidated profit as a result of changes in fair value of equity instruments classified as ‘at fair 
value through profit or loss’ and the effect on equity of equity instruments classified as ‘fair value through other 
comprehensive income’ arising from a 5% increase/ decrease in equity market index, with all other variables 
held constant is as follows:

(iii)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from short-term bank deposits and bank borrowings carried at amortized 
cost. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s borrowings 
at variable rates are denominated mainly in US Dollars. 

The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into 
consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions and alternative financing. Based on these scenarios, 
the Group calculates the impact on consolidated statement of profit or loss of a defined interest rate shift. For 
each simulation, the same interest rate shift is used for all currencies. The scenarios are run only for liabilities 
that represent the major interest-bearing positions. The Group manages interest rate risk by monitoring interest 
rate movements and by using Interest Rate Swaps to hedge interest rate risk exposures. Hedging activities are 
evaluated regularly to align with interest rate views and defined risk appetite, ensuring the most cost-effective 
hedging strategies are applied.

At 31 December 2023, if interest rates at that date had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other  
variables held constant, consolidated profit for the year would have been lower/higher by KD 5.806 million 
(2022: KD 6.551 million).

Currency KD ’000 KD ’000

US Dollar 15,956 21,499
Euro 283 108
Other 6,206 6,217

20222023

b)  Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation causing the other party 
to incur a financial loss. Financial assets, which potentially subject the Group to credit risk, consist principally of fixed 
and short notice bank deposits, trade and other receivables, contract assets and due from associates. 

The Group manages the credit risk on bank balances by placing fixed and short term bank deposits with high credit 
rating financial institutions. Credit risk with respect to trade receivables and contract assets is limited due to dispersion 
across large number of customers.  Group manages credit risk of customers by continuously monitoring and using 
experienced collection agencies to recover past due outstanding amounts.  Credit risk of distributors, roaming and 
interconnect operators, due from associates and others including third parties on whose behalf financial guarantees 
are issued by the Group is managed by periodic evaluation of their credit worthiness or obtaining bank guarantees in 
certain cases. 

Expected credit loss (ECL) measurement
IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition 
wherein if a financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in Stage 1. If a significant 
increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to Stage 2 but is 
not yet deemed to be credit-impaired and if the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then 
moved to Stage 3. 

Significant increase in credit risk
When determining whether the risk of default has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers 
quantitative, qualitative information and backstop indicators and analysis based on the Group’s historical experience 
and expert credit risk assessment, including forward-looking information. For customer, distributors, roaming and 
interconnect trade receivables significant increase in credit risk criteria does not apply since the group is using 
simplified approach which requires use of lifetime expected loss provision.  

For amounts due from banks, the Group uses the low credit risk exemption as permitted by IFRS 9 based on the 
external rating agency credit grades. If the financial instrument is rated below BBB- (sub investment grade) on the 
reporting date, the Group considers it as significant increase in credit risk. 

Financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
•  The financial instrument has a low risk of default,
•  The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and
•  Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce 

the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.  

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment 
grade’ in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an 
internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no 
past due amounts.

Credit impaired assets
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the 
Group in full, there is sufficient doubt about the ultimate collectability; or the customer is past due for more than 90 
days.

Incorporation of forward looking information
The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an 
instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. The Group has 
performed historical analysis and identified Gross Domestic Product (GDP) of each geography in which they operate 
as the key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECL for each portfolio. Relevant macro-economic adjustments 
are applied to capture variations from economic scenarios. These reflect reasonable and supportable forecasts of 
future macro-economic conditions that are not captured within the base ECL calculations. Incorporating forward-
looking information increases the degree of judgement required as to how changes in GDP will affect ECLs. The 
methodologies and assumptions including any forecasts of future economic conditions are reviewed regularly.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ECL staging

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Simplified 
approach

KD '000 KD '000 KD '000 KD '000 KD '000
12-month Lifetime Lifetime Lifetime Total

At 31 December 2023
Bank balances  238,592  72,595  28,764 -  339,951 
Less: ECL  (162)  (1,251)  (25,750) -  (27,163)

 238,430  71,344  3,014 -  312,788 

Customers - - -  456,785  456,785 
Distributors - - -  72,096  72,096 
Contract assets - - -  136,148  136,148 
Less: ECL - - -  (170,652)  (170,652)

- - -  494,377  494,377 

Roaming partners - - -  15,708  15,708 
Other operators (interconnect) - - -  71,509  71,509 
Less: ECL - - -  (4,467)  (4,467)

- - -  82,750  82,750 

Other receivables -  168,971 - -  168,971 
Less: ECL -  (5,749) - -  (5,749)

-  163,222 - -  163,222 

At 31 December 2022
Bank balances 153,292 85,280 31,453 - 270,025
Less: ECL (123) (1,185) (28,308) - (29,616)

153,169 84,095 3,145 - 240,409

Customers - - - 381,492 381,492
Distributors - - - 63,040 63,040
Contract assets - - - 124,552 124,552
Less: ECL - - - (161,837) (161,837)

- - - 407,247 407,247

Roaming partners - - - 12,584 12,584
Other operators (interconnect) - - - 74,775 74,775
Less: ECL - - - (5,291) (5,291)

- - - 82,068 82,068

Other receivables - 113,235 - - 113,235
Less: ECL - (2,112) - - (2,112)

- 111,123 - - 111,123

KD ’000 KD ’000
Collectively assessed  170,652 161,837
Individually assessed  10,216 7,403

 180,868 169,240

31 December 202231 December 2023

The following table contains an analysis of the maximum credit risk exposure of financial instruments for which an 
ECL allowance is recognized:

ECL allowance of trade and other receivables are assessed as follows:

The following table shows the movement in the loss allowance that has been recognized for trade and other  
receivables and contract assets: 

For customer, distributor and contract assets the Group uses a provision matrix based on the historic default rates 
observed and adjusted for forward looking factors to measure ECL as given below. 

Collectively assessed Individually assessed Total

KD ’000 KD ’000 KD ’000
1 January 2022 166,271 7,934 174,205
Recoveries 161 - 161
Amounts written off (25,108) (765) (25,873)
Foreign exchange gains and losses 1,280 161 1,441
Net increase in loss allowance 19,233 73 19,306
31 December 2022 161,837 7,403 169,240

 
On business combination  96  -  96 
Recoveries  227  -  227 
Amounts written off  (23,291)  (8)  (23,299)
Foreign exchange gains and losses  (16)  (12)  (28)
Net increase in loss allowance  31,799  2,833  34,632 
31 December 2023  170,652  10,216  180,868 

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Aging brackets 
of postpaid trade receivables

Estimated 
total gross 

carrying 
amount at 

default

Expected 
credit loss 

rate

Lifetime 
ECL

Estimated 
total gross 

carrying 
amount at 

default

Expected 
credit loss 

rate

Lifetime 
ECL

KD ’000 % KD ’000 KD ’000 % KD ’000
   

Not due /< 30 days  246,742 3%  6,492 270,551 2% 5,296
31 – 60 days  26,128 4%  1,038 15,107 3% 523
61 – 90 days  30,262 6%  1,962 13,380 9% 1,161
91 – 180 days  46,340 18%  8,371 26,636 17% 4,514
> 181 days  315,557 48%  152,789 243,410 62% 150,343

 665,029   170,652 569,084 161,837

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Less than
1 year

Between 1
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years

Over
5 years

KD ’000 KD ’000 KD ’000 KD '000

At 31 December 2023
Bank borrowings  243,702 729,395  528,255 -
Trade and other payables  876,576 - - -
Other non-current liabilities  
  Payable to Ministry of Finance – Saudi Arabia  57,365  111,481  68,866 -
  Due to CITC for acquisition of spectrum  15,435  32,756  100,921  43,190 
  Other  328  313  3,589  1,688 
Lease liabilities  122,333  20,724  48,934  22,269 

At 31 December 2022
Bank borrowings 258,518  702,759  585,534  -   
Trade and other payables 787,441 - - -
Other non-current liabilities
  Payable to Ministry of Finance – Saudi Arabia 63,935 103,520 135,344 -
  Due to CITC for acquisition of spectrum 17,947 37,722 101,948 59,119
  Other 2,346 327 2,193 1,786
Lease liabilities 122,375 20,547 45,925 21,440

KD ’000 KD ’000

Credit quality – Performing  252,237  196,480 
Impaired  3,951  4,114 
ECL  (10,216)  (7,403)

 245,972  193,191 

31 December 
2022

31 December 
2023

Credit quality of roaming, interconnect and other balances: 

The net increase in the loss allowance during the year is mainly attributed to the increase in gross exposures at 
default, which are past due for more than 90 days. 

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

(c)   Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to meet its funding requirements. The Group manages this 
risk by maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, availability of funding from committed credit facilities 
and its ability to close out market positions on short notice. The Company’s Board of Directors increases capital or 
borrowings based on ongoing review of funding requirements. 

The Group has committed to provide working capital and other financial support to some of its affiliates (refer  
note 3). Other than the total cash and bank balances of KD 62.067 million (2022 - KD 50.757 million) equivalent held 
in Sudan, South Sudan and Lebanon, all other cash and bank balances are maintained in freely convertible currencies. 

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the consolidated statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in 
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, 
as the impact of discounting is not significant.

31.   Derivative financial instruments
In the ordinary course of business, the Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to 
fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates. A derivative financial instrument is a financial contract between 
two parties where payments are dependent upon movements in price of one or more underlying financial instruments, 
reference rate or index. 

The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, together with the 
notional amounts analysed by the term to maturity. The notional amount is the amount of a derivative’s underlying 
asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured.

The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at the year end and are not indicative of either 
market or credit risk. All derivative contracts are fair valued based on observable market data.

Profit rate swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange interest based on notional value in 
a single currency for a fixed period of time. The Group uses profit rate swaps to hedge changes in interest rate risk 
arising from floating rate borrowings.

32.   Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide return on investment to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In managing capital, the Group considers the financial covenants in 
various loan agreements that require the Group to maintain specific levels of debt-equity and leverage ratios.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is 
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 
Total capital is calculated as equity, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position, plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at the consolidated statement of financial position dates were as follows:

At 31 December 2023: Notional amounts by term to maturity
KD ’000

Positive
fair value

Negative
fair value

Notional 
amount

Derivatives held for hedging:
Cash flow hedges - Receive 3-month LIBOR/ SIBOR, pay  
fixed profit rate  
Profit rate swaps (maturing after one year) 6,187 - 209,408
At 31 December 2022:
Derivatives held for hedging:
Cash flow hedges - Receive 3-month LIBOR/ SIBOR, pay  
fixed profit rate  
Profit rate swaps (maturing after one year) 9,056 - 236,872

KD ’000 KD ’000
Total borrowings including lease liabilities (refer note 15 and 16)  1,487,439  1,471,357 
Less: Cash and bank balances (refer note 4)  (313,547)  (232,227)
Net debt  1,173,892  1,239,130 
Total equity  1,960,235  1,895,860 
Total capital  3,134,127  3,134,990 
Gearing ratio 37% 40%

31 December 202231 December 2023

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
KD ’000

Financial assets at fair value: 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss  -    11,054  24,076  35,130 
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income  2,204  2,911  6,583  11,698 
Total assets  2,204  13,965  30,659  46,828 

31 December 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
KD ’000

Financial assets at fair value: 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss - 12,021 22,108 34,129
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 1,857 2,803 12,940 17,600
Total assets 1,857 14,824 35,048 51,729

33.   Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments is as follows. 

Fair values of the financial instruments carried at amortized cost approximate their carrying value. This is based on 
level 3 inputs, with the discount rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties, being the most significant input.
During the year, there were no transfers between any of the fair value hierarchy levels.

34.	 Net monetary gain – South Sudan 
The Republic of South Sudan economy had become hyperinflationary in 2016. Accordingly, the results, cash flows 
and financial position of the Group’s subsidiary in South Sudan have been expressed in terms of the measuring unit 
current at the reporting date in accordance with IAS 29 upto 31 December 2022. The impact of Net monetary gain/
loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 is not material to the consolidated financial statements.

35.	 Significant accounting judgments and estimates
In accordance with the accounting policies contained in IFRS and adopted by the Group, management makes the 
following judgments and estimations that may significantly affect amounts reported in these consolidated financial 
statements. 

Judgments
Business combinations 
To allocate the cost of a business combination management exercises significant judgment to determine identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities whose fair value can be reliably measured, to determine provisional values 
on initial accounting and final values of a business combination and to determine the amount of goodwill and the Cash 
Generating Unit to which it should be allocated. 

Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than a majority of voting right (de facto control) 
The Group considers that it controls SMTC though it owns less than 50% of the voting rights. In assessing whether the 
Group has de-facto control, the management exercised significant judgment which takes into account many factors 
such as it being the single largest shareholder in SMTC, its majority representation in the Board, voting patterns of 
other dominant shareholders etc. If the Group had concluded that the ownership interest was insufficient to give the 
Group control in SMTC, it would instead have been classified as an associate and the Group would have accounted 
for it using the equity method of accounting.

Identifying performance obligations in a bundled sale of equipment and installation services
The Group provides telecommunications services that are either sold separately or bundled together with the sale of 
equipment (hand sets) to a customer. The Group uses judgement in determining whether equipment and services are 
capable of being distinct. The fact that the Group regularly sells both equipment and services on a stand-alone basis 
indicates that the customer can benefit from both products on their own. Consequently, the Group allocated a portion 
of the transaction price to the equipment and the services based on relative stand-alone selling prices.

Principal versus agent considerations 
Revenue from value added services (VAS) sharing arrangements depend on the analysis of the facts and circumstances 
surrounding these transactions. The determination of whether the Group is acting as an agent or principal in these 
transactions require significant judgement and depends on the following factors:

•	 The Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the service.
•	 Whether the Group has inventory risk 
•	 Whether the Group has discretion in establishing the price

Consideration of significant financing component in a contract
The Group sells bundled services on a monthly payment scheme over a period of one to two years.

In concluding whether there is a significant financing component in a contract requires significant judgements and 
is dependent on the length of time between the customers payment and the transfer of equipment to the customer, 
as well as the prevailing interest rates in the market. The Group has concluded that there is no significant financing 
component in its contract with customers after such assessment.

In determining the interest to be applied to the amount of consideration, the Group has concluded that the interest 
rate implicit in the contract (i.e., the interest rate that discounts the cash selling price of the equipment to the amount 
paid in advance) is appropriate because this is commensurate with the rate that would be reflected in a separate 
financing transaction between the entity and its customer at contract inception.

Assets held for sale 
The Group has announced its decision to sell some of the telecom tower assets in Kuwait. Part of these telecom 
towers were sold during the year and the remaining towers are recorded under “assets and liabilities of disposal 
group classified as held for sale”. This is considered to have met the criteria as held for sale for the following reasons:  

a.	These assets are available for immediate sale and can be sold to the buyer in its current condition
b.	The actions to complete the sale were initiated and expected to be completed within one year from the date of 

initial classification 
c.	A potential buyer has been identified and negotiations as at the reporting date are at an advance stage 

These assets continued to be classified as non-current assets held for sale as the Group is committed to its plan to sell 
the assets and the delay was caused due to events and circumstances beyond the Group’s control.  

Classification of equity investments 
On acquisition of an equity investment security, the Group decides whether it should be classified as fair value through 
profit or loss or fair value through other comprehensive income.  

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are potential liabilities that arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. 
Provisions for liabilities are recorded when a loss is considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. The 
determination of whether or not a provision should be recorded for any potential liabilities or litigation is based on 
management’s judgment. 

Hyperinflation
The Group exercises significant judgement in determining the onset of hyperinflation in countries in which it operates 
and whether the functional currency of its subsidiaries, associates or joint venture is the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy.

Various characteristics of the economic environment of each country are taken into account. These characteristics 
include, but are not limited to, whether:

•	 the general population prefers to keep its wealth in non-monetary assets or in a relatively stable foreign currency;
•	 prices are quoted in a relatively stable foreign currency;
•	 sales or purchase prices take expected losses of purchasing power during a short credit period into account;
•	 interest rates, wages and prices are linked to a price index; and
• the cumulative inflation rate over three years is approaching, or exceeds, 100%.

Management exercises judgement as to when a restatement of the financial statements of a Group entity becomes 
necessary.
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Determining the lease term
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive 
to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension and termination options are included 
in a number of leases across the Group. These terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing 
contracts. Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lessee is 
reasonably certain to extend (or not to terminate) the lease. The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a 
significant change in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee.
 
Discounting of lease payments
The lease payments are discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”). Management has 
applied judgments and estimates to determine the IBR at the commencement of lease.

Determination of functional currency
The devaluation of the Iraqi Dinar (IQD) against the USD in December 2020 resulted in a reconsideration of the 
functional currency of Atheer. Prior to 2020 the financial statements indicated that the functional currency was IQD 
however, since the IQD was pegged to the USD there was no material impact on the reported figures whichever 
currency had been identified as the functional currency. In consideration of the primary indicators in IAS 21: 9, 
following the devaluation in December 2020 the Company has immediately decided on an increase in tariffs to 
customers and has implemented those increases in order to follow its long term strategy to maintain a relatively 
consistent USD margin which is driven by its predominantly USD cost base. This provides a strong evidence that USD 
is the currency that mainly influences sales prices for goods and services and USD is also the currency of the country 
whose competitive forces and regulations mainly determine the sales prices of its goods and services. Furthermore, in 
consideration of the secondary indicators in IAS 21:10, the majority of the Company’s financing is generated in USD 
and the majority of the Company’s funds from operating activities are retained in USD. Therefore, in accordance with 
IAS 21:12, the Company determined that, in its judgement, all the factors described above provide sufficient evidence 
that the USD is the functional currency that most faithfully reflect the underlying transactions, events and conditions 
relevant to the Company.

Sources of estimation uncertainty
Fair values – unquoted equity investments and business combinations 
The valuation techniques for unquoted equity investments and identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
arising in a business combination make use of estimates such as future cash flows, discount factors, yield curves, 
current market prices adjusted for market, credit and model risks and related costs and other valuation techniques 
commonly used by market participants where appropriate.

Provision for expected credit losses of customer, distributor receivables and contract assets
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for customer, distributor receivables and contract assets. The 
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss 
patterns.  The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will 
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if 
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year, which can 
lead to an increased number of defaults the historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical 
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is 
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. 
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of 
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables and contract 
assets is disclosed in note 30.

Tangible and intangible assets
The Group estimates useful lives and residual values of tangible assets and intangible assets with definite useful 
lives. Changes in technology or intended period of use of these assets as well as changes in business prospects or 
economic industry factors may cause the estimate useful of life of these assets to change.

Taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the 
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination 
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes a liability for anticipated taxes based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 

period in which such determination is made. Any changes in the estimates and assumptions used as well as the use 
of different, but equally reasonable estimates and assumptions may have an impact on the carrying values of the 
deferred tax assets.

Impairment of non-financial assets 
The Group annually tests non-financial assets for impairment to determine their recoverable amounts based on value-
in-use calculations or at fair value less costs to sell. The value in use includes estimates on growth rates of future cash 
flows, number of years used in the cash flow model and the discount rates. The fair value less cost to sell estimate is 
based on recent/intended market transactions and the related EBITDA multiples used in such transactions. 

36.	 Subsequent event
The Government of Iraq passed a resolution in April 2023 that all monetary transactions within the country will be 
denominated and settled in Iraqi Dinar, with no effective date of implementation. The Central Bank of Iraq announced 
in October 2023 banning all cash withdrawals and transactions in US Dollars with effect from 1 January 2024. 
Accordingly, Atheer has started the process of revising its contracts with suppliers in line with this change and 
believes that the functional currency of Atheer has changed from US Dollar to Iraqi Dinar with effect from 1 January 
2024. This is because the currency of the primary economic environment in which Atheer operates has changed from 
US Dollar to Iraqi Dinar. Therefore, from 1 January 2024 onwards, the functional currency of Atheer is Iraqi Dinar. In 
accordance with IAS 21 this change has been accounted for prospectively from this date.
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